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Dear Fellow Shareholders
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$50 billion tu $56 billion

Operating oh flow grew 12 from
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Chesapeake Energy Corporation Annual Report 2008

to share ns ghls events and processes that

nsb strong ethica busness va urs

hope someday you will visit our head

quarters in OK ahoma Cty We would be happy

to show you around and expect you would

cave .eeling the same pbde in our campus

and emp oyees that we do

Our Big Shale Plays

We be eve the Barnett Fayetteville

laynesvil and Marcellus shaics are the

best natural gas assets the U.S fact

they have transtormed the LAP industry in

ust the past few
years

Gore are the days

wher almost every LP company owned

assets of similar
qua ty Years of increased

density dri ing to acce crate the productior

already discovered natural gas reserves

rum legacy belds have lowered the gual

ty of further incremental dr
ling

those

fie ds At the same time technologica ad

var ccs have enabled the ndustry to decrease

dril ng costs and increase estimated ultimate

reserve recoveries in the Big shale
ays

Wt view this as critical dynamic to under

stand that the newly dscovered and
very

best sha assets ir the dustry are steadi

iy
irrrrovir wf ile the nvrr drilled and least

orodutive assets are steadily deterioraring

per we quality

Because the Big shale plays are domi

nated by only about 10 public ndependent

companies we believe this group of shale

oneers wi emerge as the industry biggest

stock marketwnners in the years ahead And

because of Chesapeakes Top position each

of the Big shale plays with no other com

pey heving mom than one Top p040ue

we believe that Chesapeake will
emerge

in

the years to come as the biggest winne from

the Big shale land rush

Barnett Shale

TheBarnettShaleotNorth exaseickedoff

the rush to natural gas shales in the early pa

of this decade Discovered by Mitchel Energy

Corporation in the 1990s and advanced by

Devon Energy Corporation after its acquisi

tion of Mitchell in 2002 the Barnett emerged

owly as technologeal progress was cha

lenging and low natural gas prices inhibited

the natural expansion of the field Chesa

Innovation
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peake quiicd its lust asset in the Barneet

2001 but we dd not really begin to ap

preate tfe potential significance of the pay

unb early 2004 However by year er 2004

we had mode our first two property acqui

st ons oinsor County and began to set

ur sights on what wc called

doughcut hula or

ra tCounty the meofrort

Woth and mo than 60 oth

ur munipa ities

The irdustry knew Tarrant

County lay
above the best Bar

nrtt rock the entre play

Whatwasunc carwashowto

oeve or it under metropof

tar area of 1.7 ml lion people

Art ana yzng the cnaile ig

es and opportunities of urban

ard suburban dril ing we concluded that

wh1r most ot our competitors would not

want to deal wth these comp exities hesa

peakes operatiocal or and acquiston skills

would be especially we suited for success

fu uroan Barneet development

oonsequcct we began leasing in Tar

ract 1ounty in earnest in 7005 and today

we own more than 180000 leases encom

oassing almost 150000 net acres in arrant

Coucty alone In the entire Barnett play we

awn 310000 net acres on which we anticipate

drilling approximate 2800 future net wells in

addition tothe 1300 netwells we have drilled

Because of lower natural gas prices in

the fourth quarter of 2008 and first quarter

of 2009 we have substantially reduced our

liME WE BEUEVE

THE FAYEUEVLLE

WftL UL11MATELY

PRODUCE AS MUCH

AS 75 TCFE TO

EQUAL THE LEVEL

OF PRODUCliON

THE 114 DUSTRY

SHOULD UL11MATELY

ACHEVE FROM THE

BARNETI

to date From these already drilled

welt our gross opurdtud pudu

tion is now approximately 1.0 bef

per day or about l.6o of our na

tons natural gas supply None of

this work has been easy especial

lydr ing 111 we son the grounds

of the DFW International Airportl

but we have been rewarded with

some of the very best wells in the

entire Barnett play byfocusing on

drIling in the most promisng geo

logeal areas

Commitment
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drilling
activities in the Barnett from 43

rigs

in August 2008 to around 20 today We in

tend to maintain this lower pace of drilling

unth natural gas prices recover to more at

tractive levels With 20-rig program we

project that 2009 gas production levels for

Chesapeake in the Barneti will

increase slightly while we be

lieve roost other operators will

see their production levels fall

in the Barnett during 2009

This decline will be an impor

tant factor in natural gas prices

rebounding to higher levels

which we believe will occur in

late 2009 or early 2010

FayetteviHe Shale

The
Fayetteville

Shale of Arkansas emerged

as the second important U.S shale play in early

2003 with the announcement of its discovery

by Southwestern Energy Company Chesa

peake had already developed presence in

the Woodford Shale of southeastern Okla

homa in 2004 so when we learned in 2005

of Southwesterns success we jumped over

the state line into Arkansas very aggressively

ending up with approximate

ly 350000 net acres of prime

Fayetteville acreage by mid

year 2008 Our
drilling success

came quickly in the Fayetteville

as our knowledge of shale de

velopment from the Barnett

and Woodlord plays helped

establish Chesapeake as the

second-largest player in the Fayetteville

key to Chesapeakes Fayetteville suc

cess was entering into joint venture with

BE in September 2008 In this joint venture

we sold 25% of our assets in the Fayetteville

to BE for $1.9 billion in cash and future drill

ing carries Our cost basis in the 25% interest

was only about $325 million making this

highly profitable transaction and it placed

us in partnership with one of the worlds

most successful and progressive major en

ergy companies Earlier in 2008 we had also

sold to BE all of our Woodford assets in the

Arkoma Basin for $1.7 billion generating

approximately $1.3 billion in excess of our

costs Our view of the Woodford was simply

that it would not provide returns as strong

as those we could generate from the Big

shale plays

Going forward in the Fayetteville we plan

to maintain our present level of 20 drilling rigs

throughout the majority of 2009 and 2010

and expect to see our gross operated pro-

duction in the Fayecceville increase from our

year end 2008 level of 250 million cubic feet

of natural gas equivalent mrocfe per day by

more than 50% in 2009 and further 20%

in 2010 As part of our joint venture BE has

agreed to pay 100% of Chesapeakes drill

ing costs through much of 2009

To date we have drilled more than 250

net wells in the tayettevdle and have iden

tified more than 4000 net future wells we

plan to drill in the years ahead In time we be-

Pulling togethe3 hloorhands keep rig.c corn/np to the right/n the Barn etc Shale

WE BELIEVE THAT

CHESAPEAKE WILL

EMERGE IN THE

YEARS TO COME AS

THE BIGGEST WINNER

FROM THE BIG

SHALE LAND RUSH

pumper gauges production atone of our

47200 producing we//s
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Leve he ayettevite will timately produce

as rsuch as 75 tcfe to equal the level of pro

duction tEe industry should oh mate achieve

from the Barrett The Barnett and

arc ru world cass fields hey formed the

foundation of our kr owlcdge about natural

gas snale uiscovcry ann producrion which

set the stage for even bgger plays ir the

Haynesviile and Marcellus shales

Haynesville Shade

he Haynesville Shale thc sha play

of which we are most proud Because it was

dscovered by Chcsapeakes own geosccn

sts and engincers righr in the East texas

and northern louisiana backyard of some

oftfe lamest and most capable natural
gas

producers in the ndustry We began ourgeo

entific nvestigation fthe Haynesville in

2005 2006 tested our theones by dri ing in

200/ began to acguire acreage in earr est in

2007 and 2008 and in uly 2008 formed an

lnovat joint venture with our well re

spected industry partncr Plans Lxploration

Production fompany

We have known Plains very capable lead

ership team for more than 15
years

and knew

they were looking for shale play to enter We

began our conversations with them in May

2008 and negotiations moved quickly In ear

we announced the Joint venture that

would provide tne template ror future use

with OP in the Fayetteville and StatoilHydro

in the Marcellus In our Plains joint venture

we sold O0o of our 550000 net acres for

$3.3 billion ir cash and future drilling carrics

which was approximate $2.8 bllion more

than our investft ent The joint venture is ofT

to great start and we have already complet

ed over 40 wells produng more than 200

mmcfe
per day

Ohesapeake is now drilling
with 24

rigs
in

the Haynesville and we plan to continue add

ing rigs
almost every month until we reach

approximately 35 by midyear 2010 Thereaf

ter we olan to maintain that level of dri
ling

ndehnitely As part of ourjoint venture Plains

has agreed to pay SOo off hesapeakes dri

ng costs over tme frame that estimated

to extend through 2012

he llaynesvl so expansve morc

than twice the size of the Bar left core areas

and so ovcrpressured holding more gas in

place per square mile than the Barneti that

we believe it wiil like surpass the Barnett

by 2015 to become Inc largest natural gas

producing field th U.S We believe ti

mate reserve recoveries from the Haynesvil

could exceed 250 tcfe potentially making it

one of tke 5ive lages aturdl gas fe

the world

aosolutely remarkable that the U.S

the most extensvely explored and dril ed

country in the world Cf esapeake geosci

entists and engineers wcre ab to scover

ths enormous new resrvoir of natura gas

Ironically was the announcement of our

oint venture with Plairs 12008 and

the discusson of the potential size of the

Haynesvile naturai gas oiscovery that marveo
we//site bee mes hub of activity during fractures timulation Advanced cam

p/ct/on techniques such as hydraulic fracturing hove opened op newdeve/opment

apporturities in rho/c ploys

Mopping the woytosuc ess corporote

hodquorters to fl/n Ok/ohamo City

mpporbiie/d itirthroughoutS

omponyA operating oreos



the hgh water mark for natural gas prices

$13.58 per mcf and Chesapeakes stock

prce $70.00 per share in 2008 Clcarly this

great example of the old adage that no

if ABSOLUTELY

REMARKABLE THAT

NTHEU3.THE

MOST EXTENSWELY

EXPLORED AND

DRftLED COUNTRY

IN THE WORLD
CHESAPEAKE WAS

ABLE TO DISCOVER

THIS ENORMOUS

NEW RESERVOIR

id commcral bright spot for Chesapeake

2008 We frst became aware of the pros

ence of the Marcellus 2005 when we were

regotahng our $2.2 bi lion acguisiton of

Co umhia Natural Resources LLC CNR

though CNR was not actvely deve oping the

Marcellus at the time of our CNR acgustion

chesapeakes geoscentists recognized that

CNRs ndustry leadng leasehold position in

Appalachia wou overlay significant por

tior of the Marcellus

By early 2008 we had determned

that the Marcellus would
likely be

highly prospective over an area of

dppruxmdtly milliurr net aLr

approximately Ove times larger

than the prospective Haynesville

ore area and ten times
larger

than

the Barnett core area

Afteracguiring 1.8 rr lion net

acres Chesapeake began look

ng
for its thrd shale ont venture

partrcr ibis search culminat

ed in $3.3/S bil ion transacton

In 2007 we aggressively acre crated our

Marcellus leasehold
acguisit on activity in Penn

sylvania West Virgnia and New York and began

to prepare for our first drI ing activities in 2008

good deed goes unpunishedl

tme however we anticipate

that the value and scale of the

11dynvele diswvery and Ce
apeakes positon nit will be

amply warded by the market

ace once the current ratural

gas supply/demand imbalance

fixes Cse

Marcellus Shale

The Marcellus Sha was ai

ocher
very sigrificant se entific

wtn Staroilelyoro one of rhe most nrovarve

well respected and largest of the European

Knowledge
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nternatonal energy companies his transac

ton in which we sold 32.S0o nterest our

Marce lus assets was comp eted in November

7308 StatoilHydro had been seeking an entry

point into f7g U.S shale play

and had independently arrived

at the cone uson that the Mar

ci us was toe nest sna play

wh di to ir vest StatoIHydro

approached us in May 2008

and over the next six months

Sc deal took mai twists

and turns against backdrop

steadly worsen ng global

ecor om conditions and on

tnuallyweakenng natura gas

and oi pUnts

Among al our transactions during 7008

we are most proud of the StatoilHydro trans

actior because almost nothng was go ng

rgft the world around us as we negotiat

ed he deai Nevertheless the joint venture

ame together because Stato Hydro was as

tute enough to recognize that the Marcellus

will Skely nerate very favorable returns for

at cast the next SO years and should in time

surpass tfe Haynesville to become the larg

est U.S natural gas Odd and one of the hve

argest in the world

Today Chesapeake is drI ing with 10 rgs

the Marcellus We
pan to end

2000 with at least 20
rigs

drill

ng and project 30 rigs drilling

oy year end 2010 ann 4u
rigs

drilling by year
end 2011 The

initial wells in the
joirt

venture

have been very successful and

the eastern U.S natural gas mar

ket continues to offer producers

the best proht margins in the

nation In addition we also are

engaged with StatoIHydro

searching for additional sha gas ays around

the wor din SO/SO partnership We are in

trigued and excited by the opportunityto extend

STATOftHYDRO HAD

BEEN SEEKING AN

ENTRY PONT INTO WG
US SHALE PLAY AND

HAD INDEPENDENTLY

ARRflIED AT THE

CONC1USON THAT THE

MARCELLUS WAS THE

BEST SHALE PLAYN

WHKH TO NVEST

Teamwork
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our natural gas shale expertise from the U.S

to other parts of the world through this
joint

venture with StatoilHydro

2008 Joint Ventures

In total during 2008 we sold assets with

cost basis of $1.2 billion for $8.6 billion in tash

and
drilling carries in our three joint ventures

This would boa remarkable achievement in

any economy but we believe it was
particularly

impressive in an economy that steadily wors

ened throughoutthe second half of 2008 We

have announced that we would like to enter

into Barnett joint venture in 2009 and we

also have few other large attractive plays

in which we may consider bringing in joint

venture partners

The three 2008
joint ventures along with

our extremely valuable natural gas hedges

and low-cost high-quality asset base will

enable Chesapeake to continue drilling ag

gressively in an environment very conducive

to value creation through the drillbit in 2009

and 2010 This will occur because
drilling costs

should decline by at least 25% during 2009

allowing Chesapeake to extend the value of

its
drilling carries and find new reserves of

natural gas during some of the most chal

lenging times our industry has seen in the

past 30 years just the right time for Chesm

peake to take full advantage of our significant

competitive strengths

Natura Gas

Chesapeakes final Powerful Asset to high

light is natural gas The Big shale plays have

quite simply changed the game of how to solve

our nations
energy

and environmental chal

lenges in the years ahead There has never

really
been any debate about whether natural

gas
is good fuel its carbon-light molecu

lar structure guarantees that The issue has

been whether there is enough of itto begin

moving our electrical generation system more

aggressively away from carbon-heavy fuels

TOTAL DURNG 2008

WE SOLD ASSETS WTH
COST BASIS OF $12

WLUON FOR $6 WLUON

IN CASH AND DRILUNG

CARRIES IN OUR THREE

JOINT VENTURES

such as coal and oil to carbon-light natural

gas and whether it is the right time to begin

moving our transportation system away from

carbon-heavy oil much of which we import

from unstable or unfriendly areas

With the enormity of the Big shale plays

now more
fully understood it should become

increasingly clearthatthe ti.S hasa huge com

petitive advantage when it comes to addressing

economic environmental and energy issues

On the economic side U.S natural gas prices

are the lowest in the industrialized world They

Ffom silent desert Iondscopes to bristling

cities Chesopeoke rigs
work inn multitude

of environments

The company5 unique world-doss Reservoir Technology Center helps crock the code in

finding ond developing noturol qos from shole form otions
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NATURAL GAS WftL

ALLOW THE US TO

BEGIN TRANSTOMNG

TS TRANSPORTA11ON

SYSTEM AWAY FROM

CARBONHEAVY

GASOUNE AND DIESEL

TOWARDS CARBONUGHT

AMERKAN NATURAL GAS

are iikeiyto remain so indefinitely for the sim

pie reasoo that including the 12% or so of U.S

oatoral
gas supply imported from Caoada the

U.S is entirely capable of self-sufficieocy in

oatural
gas suppiy

Oo the enviroomeotal side the U.S can

regalo its rightful place as the leader of the

worldwide environmental movement because

burning clean natural gas instead of carbon-

heavy coal could allow our nation to become

the leader in reducing CO2 emissions And fi

nally natural gas will allow the U.S to begin

transitioning its transportation system away

from carbon-heavy gasoline and diesel cowards

carbon-light American natural
gas

To capture these revolutionary advan-

tages the Big shale plays can provide our

nations challenge is to recognize that the
age

of natural
gas abundance is upon us and that

it will remain with us for decades However

maximizing its value will require all of the

nations political and commercial willpow

er to make the transition from carbon-heavy

coal and oil to carbon--light natural gas

better brighter and more prosperous future

awaits us all ifwe pursue the full potential

of natural gas

lust as Chesapeake has become major

player in discovering and developing the Big

shale plays we have also become leader

in investing in educational opportunities to

make sure that policymakers and the pub
lic understand the potential and reality of

clean abundant affordable American nat-

ural
gas

We will continue that leadership in

2009 and beyond as we move into the new

Age of Natural Gas

We have secured Powerful Assets and po
sitioned Chesapeake to prosper in the Age

of Natural Gas We look forward to provid

ing powerful returns and capitalizing on our

timely and distinctive investments in the

years ahead

Best regards

/L
Aubrey McClendon

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

March 31 2009

Reserve replacement is calculated
by dividing

th.e sum of reserve adgOmns from all sources by actual production fur the corresponding period We calculate drilling and vet acguisitiov

cost
per

mcte
by dividing

rural costs incurred
during theyear less certain cosrs primarily meiatedto unproved property vetacguisitiovs geological

avd
geophysical

costs and deferred taxes

related to corporate acquisitions by total proved reserve additions eocluding pricerelated revisions

Adjcstcd ebimaa is vet income befv inre est opeoUe income tao eooens and
aep ecration depletion and amortization exprse cv loding ceria itemc tr at maoôoemert believe

attect the comparability of
operating

results

Operating cast flow is net cast provided by operating
activities before

changes
in assets and liabilities

Adiusted
earnings per folly

dilated share
is net income per stare available to common assuming dilution as adiusted to remove the effects of certain items that

rrravagement
believes

aAect the
comparability of operating results

FORTUNE tOO Best companies to Work For listed in the
magazines February 22009 issue

Citizens efFort Worth Texas can breathe easier with the
city natriralqas-poweredma.ss transportation system



Letter to Shareholders

NATURAL GAS Will

ALLOW THE US TO

BEGN TRANSOMNG
FIS TRANSPORTA11ON

SYSTEM AWAY FROM

CARBONHEAVY

GASOUNE AND DESEL

TOWARDS CARBONUGHT

AMERKAN NATURAL GAS

are likely to remain so indefinitely for the sim

ple reason that including the 12% orso of U.S

natural gas supply imported from Canada the

U.S is entirely capable of sell-sufficiency in

natural gas supply

On the environmental side the U.S can

regain its rightful place as the leader of the

worldwide environmental movement because

burning clean natural gas instead of carbon-

heavy coal could allow our nation to become

the leader in reducing CO2 emissions And 0-

nally natural gas will allow the U.S to begin

transitioning its transportation system away

from carbon-heavy gasoline and diesel towards

carbon-light American natural
gas

To capture these revolutionary advan-

tages the Big shale plays can provide our

nations challenge is to recognize that the
age

of natural gas abundance is upon us and that

it will remain with us for decades However

maximizing its value will reguire all of the

nations
political

and commercial willpow

erto make the transition from carbon--heavy

coal and oil to carbon-light natural
gas

better brighter and more prosperous future

awaits us all if we pursue the full potential

of natural
gas

Just as Chesapeake has become major

player in discovering and developing the Big

shale plays we have also become leader

in investing in educational opportunities to

make sure that policymakers and the pub
lic understand the potential and reality of

clean abundant affordable American nat-

ural gas We will continue that leadership in

2009 and beyond as we move into the new

Age of Natural Gas

We have secured Powerful Assets and po
sitioned Chesapeake to prosper in the Age

of Natural Gas We look forward to provid

ing powerful returns and capitalizing on our

timely and distinctive investments in the

years
ahead

Best regards

/t12W5_ /WC

Aubrey McClendon

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

March 31 2009

Reserve
replacerrseot

is calculated
by

dlv Woo the sum of reserve additions from all sources
b5

actual pmductioo for the corresponding period We calculate
driliiog

and net acqoisitioo

cost per
mcte

by dividiog
total torts iocorred during theyear less cettaio costs primarily relateo to ooprooed property

oct
acquisitiorts geological

aod
geophysical costs aod deferred taoes

related to corporate acqoisitions by total proved reserve additinos eoclodiog price-related revisioos

bdjusted
eboda

is et in ome oefore mteresr eooerse income tao eooense aod deprecranoo depletmo aod mortrza ion
eopevse eocrudrog

certaro iremu that maoage wot ocHer

affect the
comparability

of
operating resolts

Operating cash flow is oct cash
provided by opesatiog

activities before
changes iv assets aod liabilities

Adjusted earnings per folly
dilated share

is net locome pet share available to commoo assomiog dilution as adiosted to remove the effects of certaio iterrrs tfrat
vraoagemeot

believes

affect the
comparability of operating results

FORIONR 100 Best companies to Work For listed iv the
magazioes February 22009 issue

i%ens of Fort Worth Texos con breothe oozier with the
city
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Operating Areas

Lnesapeake is tne argesr independent producerof U. natural
gas

and has builrtne nations largest narural
gas resource

base
ncluding or position in each of the Big

shale
plays the Barnett kayetteville Haynesvlle and Marcellus Our

unigue position in these four most important shale plays will provide us competitve advantages Ioryears if not decades to

come No othercompany in the industry has this distinction and the competitive advantages associated with Top position

in each of the low cost low risk
Big

shale
plays

We own interests in approximately4l200 producing natural
gas

and oil wells and we produced approximately843 billion

cubc feet of natural
gas eguivalent bcfe in 2008 for an average

of 2.3 bcfe
per day At

year
end 2008 our proved reserves

were 12.1 trillion cubic feet of natural gas eguivalent tcfe of which 94% were natural gas and all ofwhch were onshore in

theU.S Wehavealsocaptured an inventoryof morethan 36000 netfuturedrilling opportunities morethan loyearsworth

of drilling at our current pace on approximately 15 million net acres of total leasehold in the U.S The fol owing highlights

Chesapeakes ownership position in our key operating areas
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Jeffrey Mobley Senior Vice President Investor Relations and Research
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nsrrnmncal in the ompany dsrovnry of

the Haynesville Shale and the enhancr ment

of
drilling

and completing wells in all of the

Big shale plays

Finally with access to more than 21 md

ion acres of seismic data Chesapcake

able to employ cutting edge geophysi

cal analyss and interpretation of subsurface

features to dentify new opportunities and

optimze drilling results

Why has CHK vertically

integrated its operations
Cf csapeake plans to maintan high

level of
drilling activity on its hgh quality

resource oase indefinite We anticipate that

thc equipment used this
drilling program

and production operation wil have extreme

ly hgh utlization rates and wi be used well

beyor the tme requ red to pay back an in

vestmcnt in new eQuipment By owning and

operating our own fleet of
drilling rigs com

presson equpment trucks and gathering

systems for example we be ieve that the

company not only acheves owcr overall

osts but also hgher qua ity
and more tme

service We also experience better safety

at lower personnel turnover compared to

third
party servce provdets

What does CHK do to attract and

retain taented empoyees
Chesapeake recognized decade ago

that because of long standing demograph

ic trends our industry would be talent short

the years ahead We also recognized that

our ndustry leading drilling inventory woo

need large dedcated team capable of or

chestrating thc industrys argest drillng

program As result we commtted exten

sive resources to create corporate culture

and benefit structure that would make Chesa

pcake an emp oyer ofcho This investment

has captured the attention of many as were

ceive more than 10000 job app ications per

month and we have been named to Fortunes

100 Best Companies to Work rot istforthe

past two years

We place great deal of empfasis on

providing employees with the resourc

es needed to perform

their jobs well We

believe our award

winning architecture

and mmaculate

landscaping at out

Oklahoma City head

quarters complex drive

home the
message to

our employees vlsi

tots vendors and our

fellow citizens that at

Chesapeake we care

about the details of our

work and want to con

duct our busitess in first class manner

Further you will note that none of our

buildings Oklahoma City arc more than five

stnriec tall he reason for this that we

not want more than five leve of hierarchy

between any employee of the company and

senior management Even though our corpo

rate campus tooay is quite large with more

than million
square feet of office spa it

looks and feels like university campus and

fosters spirit of natural collegiality among

our emp oyees hat we beneve essential

to their productivity and creativity

Fnally we be eve we ate all this

gether why oembers of the support

staffthatclean our buildings run oure pioy

cc restaurants and manage outftncss center

are all fellow Chesapeake emp oyees ke

wise al of our etc oyees are compet sated

in the same mant er with ndustty tom

petitive wages and performance bonuses

and restr cted sto awarded twice per year

and are motivated and coached through

semi annua perforo ance reviews in an in

oustry where annual reviews are the no

We do not believe in
pens on plans because

we do not wish tt ourden tomorrows share

holders with todays iployee costs Fnstead

we want to spark work eth and creativ

ty
evel motivated by stock ownership and

augmented by cash bonuses

Why does CHK sell assets

through VPPs and property

saes from time to time

here are severa ways to generate prof

its the natura gas business The traditional

way is to spend captal to obtain leaseho

drill we Is and then subsequontly produce the

we Is ut over very ong time and ollect

the net casf flow after
expenses Chesapeake

has been very successful and has historical

Mark Lester Executive Vice President Exploration

Martha Burger Senior Vice President Human and Corporate Resources



investor QA

generated very atiractvc retorrs this ira

di ra ispe tof she Lubnes owever we

ways is or arempOng generate the

gI marg ar there are sn ply Urns

rnf ciarkets prorde opporton ties to sel

ubrar ai profit margin and gen

crc urns ar tter ft ar oor iradtona

us css eeL Orce we ore ab tom

ta rc mats rr ass ts at redep ike

apa nt ower ost newlyprilurnwel

or ow st easeho ft Addin na asset

is onr7i on crab eus orther rcprov

rta at she tat grow oi busiressweil

by dw atwe ireaf to inane mn
terra or by oeca ot ssr

aoirai marKets

2008 he ap ake er oyed treis erti us

or vi rn zng produ rg prop

id tsefoo

fr
igi

trrr voi imct

pricucUon payments

iferirans

an tor saneake sod

oproxo ate y700 heft

ved rves or

$2.40 rappr

iar $a.4/ per me

ye iso r2008ave ag
Jr ni On tng ar dde

ye oprcet teist or $2.04

per rcefe margin
dif

fern of7 o.Weas

idurdeyci cass

as year $0
on in asn and fut ire dril rg carries

Cf esapeake captured $1 fill on of

at future dr ing arUes ast year by

og asse sw st bass rf approxl

ate hi ar rrredib year

va uc rca ii rat whi
arge sregard

dry bnan mark is if seCond fa fof

08 ee power our rforma

sOO9ard2

What is CHK doing to hep
expand the ong1erm demand

for natura gas
On sapcakc as been at ridustry cad

er prorcoting ntaUves to he the U.S

derrea ds rd anee or fore gn or cs of

energy ower Us energy sis redo

uton arid gre house gas emissions create

Ore en an at increase U.S tax reve ue

ofwhi ear be accors ished if mgi
he greakr use of natural

gas hesapeake

ye work ng wUf he new DO ndus

try
founded Amer ran Naiura Ga Allian

the apeake fourd Amehcai Cl

Sk Foundahor ar ather rvUonmer

ta ly con ous organftations to ncourage

pub ft ymakers arid energy nrisuriCr

to ii rease uthiiation if atural gas

electOr power generat ort and sf he

transportation foe mix toward atura

gas thr ugf romprr
scd natura gas CNG

veh des NGVs
Os fji f0r

power geratier ratra

gas cm fa fo ike carbon doxre foal

ar particulate and rc reury err is ions arc

virtua ly ncxist nt fr natura gas om

pared to eoa fired wen generation ne

po lotion osis of burning eoa for pew

er generabon arc more fully urted for

atural gas lb mci mrie ecorore ca

wer ger eranon tue than ar.d heap

rand more sralah iltc mat nwab

uree su anlwi1dardsoa

iv riclc fue atura gas es cx

per ye tuci ternatvn oil atco pr ours

utr arb di de sons byab ut

and em ss is fother poi ii by appr

xute 0o ese var tages are ga irg

rrcogr ior nth rearkelpaceard gicatir

use naiura gas for rar porta or the

J.S Dely at Che or partin any br

uied rcr and heavy du ts at pub

ira isportat ir

What competition does CHK

anticipate from ING imports

Despite potential short term market

softness due to the current global econom

ic slowdown we believe the global market

for natural gas wdl rontinue to grow at at

tractive levels as the world addresses its

dual challenges of securing more energy

but creating less pol ution especially from

reliable sources Liquefied natural gas LNG

will meeta portion of this expanding glob

al demand as several liquefaction projects

start up oven the next few years
If

prices

for natural
gas in the U.S are hgh enough

to compete for
cangos some LNG may be

imported into the U.S and compete with

U.S natural gas producers particularly giv

en the greaten availability of underground

storage capacity in the U.S However

transportation costs to the U.S market one

relatively high for most LNG shppens and

oven time we beliese most LNG rangos

will likely gravitate to premium markets

in Europe and Asa where consumers are

not able to meet the
energy

needs from

indigenous sources of natural gas as we

can here in the U.S

Douglas Jacobson Executive Vice President Acqusitions and Divestitures
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Community Benefits
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Health Safetyand Environment

Operating with Respect

At Chesapeake we respect the econorrhc

and envronmental benefitsthat make natural

gas Powerful Asset and we work to contin

uously improve our
drilling

and production

procedures One example is the companys

use of multi well pad drilling which al ows

us to dEl up to 14 wells from one padsite

greatly reducing our environmental foot

pEnt This practice

whch originated in

the Barnett Shale

around Fort Worth is

now used from West

Virgir
iatoWestlexas

Another example is in

Pennsylvania where we

are perfecting the use

of used mop drilling

systems

The envronments

of our operating areas

vary as much above

the surface as below

Each unique setting

whetherurhan or rural

requires its own oper

atng strategy to ensure tL

trea ted with the utmost care and protection

Forexample by utilzng electric
rigs on oper

ations at the Dallas/Fort Worth nternational

Airport we are not only reducing noise and

air emissions but also the amount of energy

onsumed during operations

In vast different part of the country

we use different tools in our search for ener

gy such as heliportable seismic equipment

the Marcel us Shale of West Virginia and

Pennsylvania his tool ows us to gather

data in Appa achias secluded mountanous

terrain while greatly reducing our impact on

the areas natural habitat

Environmenta Partnerships

Chesapeakes enVronmenta advocacy is not

however limited to its day to day operations

We are leader in eff Drts to educate the pub

and policy oakercaboutthecnvironmental

advantages of natural gas Through town ha

meetings suppot lg sdentihc resear

Natural gas not on Powerful Asset

for Chesapeake is also Powerful Asset

for Americas future According to the recent

Amen an Clean Skies oundation sponsored

study by Navigant Consulting the U.S has

more than 120 year supply of natural gas

ocated
right

here at home Ths abundant sup

provides at affordable American energy

reso irceto heat our fromes and fuel our econ

omy as well as offer viable transportation

oluton Consistently selling for much less

thar the cost of
gaso ne Compressed Nat

ura Gas END can cut consumer fuel costs

by up
SD0o At tEe sarr time atural gas

offers signifirant opportunity to curb the

natons oependence or imported oi

As one of the cleanest and ri ost efficient

hydrocarbon fuels on Earth natural gas emits

approximate SDo less carbon dioxide than

the combustion of coal and up to 3Do less

thai the combustion products Fur

thermore technologAal advances now allow

app iances such as natural gas powered fur

naces run atan ire pressivc 90% efficiency

rate nis means only lD0o of the energy con

tamed natural gas is lost to waste during

the co iversion process
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Board of Directors
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Board of Directors and Corporate Officers
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Our Employees
Chesapeake is very proud to list all of our 7649 employees Their talent enthusiasm and

dedication make them our most Power fulAsset We appreciate each member of the outstanding

team that has made Chesapeake leader in the natural gas exploration and production industry

In 2008 Chesapeake was honored as one of the 100 Best Companies to Work Forby Fortune

Magazine In February 2009 Chesapeake was again included in the prestigious list We continue

to receive more than 10000 new job applications per month so we know we have built very

employee-friendly corporate culture
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Our Employees
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Ashton

Jonathan Piper Perry Robertson Jr Jerry Shifflett Katie Stuewe
Larry

Walls Jr Jerod Wright Gregory Atwood

BradPipins AmberRobinsos DavidShinnJr lsaacSsnmpJr Monica Walls Lacey Wright ErinAastln

Clay Pitts Heath Robinson Taylor Shine Damon Suderman Adam Walsh Larry Wright
Jesus Avila Torres

Brian Plum Armando Rocha David Shirley Jc Heith Sulivant Chelsey
Walstad Magan Wright Lynn Azbill

Carl Poe Jr David Rodgers Josh Shirley Casey Sullivan Lori Walters Shalen Wyatt Richard Baden

Neal Poindexter Amanda Rodriguez Amber Shockley Ten Swarengin Michael Walters Mark Wyckoff Alberto Baeza

Randy Pons Art Rodriguez Adam Sholes Jonathan Swarthoat Kyle Waltisperger
Mike

Yarbroagh
Jesse

Bailey

Dennis Pool Joan Rodriguez Rachel Shortt Mitchell SwartzJr
Danny

Ward Shaan Yates Joshua Bailey

Trey
Pool

Johnny Rodriquez Larone Siemsev Michael Swonger Robett Warren Ill Nathan Yeats Patrick Bailey

Eddie Posey Melanie Roe Corey Simmons Paul Tacketr Nick Watkins David Yelle Tommy Bailey

J.P Potter Michael Rogers Cynthia Simms Kiel Talbert Matthew Watson Preston
Young Jimmy Bailey

II

Jody Potter Richard Rogers Chris Simoss Jason Tasnehill Jason Waybourn Jesse Yule T.J Baird Jr

Fred Powell Tommy Rogers
Chris Singleton Ryan

Tanner Kelly Weaver Ervin Zacharias Amos Baker

Jerry
Powell Jr Alan

Rogstad Clay Skoch Domingo Tavera Jeremy Weeks Jacob Zacharias Blake Baker

Troy Powell Grant Rohlmeler James Slaten Christie Taylor Linda Weeks Travis Zamora Charles BakerJr

Kenneth PranglerJr Clint Roland David SlaterJr Jonathan
Taylor Logan Wehling Jenny Zhang Dashawn Baker

Jaena Pratt Carlos Romo Fred Slaughter
Kate

Taylor Cody WeIr Lester Zitkus Derrick Baker

Judy Pratt Jeffrey Ronck Paul Slavens
Kyle Taylor Jody Weir Kathryn Zynda Donnie Baker

Mitra Pratt Jostin Roper Larry Smallwood Robert Taylor Alison Weis 20082480 Harold Baker

Robert Preece James Roshto Pat Smelley Roberta Taylor Brock Welch
James Aaron

Krista Baker

David Prenatt Achley Ross Amy Smith Theressa Taylor Melissa Wells
Ricky

Aaron Larry
Baker

Michele Presley Chris Ross Bonnie Smith Tom Taylor Ill Gary Wend
Jerad Abbott

Ronald Baker

Elizabeth Price Dan Ross Ill Bradley
Smith Tom Taylor Brandi Wessel

Larry
Abel

Dennis Balentise

Kristopher
Price Josh Ross Brooke Smith Anthony Thomas Yakino West

Richard Abel
Allison Bales

Savannah Price Michael Ross Bryan Smith Brandon Thomas Laura Whaley
KacyAbsey

Jarrell Ball

Amanda Priest Michelle Ross Clovis Smith Chris Thomas Bock Wheat
Jose Adame

Mark Ball

Jerry PrItchard Jr Nathan Ross Darrell Smith Danny Thomas David Wheeler
Joan Adame

Kristin Ballard

Amanda Proctor Amber Rosser Ginger Smith Dennis Thomas Drman Wheeler
Darla Adams

Levi Ballard

Adrian Proadfoot Yory Rouba Jill Smith LaDoena Thomas Rebekah Wheeler
David Adams

Melissa Bane

Clint Province Greg Rowland Joe Smith Mark Thomas Lauren Whitaker
Jeremiah Adams Greg Banks

Kristin Prodhom Jimmie Rowland Jonathan Smith Thaddios Thomas Gary White
Mark Adams Gary

Baracato

Gary Pruett Doog Rabick Kirk Smith Trista Thomas Gregory White
Matthew Adams

Ron Baranski Jr

Barkley
Praltt Matt Rocker Michael Smith Khrlsten Thomason Jennifer White

John Adcock
Garry Barbee

Elizabeth
Prykryl

Raul Roiz Monte Smith Cameron Thompson Lain White
Matt Aderhold

Richard Barber

John Pugh Ill Clarence Russell II Shairell Smith Charlie Thompson Mike White
Doug

Adkivs Haley
Barfield

Brett Purvine Ronnie Russell Shane Smith Harold Thompson Randall White
Douglas Adklss

Joshua Barker

Bill Queen Autumn Ruth Sharla Smith Ken Thompson Robert White
Adam Agnirre

Ashley Barlow

Lynn Qaimby Tim Rutherford Tommy Smith Mart Thompson Roger White
Jeffery Ainsworth

Adam Barnes

Sylvia Quintasa Brian Ryel Boyce Smithson Raymond Thompson Todd White
Jeffrey

Akers
Ryan Barnes

James Rachal Steve Salter II Anna Snedeker Tim Thompson Jim Whitefield Jr
Dennis Alder

Sarah Barnes

Denisha Racimo Toni Sanchez Randy
Snow Laura Tiffany Rick Whitehair

Julie Alder
Dan Barnett

Adam Rackis Matthew Sanders Armando Solis Brandon Tindle Wendy Whitfill-Embry
Christa Alderman

Josh Barraza

Jon Radka Ryan Sanders Jason Solley Michael Tingle Joni Whitney
Greg Alexander

Hagoberto Barrera

Mark Raines William Sanders Jane Soothard Ronsy
Tinker

Kiley
Wiewel

Karen Alexander
Kenny Barriteau

Mike Raley Kevin Sandersos Douglas Sparks
Adam

Tinney
Allen Wiley

Christopher Allen
Joshoa Barron

Heather Ramsey
Ramos Sandoval Joe Spearmav Mats Toews Wayne Wiley

Clifford Allen
Jeff Barry

Robert
Randolph

Josh Sanford Darrell Spencer David Tollan Jeffrey Wilkes
John Allen

Jenni Bartel

Brandy Ratcliff Chad Satterfield Gene SpicerJr Thomas Toilets Ed Wilkins
Sondra Allen

Steve Barwlck

Glenda Ratcliffe Scott Sayre Victor Spikes David Tollison Colton Wilkinson
Justin Allert

T.D Baskin

ClintRatke JoanitaScaggs PaalSpoon MattToppins
Allison Williams

BethAllgood
ChrisBasler

Mike Ratzlaff Bryce Scalf Christopher Spratt
Katie Torres Amy Williams

David AllIes

Susannah Batchelor

Anne Rawlins Cody Schaedig Chris Sprute Mary Anne Townson Christopher Williams
Kevin Allison

Ston Battisto

Eric
Ray

Robert Scheetz Colby Staats KeIth Tran David Williams
Nathaniel Allison

Brooke Battle

lsmael Real John Schieber Gary Stacy Van Tran Derek Williams
Joel Alpers

Michael Baaldwin

Ken Reardon Chris Schmitz Linsey Stafford Guy Trent Jason Williams
Reno Altos

Gil Bayer

William ReatherJr John Schneider Joshua Standifer
Tyler

Trent Jerry Williams
Jerame Aly

Luke Baze

Mike ReddickJr Charles Schulz Jr Carl
Standley

Bruce Trepl II Joe Williams
Manuel Amaya

Timothy Beach

Robert Redhat Klint Schroeder Johnny Stanford Seth Tribbey Joe Williams Jason Beagle



David Bean Chris Brady Sharon Cahill Thomas Clark Jennifer Crouch Bryan Disher

Rinds Beard Matt Brady James Cain William Clark Nick Crouch Tom Divine

Matthew Beason James Brakeheld
Wesley Cain Steven Clarke Corinon Cruocher Mohammed Diwao

Ben Beaver Jason Bramlette Brent Calame Shelia Clayton David Crooner Shone Dixon

Zoc Beavers Lee Broodon Jamie Caidwell James Clew Christopher Crownon Allen Doan

Carla Beoveu Jason Branham Jesse Caidwell Allen Clift Daniel Croz Joshua Duane

Kate Beavio Michael Broonum Brandon Calhoun Kelsey Clloesmith Esseblo Cruz Dwayne Dockens

Trey
Bnckoer Ill Dodger Bratton Chad Calleoder Michael Clinton Marcus Crux Ken Dodsun

Robert Beckwirh Brett
Btaytoo

Andrea Calvonese Terry Clinton Rudy Cruz Rusty Dodson

John Bedgood Neal Breazeale Joe Camacho Jr Diane Cloud Dodie CaDet Colton Dollathide

Jordan Bedwell Aimee Breeze Miguel Camacho Kenny Clymer Kim Cummings Jimmy Doolittle Jr

Timothy Reedy Robert Btevelle Rafael Cambroo Wesley Coats Emily Cunningham James Dorsey

Amber Bell Heath Brewer Kody Cammack Eric Cobb Jane Cunningham Zach Dorsey

Ryan
Bellew

Grady Briley
Grocer Campbell Amunda

CodyEversule
Kent Corton Jerry Dotson Jr

Alifunso Beltran Katie Brinlee James Cantrell Wesley Cofet Bryan Curry Rod Dotnon

Edmund Beltran Rock Briscoe Brian Carberry John Cogar Rodney Curtis Billy Duogherny

Troy Bending Sammy Briscue Alexander Cardenas Rick Cugor Raymond Dabney Jusette Doughty

Cynthia Benford Bull Brister Billie Carender Brondoo Colbern Bruce Dake Eric Douglas

Leticia Benitez Bryan Britt Tins Cargal Adam Cole Cody DAlesnandro Jack Douglas

Bob Bennett Pam Brocotu Casey Carlisle Mike Cole Justin Dallas Jerrud Dxxvii

Brondon Bennett Stacey Brodok Mike Canyon Timothy Cole Colleeu Dame Jeffrey Dover
Ltnda Hoang

Dustin Bennett Candace Brooks Kenneth Canton Chris Coleman Kinao Darapureddy James Dowdell Executive Assistant

Johnny Bennett Johnny Brooks Jeffrey Carpeoxer Donna Coleman April Darnell Bobby Downs Oklahoma City Oklahoma

Cody Benson Timothy Brooks Sandy Carpenter Lisa Coleman Joseph Daugherty Michael Downs
.i ni iT vJHnfk

Brett Bentley Tom Brooks Harold Canr Sierra Coleman Raymond Daugherty Brett Dreyer JifT 11T1anv tat hact
Jerry Bentley GallEon Broemfield William Cantell Matt Collingswonth Jane Davenport Retinald Drummer

iT T11r
Merideth Bentley Brenda Brothertoo Andre Carrethers DylerCollins Tyler David Oscar Duarte

f7J
Jim Benton Hugh Brower Jose Carnizales Melinda Colgoitt Chet Davies PeeWee Duarte

Kevin Bersin Blaire Brown Jose Carnizales Keith Coiwell Gilberto Davila Ill Danny Dudley
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Steve Berry Brandun Brown Jason Carroll Antonio Compean Andrew Davis Matthew Dudley kfflderqartfJfl TtiIdiTOtOfT

Dave Bert Derrick Brown Tommy Carroll Daniel Conard Brandon Dams Gwen Duffy nrc Jr J/ nJ ITCH SC
Michael Bess Donald Brown Ill Trent Carroll Richard

Cuoley
Bruce Davis Michelle

Dugan vvp
Todd Bevins Dxnita Brown Dallas Carson Bennie C0000lly Cayla Davis Amy Duke

Ronald Bias Enhan Brows Edward Carson Leslie Connor Charles Davis Ill Dana Duke

Tony Biosotti Hunter Brown Kathy Carson Jason Conway Don Davis Richard Dunagan

Eugene Bickel Janet Brows Tami Carson Robert Conwayir David Davis Tommy Duncan Dave Escue

Bob Bickham Laura Brown Bobby Carter Tooey Conway Jr Frauds Davis Value Duoklin Williams Espino

Joseph Billings Steven Brown Cam Carter Christopher Cook Greg Davis Jason Dunlap Tracy Espinosa-

Timothy Billings Heather Browning Eric Carter Dionna Cook Joseph Davis Chris Dunn Checotoh

Steven Birchfield Justly Browsing Knelt Carter London Cook Joshua Taxis Jean Ann Dunn Chrisnian Estep

Donnie Bixhop Joe Bruggemon Rainey Carter Nate Cook Mark Davis Lesley 000nagan Jeremy Estep

tim Bishop Alan Brumtield Shows Carter Sean Cook Seth Taxis Todd Dunnohue Michael
Esnep

Golyn
Black Jetty Bnumfield William Cotter Shenni Cook

Danny
Davisson

II
Ericka Durham Bobby Eubanks

Jeremy Black Elaine Brummett LaOuitta CarterPearson Jim Cooper Franklin Dams Gene Durr Crystal Evans

JenemyT Block Daniel Rrussman Terry Cosbeen Larry Cooper Kevin Damson David Duszynski Eric feast

Taylor Blackburn Zocheny Bruster Toby Casey Patrick Cooper Jason Day Robert Duttko James Evans

Bradford Blockcnew Cody Bruton Keith Caslin Will Cooper Jill Day Chris Dybvig Joy Evans

Shylo Blackketter Dwyer Steve Brutun Stephanie Casso James Cope Dorothy Daywood Alicia Dye Justlo Evans

Joshua Blockwell Benjamin Bryan Marty Casteel Steffany Copeland Dim Deal Benjamin Dyne Mike Evans

William Blackwell II Jeremy Bryan Baige Casto Blake Corder Ashley Dean Samual Dyne Terry
Evans

Brian Blame Erie Bryant Jamie Canto Ryan Condes Brian Dean Ron Dysart Alisha Fogala

James Blankenship Frankie Buckner Mont Casto Paul Cornelius IV Justin Dean Erick Eads Travis Former

Kevin Blankenship David Buffisgtoo Bobby Caswell Josh Cornell Robert Dean Timothy Earle Fred Farndon

Timmy Blankenship Elizabeth Bogay David Cotes Jessica Cornett Phillip Deoton Richard Easxm Matt Farrar

Damon Blaningame
Chanli Bullard Janrud C050ey Daryl Currell Belinda Debter Arthur Eason Donovan Forrow

Kenny Bloylock Rossel Bomgordnen II
David Cenezo

Benjamin Curse Roger
Deel Jonathan Easter Emma Farthing

Brandon Blevins Lonnie Botch Vinicio Cerezo Derry Cortez Sam DeFoor Monte Eastman Jonathan Foughtenbetny

Shone Blevins Alva Bundy Alex Cha James Costin Tim Dehan II Sean Easton Mark Faulkner

Chris Blockcolski Rose Buokley Alejondro Chacon Jeffery Cotherman Rafael Del Angel Hope Eaton Gary Fount

David Blythe Grant Rural Lope Chacon Cole Coulter Hilanio Del Voile Bryan Eddington Enin Fay

James Boos Amy Butch Elliot Chambers
Randy

Counts Nick DnllDtso Jr Travis Edds Sammy Feogin

Emily Boecking Catherine Burdg Sherry Chambless Mario CouxiooSilea Pam DeLong Jacob Edster Brent Feazell

Dustin Buecktnan Emily Burgess Tory Chamblisx Kevin Cuwart Drew DeLozier Chris Edwards Valentmn Federico

Kenton Boexers Eddie Burk Aaron Champion Zach Cuwden Jennifer Demel James Edwards II Mendozo

Emiko
Bugard

Kristen Burke
Joy Chancey

Jr Aaron Coo Kenneth DeMoney James Edwards Rob Fell

Michael Boiles Laura Burke Alicia Chandler Billy Coo Billy Dempsey Kyle
Edwards Levten Feltner

Casey Boland Dianna Butks Joe Choodler Caitlyn Coo Toney Dempsey Paul Edwards Carl Fendersxn

Misty Bolanov Amber Burlisoo Jerni ChapinTerrozas Christopher Con Mario Dent Perry Edwards Tyler Ferguson

Kelly Bond Jason Burnett Brian Chapman John Coo Bethooy Dester Tracey Edwards Edgar Fernandez

Michael Bone Tyler Burns Caleb Chapman Micah Con Jaci Deterding Will Edwards Gobe Ferrell

Mitchell Boone Josh Burroughs Juntit Chapman 0mm Con Benjamin Dexille TylerEilern Zachary Fenrell

Ennesto Bordoyx Jr DoShown Borne Reofond Chorisun Brian Craig Dewey Dexille Janna Ellenburg Paul Fesler

Dan Borum Kelley Busby Alfred Chavez Jimmie Craig Kolby DeVille Brad Ellett Reginald Fielding

John Boutwick Phillip Bush Mayna Chavez Kurt Craig Michael Dew Shone Elli Ken Fieno

Bruce 000dman Ryan Bushman Raeen Chavez
Anthony

Croiker Corn Dewbre Joke Elliott Matt Finney

Christopher Boulet Ruben Bustomante Jr Bradley Chervenko Kristin Crane David DeWitt Stephen Elliott Dana Fisher

Tinny Buarke Adam Butkus Courtney Childness Coney Crawford Donald Diamond Troy Elliott Neil Fisher

Steve Bourke Christie Butler Lisa Chniutman-Pretluw Jenny Crawford Jr Mario Diaz Erin Ellis Amy Fitzgerald

Cooper Bourne Ricky Butler Jamie Chrunister Kosi Crawford Melissa Dickey Shown Ellis Brondi Fitzgerald

Leonard Bowen Joseph Button Robert Cisneros Paul Crawford Michael Dickinson Bo Embrey
Chad

Fitzgerald

Veronica Bowie Michael Button
BnitneeClapp

Thomas
Creecy

Robert Dickson Scott Emenick Derek Fletnen

Johnny Bowman Timothy Button Andnew Clank Rosalmnda Crespu Wade Dietzman Myron Emmons Jr Joel Flones

Ken Bowman William Buzan Cossie Clank Dale Cnites Chad Diffey Michael England Kevin Flones

Bnandnn Boyd Steven Byens Sr Cony Clank Thomas Crites Tiffany Diggins Matthew Enkoff Pete Flutes

Donald
Boyd

Alan
Byrnes James Clank

Nicky Crocker Kevin Digney Timothy Eonis Tommy Floren

Tony Bnyd
Francis Coffey Kevin Clark David Crooks Scuttie Dill Emil EnoffJr Loro Flonez

Amando Boyle Jim Cagle Marshall Clank John Crooks R.B Dillard Jr Tonya Eoniguez Richard Flournoy

Joel Boyle Lacy Cagle Reino Clank Kathleen Crooks Jonathan Dingens Kitty Ensmingen Alicia Floyd

Richard Bnadfnnd Timothy Cagle Thadeus Clank Chninti Crxtsley Karl Dmnham Clinton Erwin David Floyd

OuF Employees
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Christopher Forcucci Kevin Garrett Kenneth Gronhe Ashley Hausman Christopher Hood Joseph Jennings Eric Knight

Leonard Foreman Asael Garza TylerGroves Ron Hawkins William Houdir Gregory Johns Jomes Knight

Ponrick Foreman Herman Garza Ramona Godapati Ronald Hawkins Aaron Honker Billy Johnson Tamara Knighn

Rod Foreman Austin Gonpard Antonio Guerro Loch Hawkins Wesley Hooper Cheryl Johnson Tripp Knight

Debbie Forester Sarah Gately Edoardo Guerra Bryan Hawks Kim Hoover Dawn Johnson Dooglas Knighten

David Foshee Cody Gates Miguel Guillen James Hay Deidre Hopkins Joke Johnson Brooke Knutson

Jonathan Fause Yelena Gatewood John Guillary James Hayes Johnny Horn Jeremy Johnson Henry Kunan

Cassidy Fours Eshetu Gebretsadik Greg Guise Wesley Hayes Steven Horn Jeremy Johnson Glennette Kuon

Bill Fowler Katie Genuvene Jacob Guinn Ray Hayford Daniel Homburg Joseph Johnson Justin Koonce

Brandon Fun Bradley Gentzler Brian Gunsaulis Kevin Haygood Cliff Hnrnsby Lindsey Johnson Ryan Koontz

Joe Fox Mel
George

Brondon Gonter
Terry Haynes Ashley

Horton Macny Johnson
Randy Kopisch Jr

Phil Fox Mike Gialousis Juhnathan Guth Donnie
Hays

Ben Horton Michael Johnson Chuck Kordis Jr

Charles Fronke Mike Gibson Joshua Guth Terry Head Chad Horton Rickey Johnson Steven Kosciuk

Mike Franklin Jeffery Gilder Manuel Gutierree Ferry Heard Janna Huokins Wesley Johnson Sue Kuskela

Quincy Franklin Jr Mike Gile Charley Gwin Jonathan Hearitige Christopher Houston Michael Johnston Arnold Kovacik

Belinda Franks Chad Gill DJ Hackney Timothy Hearnsbetger Daniel Houston Michael Johnston II Scott Kueck

Gordon Frayne Jr David Gilley James Hackney Kevin Heflin Trevor Houston Alan Jones Sanjay Kumur

Gregory
Frazier Tom Gilmure Juntin

Hadley
Lesa Heilhecker Joseph Howard Carrie Jones Rick Kuper

Allen Frederick Trasey Gipsun Richard Haertlein Tony Hellar Veda Howell ChristnpherJnnes Dustin Kurtz

Joseph Free Tyler Gizzi Curtis Hager Norman Helmick Jared Huwerton Cindy Jones Kode Kusik

Tyler French Blake Gladhill Tim Haladay Jeffrey Heiwick Cloy Hubbard Cody Jones Nick Kyger

Armandu Frios Brent Glasgow Michelle Hale John Hereimings Kenneth Hobbard Dan Jones Chad LaCross

Norris Friend Jeff Glenn Rick Hale
Benjamin

Henderson Mark
Huckaby Denton Jones Ryan LaCruss

Philip Friesen Larry Glime Rusty Hale Danyelle Henderson Levnn Hudman Oustin Jones Jeff Lagaly

Paula Friess Brian Glover Julie Haley Jeff Henderson Kay Hudnall Grant Jones Melissa Lambert

Stese Frost Chad Dinner Brad Hall II Lucas Henderson Lyle Hudnall JenniferJones William Lambert

Gilberto FuenteuPerez Robert GoberJr Damon Hall Megan Hendricks John Hudson JodyJonea Jack Landry

Stephen Fults Joseph Godfrey
David Hall Cory Hendrickson Chris Huey Johnny Jones Nelson Lane

Joe Gabriel Robert GoffJr James Hall Eric Hendrin Brian Huff RJ Jones Shown Lane

Ryan Gadberry Tami Guike Jeff Hall Juhnie Henennee John Huff Sid Jones Michael Langfnrd

Kelvin Gage Sandy Gains Lindsey Hall Jimmy Henington Bryan Huffaker Stacey Jones Sam Langley

William Gage Travis Gains Randall Hall Todd
Hennigan Bruce Hufferd

II
Todra Jones Nicole

Lanphear

Steven Gulbek Richard Hall Curtis Henry Daniel Hughes Theresa Jones Lawrence LaPlonte

Wayne Goldman Ron Hall Hayden Henry Derrek Hughes TimJunes David Lara ii

Ryan Gultz Dale Hallet Hayden Henry Kennith Hughes Joshua Jordan Andy Large

Gary
Gamer Travis Halterman Keith

Henry
Walter

Hughes
Steve Jordan

Bobby
Laster

Justin Games Tyler Ham Patrick Heringer Daniel Humphries Sane Joabert Ryan Laster

Gilbertu Gumez Joe Hamby Alex Hernandez Kasey Hundt Filiuiuarez Chris Laughlin

Jose Gnmez Clifford Hamilton Andrea Hernandez Nick Honley Kevin Judd Christopher Law

Juan Gomez Lauren Hamm Leslie Hernandez Jasan Host Lugan Judd LaTuya Lawrence

Nate Gamez Loch Harnwett Norman Herrera Holly Hunter Michael Justice Matthew Lawrence

Eleuteriu Gowez Natalie Hammond Shown Herring Michael Hunter Jeanne Kamiaski Michael Lawrence

Martinez William HammundsJr Joan Hess Chelsie Hupp Sylvie faa Daniel Lawsun Sr

Rachel Gunner Jimmie Hammuntree Jr Steven Hey Quinn Hurdle Mart Karl Jeffery Lawsan

Hectar Gunzalez Meluin
Hampton

Thea Hibbard it Jared Hurst John Kastelic Kenneth Lawson Jr

Pete Gonzalez Nick Hancock
Tiffany Hickey

Patrick Hurst Lauren Kustner Noel Leal

James Guodall Debra Haney Charles Hicks Robert Hurt Richard Kastner Dustin Leavina

ChristapherGundin Heather Hanmer Clint Hicks Chad Hutches Russell Katigan Nick Leber

Travis Guudreau II Lee Hanna Jr Freddy Hicks Jr Colby Humus Dan Keffeler Blake LeBlanc

Cindy Gaudwin Kent Hanuen Mike Hicks Jesuica Hatson Christupher Keith Andrew Lee

Daniel Goadwin Mike Hanson Niculai Hicks Mann Hyde William Keith Jesse Lee

Kan Goudwin Mark Harding Nigel
Hicks Brian

Hyden Angi Kelley
Joshua Lee

Carol Gvrdon Nichalan Hardwick Raquel Hicks Jesse Hyltun Kim Kelley Kent Lee

Dennis Alder Paige Gordun Clarence Hardy Ryan Hicks Juse Ibarra Stesen Kelley King Lee

Midstream EHS Field Coordinator
Tony Gore Cleaphun Hardy Clarence Higginbotham Braxtun lmke Pam Kelly Cassi Leeper

Fort Worth Texas Gary Gould Dale Hardy Johnnie Higginbotham Brian Ingalls Glenda Kelton Humer Leger Sr

Patrick Gamer Gail Hardy Adam Hill Marcus Ingram Jash Kemp Fiesa Leggetu

ITt piOJJff TO WO1 JOCO Tummy Grace James Hardy II Amy Hill Neil Ingram James Kennedy Chad LeGrande

cOinponythattcT kes SLTietyso CureyGraham Brett Hargrove Jennifer Hill Steven Ireland WalterKennedy Frederick Lewbach Ill

or Oh Au f/j iulie Graham Jimmie Hargroxe Lisa Hill Elvin Irwin Jr Clint Kenner Gregury Lemley

oCeremrhi0000s /uive i/JO TOO/S Lindsey Graham Loretta Harkins Megan Hill Lienl Irwin Chnintian Kenney Pamela Lemley
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Neil Granberry ChnistopherHarman Zach Hill Ryan Irwin Shane Kennan John Lemuns

Rubert Grant Jr ixrdan Harmon Jusnen Hinkle Misty lsaacs Jennifer Kent Rxbert Lewuns
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Chris Gray Jennifer Harms Stu Hirsch Austin Ivey Sunia Kepler John Lennun
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Christina Gray Ruger Harper Glenn Hively Kaby Isey

Bruce Kessler Carmen Lentz
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ShaneGray Casey Harrell Rebert Hinun Paul Ivey Chuck Ketterman Tiffany Leschber

Michael Gredler Ben Harris Terry Hubeck David Ivy Branden Killingsworth Jacub Lester

Shannon
Gagnon Billy

Green Jr Jeannie Harris Sally Hoch Gaynell Izard Kristupher Killman Donald Lenetich

Blame Galbreath David Green Karen Harris Burtan Badge
Adam Jackson Isaac Kimbrough Chrmstupher Lewis

Elny Galmndu Jr Debbi Green Lee Harris Marci
Budge

Darrell Jackson Eric Kinder
Jerry

Lewis
II

Kanha Galla Jerad Green Mark Harris Edward Hedges Dwight Jackson Aarnn King Jr Kent Lewis

Tale Galloway Kenny Green Jr Mark Harris Juannie Hodges Jack Jacksan Justin King Micah Lewis

Nicole Ganaway Mark Green Douglas Harrison Kevin Haelscher Michael Jackson Leah King Nathan Lewis

Daniel Gunny Mottle Green Timuthy Harrisun Danmelle Hoeltzel Randall Jackson Rachelle King Steve Lewis

Kevin Dunn Stenen Green Grew Harruld
EjIl

Hufeldt Isaac Jacobson
Terry King Cody Light

Francisca Gonna Teddy Green Jr Chrin Harsh Stephen Hoff Tranmn Jacobson Jade
Kingcade

Wen Clint

Elineu Garcia Chnmn Greene Kenneth Harsh Craig Hoffman Skip Jacut Kyle Kinney Clay Lmndley

Leunel Garcia Angela Greenhxwe Curtis Hartley ta Hoffman Clifford James James Kirby Kelli Lindsey

Dan Gardner Ttace Greer Rowdy Hartley Casey Hogan Kyle James Bryan Kirk Brian Linger

Tim Gamy Edgar Gregury Steven Harvey Russell Hogan Scott James Bruce Kirkland Randy Lingerfelt

Mutt
Garlingtun

Kevin
Gregnry Jeremy

Harvill Austin Holland RennerJantz
Timuthy

Kin Juhn Lingle

Jennifer Garner
Larry Gregory

II Danny Hanville Jim Holland
Timuthy

Janzen Dun Kirnchener Jnshua
Linley

Ryan Garner Michael Gregary Eric Haukins Gary Halley CarlyJaru
Steve Klassen

Sandy
Litter

Jamie Games Sarah Griffis Ren Hats Molly Holley Holly Jaroliw Stephen Klein Travis Little

Junmnr Games Gwen Grimes Flnyd Hathaway Jr Jeffrey Hulliday Scott Jeffrey Joke Klingenberg Rick Little Axe

Rick Gannett Ill
Kenneth

Grimsley Kevin Hathaway Kenin Holmes Brent Jenkins Gordun Klundt Musty Lively

Johnny Garmard Jr Dakota Gring Chalis Hattun Crystal Flalsinger Chance Jenkins Bobby Knapp Mark Lucklear

Bryant Garrett Larry Grissuw Nathan Hutton John Bolt Linda Jenkins Shayne Knapp Angela Loest

Dunny Garrett Mike Grooms Chuck Bought Megan Hnneycutt Matthew Jenkins Blake Knight Phil Lugsdnn



Our Employees

Devon Logue Johnny May Kevin Mick Mike Newkirk Rohley Parmer Lisa Powers William Rieg Jr

Bryan Lohoff Densis Maye Michael Mikulenka Jr
Casey

Newman ErcIl Parsons Tiburcio Prado Bob Rleser

Joshoa Long
Melissa

Mays
Donald Milford Dana Newman Jason Parsons Josh Prater Russell Riggs

Richard
Long

Jr Joseph Mcalisser Alex Miller Donnie Newman Stuart Parsons Roger Prater II Julie Rigshy

Blake
Looney

Garret McBrain Drew Miller Joshua Newport
Ranita Patel Devin Pratt Chad Riley

Kristi Looper Allison McBride Emily Miller Cheyenne Newsome Ales Patton Paul Pratt Claude Riley Jr

Andy Lopez James McBride Jeanna Miller Steven Newton Jr Travis Patty Bob Press Matthew Riley

Francisco Lopez Ray McCallister Josh Miller Chi Nguyen Jason Payne
Frankie Preston Josh Riter

Luis Lopez Gary McCartney Lone Miller Long Nguyen Henry Payton
Keith Prewitt Monica Rivera

Paul
Lopez

Dakota McCarty Rickey Miller Derek Nicholas Mutt
Payton

Chloe Price Allen Roach

Robert Lopez Randy McCarty Steve Miller Benjamin
Nichols Matthew Peach Nathan Price Bill Roach

Susan Lnrenzen Roy McCasland Travis Miller Derek Nichols Jim Pearman Mike Priest Jeremy Roark

William Lovell Ill Brunden McClain Adam Milligan Rome Nichols Josh Pearman Eric Pritchard Adam Roberts

Jessie Lovett Jr David
McClenny

Dan Mills Susan Nichols Darby Pearrow Lisa Pritchard David Roberts

David Lowe Aloe McClure Scott Mills Brandon Nicholson Jarrod Pearrow Sade Proby Derrick Roberts

Eric Lowting Scott McCollum Nichole Minnick Jason Nicholson Joe Peck Aaron Procell Eric Roberts

Cody locus Leigh McCormack Tabb Minor Thomas Nicholson II Kip Peck Christen Proctor Larry Roberts Jr

Mikel Lucas Kevin McCotter Kathy Mires Diane Nickel Tonia Peck Barry Pruitt Jr Megan Roberts

Hector Lujan-Jorado Dennis McCoy DAntae Mitchell Mark Nipper Eason Peeples Duane Puffer Rhett Roberts

Robert Lumley Don McCoy Jackie Mitchell Gary Nix Christopher Pena Cody Poffinbarger Ronnie Roberts II

Cecil Lustrull Lance McCoy Joshua Mitchell Henry Nixon Christina Pendarvis Nick Pugh Bill Robinson

Evan Lutz Tommy McCoy Juliet Mitchell Moota Noe Eric Pendleton Nathan Pomphney Charles Robinson

Jake Luzader Jamie McCracken Matt Mittlestat Chad Noland Tim Pendleton Jody Purcell Clarence Robinson

Donald Lynch Jeffrey McCroskey Jeremy
Mison Christopher Noonan Aaron Penis Brian Putnam Dustin Robinson

Terra MacAloney Rick McCurdy T-Roy Misc Joseph Norman Keith Peppers Roger Putnam Jonathan Robinson

Grant Macdonald Brandy McDaniel Brennan Moates Chase Norris Angel Perez Randy Pyle Kaden Robinson

Glen Mackle Justin McDaniel Jeffrey
Mohs Tony Norris Angela Perez T.J

Pyle
Mutt Robinson

Greg Macksood Alvin McDonald Gilbert Moncivals Robert Northway
Charles Perez Amber Oerama Meg Robinson

Michael Madar Matt McDonald John Movdal Ed Nockols Francisco Perez Mutt Ooade Rob Robinson

Rafael Madrid Shannon McDonald James Monday John Nuckols Gabriel Perez Randall Radcliff Robbie Robinson

RichardMahlsck DannyMcDowell MarkMongold AimeeNull JuanPerez VickiRadke TimRobinson

Troy Mahorin Tony McEntyre David Montes Josh Nunley
Jesus Perez-Garcia Joseph Ragsdale Clayton Robison

Michael Major Julie McFarland John Montgomery Thomas Nunley Richard Penman TJ Bagsdale Fernando Robles

Rodnick Malmay Becky
McGee Myron Montoya Jr Ann Noon Jerry Perkins Frank Rainbow Justin Roby

George
Malone Jamie McGee Christie Moody Fred Nunn Keera Perkits Ryan Roiner Bertha Rodarte

Jacob Malone Rnderick McGee Amanda Moore Roland Oaks Jumie Perot William Rainey Paul Rodgers Jr

Rosanne Maloy Lonell McGhan Heather Moore Jason Oblander Melvin Pvrrin Elliud Ramirez Eric Rodriguez

Tim Mangham Kiley McGlothlln Jeremy
Moore Jesse OBrien Chelsea Perrsdit Hector Ramlrez Esdras Rodriguez

Rico Manjarrez Ken McGoire Josh Moore Robert OBrien Ill Charlie Perry Jr Pilo Ramirez Eostaqoio Rodriguez

Jonathan
Manning

Levi McHenry Keith Moore Jessica Ockershauser Daryle Perry
Jose Ramos Raul Rodriguez

Mike Mannschreck Gary Mcintosh Lance Moore Jr Dave Odom Farron
Perry

Juan Ramos Eddy Rodriquez

Joe Manshack Jason Mcintosh Leland Moore II Ray
Ofoso Micah Perry Nelson Ramos Roberto Rodriqoez Jr

Mutt Mantell Charles Mcintyre Michael Moore Dane OGlee Nicole Peters David Ramsey James Rogers

Tyler Manwell Taylor Mcintyre
Res Moore Lauren Ogrinz Gina Peterson Derrek Ramsey

Michael
Rogers

Alberto Manzano Marshall McKee Roy
Moore Kyle OKelley Marie Peterson Dma Ramsey

Nathan
Rogers

Michael Mapp Randy
McKee Timothy Moore Leah OKelley Jarred Pettijohn Paul Ramsperger Timothy Rogers Sr

BrittMarchbanks ThomasMcKee WalterC.Moore DonaldOldaker ThuoPhan RoyRandoiphili BarryRohrbosghJr

Ronald Marchbanks Leslie McKeever Matthew Moran Manuel Olivas Ales Phares Jared Raoum Kiley Rollins

Crystal Marcom Russell McKibben Mandy Moreno Jill Olney
Steven Phathong Jenn Rauber Erit Roistad

Paul Mares Jr Brondon McKinley
Renita Moreno Brett Olson Dan Phillips Shawn Rawls John Roney

Autumn Marker Willie McKinley Brandon Morgan Nate Olson Obie Phillips
Glenn Ray Rebecca Roper

CharlesMarsh AliciaMcLaoghlin ChanlesMorgan ChadONeol RickyPhillips LeifRayborn TreyRoperlll

Dennis Marsh Cody McLaughlin Eufaula Morgan Andy Opella Vernon Phillips Jr All Raza Manuel Rosas
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PART

ITEM Business

General

We are the largest independent producer of natural gas in the United States We own interests in

approximately 41200 producing natural gas and oil wells that are currently producing approximately 2.3 billion

cubic feet equivalent bcfe per day 92% of which is natural gas Our strategy is focused on discovering

developing and acquiring conventional and unconventional natural gas reserves onshore in the U.S primarily in

the Big natural gas shale plays the Barnett Shale in the Forth Worth Basin of north-central Texas the

Haynesville Shale in the Ark-La-Tex area of northwestern Louisiana and East Texas the Fayetteville Shale in the

Arkorna Basin of central Arkansas and the Marcellus Shale in the northern Appalachian Basin of West Virginia

Pennsylvania and New York We also have substantial operations in various other plays both conventional and

unconventional in the Mid-Continent Appalachian Basin Permian Basin Delaware Basin South Texas Texas

Gulf Coast and Ark-La-Tex regions of the U.S

We have been developing expertise in horizontal drilling technology since shortly after our inception in

1989 and have focused almost exclusively on developing natural gas properties in the U.S since 2000 We were

one of the first companies to recognize the potential of unconventional natural gas properties especially shales

in the U.S during the early part of this decade During the past five years we have grown from the eighth largest

natural gas producer in the U.S to the largest independent natural gas producer in large part as result of our

success in finding and developing unconventional natural gas assets

As of December 31 2008 we had 12.051 trillion cubic feet equivalent or tcfe of proved reserves of which

94% were natural gas and all of which were onshore in the U.S During 2008 we produced an average of 2.303

bcfe per day an 18% increase over the 1.957 bcfe per day produced in 2007 We replaced our 843 bcfe of

production with an internally estimated 2.0 15 tcfe of new proved reserves for reserve replacement rate of

239% Reserve replacement through the drillbit was 2.545 tcfe or 302% of production including 1.248 tcfe of

positive performance revisions and 298 bcfe of negative revisions resulting from natural gas and oil price

decreases between December 31 2007 and December 31 2008 Reserve replacement through the acquisition of

proved reserves was 172 bcfe During 2008 we divested 702 bcfe of estimated proved reserves In total our

proved reserves grew by 11% during 2008 from 10.9 tcfe to 12.1 tcfe Of our 12.1 tcfe of proved reserves 67%

were proved developed reserves

During 2008 Chesapeake continued the industrys most active drilling program and drilled 1819 gross

1491 net operated wells and participated in another 1857 gross 242 net wells operated by other companies

The companys drilling success rate was 99% for company-operated wells and 98% for non-operated wells Also

during 2008 we invested $5043 billion in operated wells using an average of 145 operated rigs and $754

million in non-operated wells using an average of 110 non-operated rigs for total drilling completing and

equipping costs of $5.797 billion

During the second half of 2008 we entered into joint venture arrangements that monetized portion of our

investment in three of the Big Shale plays and provide drilling cost carries for our retained interest In the

Haynesville Shale we entered into joint venture with Plains Exploration Production Company in July 2008

in which we sold Plains 20% interest in our Haynesville properties and received an upfront cash payment of

$1.65 billion and drilling cost carries of up to $1.65 billion In the Fayetteville Shale we entered into joint

venture with BP America Production Company in September 2008 in which we sold BP 25% interest in our

Fayetteville properties and received an upfront cash payment of $1.1 billion and drilling cost carries of $800

million Most recently we entered into joint venture with StatoilHydro ASA in November 2008 in which we

sold 32.5% interest in our Marcellus properties and received an upfront cash payment of $1.25 billion and

drilling cost carries of $2 125 billion Collectively in these three joint ventures we received upfront cash

payments of $4.0 billion and future drilling cost carries of up to $4.6 billion for total consideration of up to $8.6

billion against cost basis of approximately $1.2 billion in the property interests we sold Moreover Chesapeake



retained an 80% interest in the Haynesville Shale properties 75% interest in the Fayetteville Shale properties

and 67.5% interest in the Marcellus Shale properties

Our principal executive offices are located at 6100 North Western Avenue Oklahoma City Oklahoma

73118 and our main telephone number at that location is 405 848-8000 We make available free of charge on

our website at www.chk.com our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports

on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such

material with or furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission References to us we and our in

this report refer to Chesapeake Energy Corporation together with its subsidiaries

Business Strategy

Since our inception in 1989 Chesapeakes goal has been to create value for investors by building one of the

largest onshore natural gas resource bases in the United States For the past eleven
years our strategy to

accomplish this goal has been to focus on developing unconventional plays onshore in the U.S where we
believe we can generate the most attractive risk adjusted returns In building our industry-leading natural gas

resource base during the period from 1998 to 2008 we integrated an aggressive and technologically-advanced

drilling program with an active property consolidation program focused on small to medium-sized
corporate and

property acquisitions During the past two years we have shifted our strategy from drilling inventory capture to

drilling inventory conversion In doing so we have de-emphasized acquisitions of proved properties while

further emphasizing our industry-leading drilling program and converting our substantial backlog of drilling

opportunities into proved developed producing reserves through the drillbit Key elements of this business

strategy are further explained below

Grow through the Drilibit We believe that our most distinctive characteristic is our commitment and

ability to grow production and reserves organically through the drilibit We are currently utilizing 112 operated

drilling rigs and 75 non-operated drilling rigs to conduct the most active drilling program in the U.S We are

active in most of the unconventional plays in the U.S where we drill more horizontal wells than any other

company in the industry For several years we have been actively investing in leasehold 3-D seismic

information and human capital to take full advantage of our capacity to grow through the drillbit We are one of

the few large-cap independent natural gas and oil companies that have been able to consistently increase

production which we have successfully achieved for the past 19 consecutive years We believe the key elements

of the success and scale of our drilling programs have been our recognition earlier than most of our competitors

that natural gas and oil prices while remaining cyclical and volatile were likely to move structurally higher

for an extended period ii new horizontal drilling and completion techniques would enable development of

previously uneconomic natural gas reservoirs and iii various shale formations could be recognized and

developed as potentially prolific natural gas reservoirs rather than just as source rocks for conventional natural

gas reservoirs In
response to our early recognition of these trends we have proactively hired thousands of new

employees and have built the nations largest onshore leasehold and 3-D seismic inventories These stand as the

building blocks of our successful large-scale drilling program and the foundation of value creation for our

company

Control Substantial Land and Drilling Location inventories After we identified the trends discussed

above we initiated plan to build and maintain the largest inventory of onshore drilling opportunities in the U.S

Anticipating an increase in natural gas and oil prices and recognizing that better horizontal drilling and

completion technologies when applied to various new shale plays would likely create unique opportunity to

capture decades worth of drilling opportunities we embarked on very aggressive lease acquisition program
which we have referred to as the land grab We believed that the winner of the land grab would enjoy

distinctive competitive advantage for decades to come as other companies would be locked out of the best new
shale plays in the U.S We believe that we have executed our land grab strategy with particular distinction We
now own approximately 15 million net acres of leasehold in the U.S and have identified more than 36000

drilling opportunities on this leasehold We believe this deep backlog of drilling more than ten years worth at

current drilling levels provides unusual confidence and transparency into our future growth capabilities



Develop Proprietary Technological Advantages In addition to our industry-leading leasehold position we

have developed number of proprietary technological advantages First we have acquired what we believe is the

nations largest inventory
of three-dimensional 3-D seismic information Possessing this 3-D seismic data

enables us to image reservoirs of natural gas that might otherwise remain undiscovered and to drill our horizontal

wells more accurately inside the targeted shale formation and avoid various underground geohazards such as

faults and karsts In addition we have developed an industry-leading information-gathering program that gives us

insight into new plays and competitor activity As result of our initiatives we now produce approximately 4%

of the nations natural gas drill 13% of its wells and participate in almost an equal number of wells drilled by

others By gathering this information on real-time basis then quickly assimilating and analyzing the

information we are able to react quickly to opportunities that are created through our drilling program and those

of our competitors Furthermore we have established unique state-of-the-art Reservoir Technology Center

RTC in Oklahoma City The RTC enables us to more quickly accurately and confidentially analyze core data

from shale wells on proprietary basis and then identify new plays and leasing opportunities ahead of our

competition to improve existing plays It also allows us to design fracture stimulation procedures that might work

most productively in the shale formations that we aggressively drill We believe the RTC provides very

substantial competitive advantage in developing new shale plays and improving existing shale plays

Build Regional Scale We believe one of the keys to success in the natural gas exploration industry is to

build significant operating scale in limited number of operating areas that share many similar geological and

operational characteristics Achieving such scale provides many benefits including superior geoscientific and

engineering information higher per unit revenues lower
per

unit operating costs greater rates of drilling success

higher returns from more easily integrated acquisitions and higher returns on drilling investments By focusing

most of our future activities in the Big shale plays we will continue to achieve even greater regional scale in

north Texas for the Barnett northwestern Louisiana and East Texas for the Haynesville central Arkansas for the

Fayetteville and northeastern and southwestern Pennsylvania and northern West Virginia for the Marcellus

Focus on Low Costs By proactively hedging the prices we receive for majority of our natural gas and oil

production and by minimizing lease operating costs and general and administrative expenses through focused

activities and increased scale we have been able to deliver attractive profit margins and financial returns through

all phases of the commodity price cycle We believe our low cost structure is the result of managements

effective cost-control programs high-quality asset base extensive and competitive services and natural gas

processing and transportation infrastructures that exist in our key operating areas In addition to control costs and

service provider quality we have made significant investments in our drilling rig and trucking service operations

and in our midstream gathering and compression operations As of December 31 2008 we operated

approximately 23800 of our 41200 wells which delivered approximately 86% of our daily production volume

This large percentage of operated properties provides us with high degree of operating flexibility and cost

control

Mitigate Natural Gas and Oil Price Risk We have used and intend to continue using hedging programs to

mitigate the risks inherent in developing and producing natural gas
and oil reserves commodities that are

frequently characterized by significant price volatility We believe this price volatility is likely to continue in the

years
ahead and that we can use this volatility to our benefit by taking advantage of prices when they reach levels

that management believes are either unsustainable for the long-term or provide unusually high rates of return on

our invested capital As of February 17 2009 we have natural gas
and oil swaps and collars in place covering

78% and 48% of our expected production in 2009 and 2010 at average prices of $7.71 per mcfe and $9.02 per

mcfe respectively thereby providing price certainty for substantial portion of our future cash flow

Form Unique Joint Venture Arrangements In the second half of 2008 the company entered into three

joint venture arrangements covering three of the companys Big shale plays In the joint ventures the company

has collaborated with other leading energy companies to accelerate the development of the companys properties

in the Haynesville Shale the Fayetteville Shale and the Marcellus Shale In total we sold leasehold and

producing property assets in which we had cost basis of approximately $1.2 billion to these three joint venture



partners for total cash consideration of $4.0 billion and up to $4.6 billion of future drilling cost carries while we
retained majority interest in each joint venture The drilling cost carries of up to approximately $4.2 billion that

remain unused as of December 31 2008 will be extremely valuable in the years ahead by enabling the company
to develop reserves in these joint venture shale plays at greatly reduced costs We are also considering

opportunities for other joint venture transactions to develop our properties

Maintain an Entrepreneurial Culture Chesapeake was formed in 1989 with an initial capitalization of

$50000 and fewer than ten employees We completed our initial public offering of common stock in early 1993

and subsequent to those early corporate milestones our management team has guided the company through
various operational and industry challenges and extremes of natural

gas and oil prices to create the largest

independent producer of natural gas in the U.S with approximately 7600 employees currently The company
takes pride in its innovative and aggressive implementation of its business

strategy and strives to be as

entrepreneurial today as it has been in its past We have maintained an unusually flat organizational structure as

we have grown to help ensure that important information travels rapidly through the company and decisions are

made and implemented quickly

Improve our Balance Sheet We have made significant progress in improving our balance sheet over the

past ten years From December 31 1998 through December 31 2008 we increased our stockholders equity by
$16.5 billion through combination of earnings and common and preferred equity issuances As of December 31
2008 our debt as percentage of total capitalization total capitalization is the sum of debt less cash on hand and

stockholders equity was 43% compared to 131% as of December 31 1998 and 47% as of December 31 2007

Outlook

We believe that demand for natural gas will increase in the U.S and around the world because of its

favorable environmental characteristics and relative abundance This outlook is gathering more national attention

when compared to oil which is likely to return to being in increasingly short supply once the current worldwide
recession is over and to coal which has many unfavorable environmental characteristics Chesapeakes strategy

for 2009 is to continue developing our natural gas assets especially in our Big Shale plays in which we
anticipate investing approximately 70% of our drilling capital in 2009 through exploratory and developmental

drilling and by selectively acquiring strategic properties in the Mid-Continent and in our other operating areas
We project that our 2009 production will be between 875 bcfe and 885 bcfe 4% to 5% increase over 2008

production We have budgeted $3.3 billion to $3.6 billion for drilling acreage acquisition seismic and related

capitalized internal costs which is expected to be funded with operating cash flow based on our current

assumptions our 2009-20 10 financial plan and borrowings under our revolving bank credit facility Our budget is

frequently adjusted based on changes in natural gas and oil prices drilling results drilling costs and other factors

Operating Areas

Chesapeake focuses its natural gas exploration development and acquisition efforts in the six operating
areas described below

Mid-Continent including the Fayetteville Shale Chesapeakes Mid-Continent proved reserves of 4.456

tcfe represented 37% of our total proved reserves as of December 31 2008 and this area produced 413 bcfe or

49% of our 2008 production During 2008 we invested
approximately $2.3 billion to drill 2096 714 net wells

in the Mid-Continent For 2009 we anticipate spending approximately $610 million or 21% of our total budget
for exploration and development activities net of carries in the Mid-Continent region BP our Fayetteville Shale

joint venture partner has committed to pay up to $800 million of our drilling completing and equipping costs in

the play Of the total $800 million drilling cost carry $256 million was applied in 2008 and we expect the

remaining $544 million will be applied in 2009

Barneti Shale Chesapeakes Barnett Shale proved reserves represented 2.935 tcfe or 24% of our total

proved reserves as of December 31 2008 During 2008 the Barnett Shale assets produced 181 bcfe or 22% of



our total production During 2008 we invested approximately $1.9 billion to drill 776 600 net wells in the

Barnett Shale For 2009 we anticipate spending approximately $l.275 billion or 44% of our total budget for

exploration and development activities in the Barnett Shale

Appalachian Basin including the Marcel/us Shale Chesapeakes Appalachian Basin proved reserves

represented
1.569 tcfe or 13% of our total proved reserves as of December 31 2008 During 2008 the

Appalachian assets produced 36 bcfe or 4% of our total production During 2008 we invested approximately

$379 million to drill 161 137 net wells in the Appalachian Basin For 2009 we anticipate spending

approximately $145 million or 5% of our total budget for exploration and development activities net of carries

in the Appalachian Basin StatoilHydro our Marcellus Shale joint venture partner will pay 75% of our drilling

completing and equipping costs in the play over the next few years Of the total $2.125 billion drilling cost carry

we expect approximately $250 million will be applied in 2009

Ark-La-Tex including the Haynesville Shale Chesapeakes Ark-La-Tex proved reserves represented

1.231 tcfe or 10% of our total proved reserves as of December 31 2008 During 2008 the Ark-La-Tex assets

produced 62 bcfe or 7% of our total production During 2008 we invested approximately $429 million to drill

413 136 net wells in the Ark-La-Tex region For 2009 we anticipate spending approximately $580 million or

20% of our total budget for exploration and development activities net of carries in the Ark-La-Tex area Plains

Exploration Production Company our Haynesville Shale joint venture partner
will pay 50% of our drilling

completing and equipping costs in the play over the next few years Of the total $1.65 billion drilling cost carry

$72 million was applied in 2008 and we expect approximately $425 million will be applied in 2009

On February 20 2009 we amended our joint venture agreement with Plains to provide Plains one-time

option exercisable between June 15 2010 and June 30 2010 to reduce its maximum drilling cost carry

obligation by $800 million in exchange for assigning us effective December 31 2010 50% of its interest in the

Haynesville joint venture properties Chesapeake believes Plains cost basis in the properties that would be

assigned to us upon exercise of the option could approximate $1.5 billion to $1.6 billion by December 31 2010

If Plains exercises the option and has funded more than $850 million of its drilling cost carry as of December 31

2010 we will be required to pay to Plains an amount equal to such excess We will not be required to refund to

Plains any of the $1.65 billion in cash consideration paid in July 2008 or any portion of the first $850 million in

drilling cost carries to be paid by Plains

South Texas and Texas Guf Coast Chesapeakes South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast proved reserves

represented 943 bcfe or 8% of our total proved reserves as of December 31 2008 During 2008 the South

Texas and Texas Gulf Coast assets produced 71 bcfe or 8% of our total production For 2008 we invested

approximately $235 million to drill 65 51 net wells in the South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast regions For 2009

we anticipate spending approximately $90 million or 3% of our total budget for exploration and development

activities in the South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast regions

Pernjan and Delaware Basins Chesapeakes Permian and Delaware Basin proved reserves represented

917 bcfe or 8% of our total proved reserves as of December 31 2008 During 2008 the Permian assets

produced 80 bcfe or 10% of our total production During 2008 we invested approximately $841 million to drill

165 95 net wells in the Permian and Delaware Basins For 2009 we anticipate spending approximately $200

million or 7% of our total budget for exploration and development activities in the Permian and Delaware

Basins



Drilling Activity

The following table sets forth the wells we drilled during the periods indicated In the table gross refers to

the total wells in which we had working interest and net refers to gross wells multiplied by our working
interest

2008 2007 2006

Gross Percent Net Percent Gross Percent Net Percent Gross Percent Net Percent

Development

Productive 3479 99% 1650 99% 3439 98% 1792 99% 2844 98% 1364 99%
Non-productive .. 40 13 53 10 47 13

Total 3519 100% 1663 100% 3492 100% 1802 100% 2891 100% 1377 100%

Exploratory

Productive 142 90% 63 90% 177 99% 116 99% 128 98% 71 99%
Non-productive 15 10 10

Total 157 100% 70 100% 179 100% 117 100% 131 100% 72 100%

The following table shows the wells we drilled by area

2008 2007 2006

Gross Wells Net Wells Gross Wells Net Wells Gross Wells Net Wells

Mid-Continent 2096 714 2126 785 1884 621

Barnett Shale 776 600 512 410 244 187

Appalachian Basin 161 137 431 374 319 272
Ark-La-Tex 413 136 259 176 248 175
South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast 65 51 90 67 138 102

Permian and Delaware Basins 165 95 253 107 189 92

Total 3676 1733 3671 1919 3022 1449

At December 31 2008 we had 166 83 net wells in
process

Well Data

At December 31 2008 we had interests in approximately 41200 22813 net producing wells including

properties in which we held an overriding royalty interest of which 6900 3840 net were classified as primarily
oil producing wells and 34300 18973 net were classified as primarily natural gas producing wells Chesapeake
operates approximately 23800 of its 41200 producing wells During 2008 we drilled 1819 1491 net wells
and participated in another 1857 242 net wells operated by other companies We operate approximately 86% of

our current daily production volumes



Production Sales Prices and Expenses

The following table sets forth information regarding the production volumes natural gas and oil sales

average
sales prices received other operating income and expenses

for the periods indicated

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Net Production

Natural gas mmcl 775424 654969 526459

Oil mbbls 11220 9882 8654

Natural gas equivalent mmcfe 842744 714261 578383

Natural Gas and Oil Sales in millions

Natural gas sales 6003 4117 3343

Natural gas derivatives realized gains losses 267 1214 1269

Natural gas derivatives unrealized gains losses 521 139 467

Total natural gas
sales 6791 5192 5079

Oil sales 1066 678 527

Oil derivatives realized gains losses 275 11 15
Oil derivatives unrealized gains losses 276 235 28

Total oil sales 1067 432 540

Total natural gas
and oil sales 7858 5624 5619

Average Sales Price

excluding gains losses on derivatives

Natural gas per mci 7.74 6.29 6.35

Oil per bbl 95.04 68.64 60.86

Natural gas equivalent per mcfe 8.39 6.71 6.69

Average Sales Price

excluding unrealized gains losses on derivatives

Natural gas per mci 8.09 8.14 8.76

Oil per bbl 70.48 67.50 59.14

Natural
gas equivalent per mcfe 8.38 8.40 8.86

Other Operating Income per mcfe
Natural

gas
and oil marketing 0.11 0.10 0.09

Service operations 0.04 0.06 0.11

Expenses per mcfe
Production expenses 1.05 0.90 0.85

Production taxes 0.34 0.30 0.31

General and administrative expenses 0.45 0.34 0.24

Natural
gas

and oil depreciation depletion and amortization 2.34 2.57 2.35

Depreciation and amortization of other assets 0.21 0.22 0.18

Interest expense 0.27 0.51 0.52

Includes the effects of realized gains or losses from interest rate derivatives but excludes the effects of

unrealized gains or losses and is net of amounts capitalized



Natural Gas and Oil Reserves

The tables below set forth information as of December 31 2008 with respect to our estimated proved

reserves the associated estimated future net revenue and present value discounted at an annual rate of 10% of

estimated future net revenue before and after income tax standardized measure at such date Neither the pre-tax

present value of estimated future net revenue nor the after-tax standardized measure is intended to represent the

current market value of the estimated natural
gas and oil reserves we own

December 312008

Gas mmd Oil mbbl Total mmcfe

Proved developed 7581523 84913 8091002
Proved undeveloped 3745932 35719 3960247

Total proved 11327455 120632 12051249

Proved Proved Total

Developed Undeveloped Proved

in millions

Estimated future net revenue 27433 9356 36789
Present value of estimated future net revenue 13274 2327 15601

Standardized measure 11833

Present

Gas Percent of Value
Gas Oil Equivalent Proved in

mmcf mbbl mmcfe Reserves millions

Mid-Continent 4040382 69314 4456266 37% 5807
Barnett Shale 2934292 153 2935208 24 3990

Appalachian Basin 1561418 1249 1568914 13 1025

Ark-La-Tex 1222835 1385 1231148 10 2116
South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast 903921 6476 942779 1472

Permian and Delaware Basins 664607 42055 916934 1191

Total 11327455 120632 12051249 100% $15601a

Estimated future net revenue represents the estimated future gross revenue to be generated from the

production of proved reserves net of estimated production and future development costs using prices and

costs in effect at December 31 2008 The prices used in our external and internal reserve reports yield

weighted average welihead prices of $41.60 per barrel of oil and $5.12 per rncf of natural gas These prices

should not be interpreted as prediction of future prices nor do they reflect the value of our commodity

hedges in place at December 31 2008 The amounts shown do not give effect to non-property related

expenses such as corporate general and administrative expenses and debt service or to depreciation

depletion and amortization Estimated future net revenue and the present value thereof differ from future net

cash flows and the standardized measure thereof only because the former do not include the effects of

estimated future income tax expenses $3.8 billion as of December 31 2008

Management uses future net revenue which is calculated without deducting estimated future income tax

expenses and the present value thereof as one measure of the value of the companys current proved

reserves and to compare relative values among peer companies without regard to income taxes We also

understand that securities analysts and rating agencies use this measure in similar ways While future net

revenue and present value are based on prices costs and discount factors which are consistent from

company to company the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows is dependent on the

unique tax situation of each individual company

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows is calculated in accordance with SFAS 69

Additional information on the standardized measure is presented in Note 10 of the notes to our consolidated

financial statements included in Item of this report



As of December 31 2008 our reserve estimates included 3.960 tcfe of reserves classified as proved

undeveloped PUD Of this amount approximately 31% 18% and 16% by volume were initially classified as

PUDs in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively and the remaining 35% were initially classified as PUDs prior to

2006 Of our proved developed reserves 1.222 tcfe are non-producing which are primarily behind pipe zones

in producing wells

The future net revenue attributable to our estimated proved undeveloped reserves of $9.4 billion at

December 31 2008 and the $2.3 billion present value thereof have been calculated assuming that we will

expend approximately $6.4 billion to develop these reserves Net of joint venture cost carries we have projected

to incur $925 million in 2009 $2.5 billion in 2010 $1.7 billion in 2011 and $1.3 billion in 2012 and beyond

although the amount and timing of these expenditures will depend on number of factors including actual

drilling results service costs product prices and the availability of capital Chesapeakes developmental drilling

schedules are subject to revision and reprioritization throughout the year resulting from unknowable factors such

as the relative success in an individual developmental drilling prospect leading to an additional drilling

opportunity rig availability title issues or delays and the effect that acquisitions may have on prioritizing

developmental drilling plans We do not believe any of these proved undeveloped reserves are contingent upon

installation of additional infrastructure and we are not subject to regulatory approval other than routine permits to

drill which we expect to obtain in the normal course of business

The estimates of our proved reserves disclosed in this report were prepared by Chesapeakes internal staff

based upon review of production histories and other geologic economic ownership and engineering data we

developed The estimates were not based on any single significant assumption due to the diverse nature of the

reserves and there is no significant concentration of proved reserve volume or value in any one well or field

Chesapeake is responsible for the adequacy and accuracy of the estimates We engaged five third-party

engineering firms to audit portions of our reserve estimates comprising approximately 76% of our estimated

proved reserves by volume at year-end 2008 reserve audit is not the same as financial audit and reserve

audit is less rigorous in nature than reserve report prepared by an independent petroleum engineering
firm

containing its own estimate of reserves The portion of our estimated proved reserves audited by each of our

third-party engineering firms as of December 31 2008 is presented below

Audited

by Volume Principal Properties Audited

Netherland Sewell Associates Inc 42% Permian and Delaware Basins Barnett

Shale portions of Ark-La-Tex

portions of Mid-Continent

Lee Keeling and Associates Inc 13% Portions of Mid-Continent portions of

South Texas/ Texas Gulf Coast

Data and Consulting Services

Division of Schlumberger Technology Corporation 8% Appalachian Basin

Ryder Scott Company L.P 8% Portions of Mid-Continent portions of

South Texas Texas Gulf Coast

LaRoche Petroleum Consultants Ltd 5% Portions of Mid-Continent portions of

Ark-La-Tex

Each of these third-party engineering firms opined that our estimates of proved reserves for those properties

reviewed by such firm are in the aggregate reasonable prepared in accordance with generally accepted

petroleum engineering and evaluation principles and conform to the SECs definition of proved reserves No

estimates of proved reserves comparable to those included herein have been included in reports to any federal

agency other than the SEC

Chesapeakes ownership interest used in calculating proved reserves and the associated estimated future net

revenue was determined after giving effect to the assumed maximum participation by other parties to our farmout



and participation agreements The prices used in calculating the estimated future net revenue attributable to

proved reserves do not reflect market prices for natural gas and oil production sold subsequent to December 31
2008 There can be no assurance that all of the estimated proved reserves will be produced and sold at the

assumed prices

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved reserves and in projecting
future rates of production and timing of development expenditures including many factors beyond Chesapeakes
control The reserve data represent only estimates Reserve engineering is subjective process of estimating

underground accumulations of natural gas and oil that cannot be measured in an exact way and the accuracy of

any reserve estimate is function of the quality of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation

and judgment As result estimates made by different engineers often vary In addition results of drilling

testing and production subsequent to the date of an estimate may justify revision of such estimates and such

revisions may be material Accordingly reserve estimates are often different from the actual quantities of natural

gas and oil that are ultimately recovered Furthermore the estimated future net revenue from proved reserves and
the associated present value are based upon certain assumptions including prices future production levels and

costs that may not prove correct Future prices and costs may be materially higher or lower than the prices and

costs as of the date of any estimate change in price of $0.10 per mcf for natural gas and $1.00 per barrel for oil

would result in change in the December 31 2008 present value of estimated future net revenue of our proved

reserves of approximately $400 million and $55 million respectively The estimated future net revenue used in

this analysis does not include the effects of future income taxes or hedging The foregoing uncertainties are

particularly true as to proved undeveloped reserves which are inherently less certain than proved developed
reserves and which comprise significant portion of our proved reserves

The companys estimated proved reserves and the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows

of the proved reserves at December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 and the changes in quantities and standardized

measure of such reserves for each of the three years then ended are shown in Note 10 of the notes to the

consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report
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Exploration and Development Acquisition and Divestiture Activities

The following table sets forth historical cost information regarding our exploration and development

acquisition and divestiture activities during the periods indicated

Acquisition costs

Proved properties

Unproved properties

Deferred income taxes

Total

Proceeds from divestitures

Proved properties

Unproved properties

5185

612

314

10

6121

December 31

4402

653

343

29

5427

Includes capitalized
internal cost of $326 million $243 million and $147 million respectively

Includes capitalized internal cost of $26 million $19 million and $13 million respectively

Includes costs to acquire new leasehold and related capitalized interest

$2772

349

154

23

3298

Our development costs included $1.5 billion $1.5 billion and $1.2 billion in 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively related to properties
carried as proved undeveloped locations in the prior years reserve reports

summary of our exploration and development acquisition and divestiture activities in 2008 by operating

area is as follows

Mid-Continent

Barnett Shale

Appalachian Basin

Permian and Delaware

Basins

Ark-La-Tex

South Texas and Texas

Gulf Coast

Gross Net Exploration

Wells Wells and

Drilled Drilled Development

2096 714 $2338

776 600 1899

161 137 379

165 95 841

413 136 429

Acquisition of Acquisition of

Unproved Proved

Properties Properties

in millions

$652 $94

1598 161

897

325 11

4630

Total

$2458 $2322 $1696
3658

1188 39 49

72 1105

1656 3411

356

$5302 $2433 6883

Development and exploration costs

Development drilling

Exploratory drilling

Geological and geophysical costs

Asset retirement obligation and other

Total

2008 2007 2006

in millions

Total

355 671 1175

8129 2465 3473

13 131 180

8497 3267 4828

2433 1142
5302

6883 7552 $8126

Sales of

Unproved

Properties

Sales of

Proved

Properties

65 51

Total 3676 1733

235

$6121

Includes $13 million of deferred tax adjustments

27

$8129

94

$368
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Acreage

The following table sets forth as of December 31 2008 the
gross and net acres of both developed and

undeveloped natural gas and oil leases which we hold Gross acres are the total number of acres in which we
own working interest Net acres refer to gross acres multiplied by our fractional working interest Acreage
numbers do not include our options to acquire additional leasehold which have not been exercised

Developed Undeveloped Total

Gross Acres Net Acres Gross Acres Net Acres Gross Acres Net Acres

Mid-Continent 4437784 2227779 5516385 3019173 9954169 5246952
Barnett Shale 136938 111129 272281 198545 409219 309674

Appalachian Basin 574287 542448 5536546 4338124 6110833 4880572
Ark-La-Tex 296349 178458 1784321 1122717 2080670 1301175
South Texas and Texas Gulf

Coast 317649 185166 222562 151664 540211 336830
Permian and Delaware Basins 424279 234333 3795251 2550334 4219530 2784667

Total 6187286 3479313 17127346 11380557 23314632 14859870

Marketing

Chesapeake Energy Marketing Inc one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries provides natural
gas and oil

marketing services including commodity price structuring contract administration and nomination services for

Chesapeake and its partners We attempt to enhance the value of our natural gas production by aggregating
natural

gas to be sold to natural
gas marketers and pipelines This aggregation allows us to attract larger more

creditworthy customers that in turn assist in maximizing the prices received for our production

Our oil production is generally sold under market sensitive or spot price contracts The revenue we receive
from the sale of natural

gas liquids is included in oil sales Our natural
gas production is sold to purchasers under

percentage-of-proceeds contracts percentage-of-index contracts or spot price contracts By the terms of the

percentage-of-proceeds contracts we receive
percentage of the resale price received by the purchaser for sales

of residue gas and natural
gas liquids recovered after transportation and processing of our natural gas These

purchasers sell the residue gas and natural gas liquids based
primarily on spot market prices Under

percentage-of-index contracts the price per mmbtu we receive for our natural gas is tied to indexes published in

Inside FERC or Gas Daily Although exact percentages vary daily as of February 2009 approximately 80% of

our natural gas production was sold under short-term contracts at market-sensitive prices

During 2008 sales to Eagle Energy Partners L.P Eagle of $1.3 billion accounted for 12% of our total

revenues excluding gains losses on derivatives In 2007 we sold our 33% limited partnership interest in Eagle
Energy Partners L.P which we first acquired in 2003 for proceeds of $124 million and gain of $83 million

Management believes that the loss of this customer would not have material adverse effect on our results of

operations or our financial position No other customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenues

excluding gains losses on derivatives in 2008

Our marketing activities constitute reportable segment under SFAS No 131 Disclosure about Segments of
an Enterprise and Related Infcrmation See Note 15 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements in

Item

Midstream Operations

Chesapeake invests in gathering and processing facilities to complement our natural
gas and oil operations

in regions where we have significant production By doing so we are better able to manage the value received for

and the costs of gathering treating and processing natural gas We own and operate gathering systems in 15
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states throughout the primary areas of Chesapeakes natural gas
and oil producing regions These systems are

designed primarily to gather company production for delivery into major intrastate or interstate pipelines and are

comprised of approximately 9800 miles of gathering lines treating facilities and processing facilities which

provide service to approximately 12500 wells

We recently transferred substantially all of our midstream assets outside of Appalachia to group of

existing and newly formed wholly-owned subsidiaries which we refer to as our midstream subsidiaries The

midstream subsidiaries their parent Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P CMP and its principal operating

subsidiary Chesapeake Midstream Operating L.L.C CMO were each designated as unrestricted subsidiaries

under Chesapeakes indentures and revolving bank credit facility and were released from their guarantee

obligations under Chesapeakes indentures revolving bank credit facility and secured hedging facilities In

October 2008 CMP and CMO entered into $460 million revolving bank credit facility They are using

borrowings under the facility to fund capital expenditures associated with building additional natural gas

gathering and other systems associated with Chesapeakes drilling program and for general corporate purposes

related to its midstream operations

We have plans to sell either minority interest in our midstream natural gas
business or specific midstream

assets Proceeds from midstream transaction would be used to fund portion of the costs associated with

building the midstream infrastructure in various shale plays primarily in the Haynesville Marcellus and

Fayetteville shale plays

Drilling

Securing available rigs is an integral part of the exploration process and therefore owning our own drilling

company is strategic advantage for Chesapeake In 2001 Chesapeake formed its 100% owned drilling rig

subsidiary Nomac Drilling Corporation with an investment of $26 million to build and refurbish five drilling

rigs As of December 31 2008 Chesapeake had invested approximately $782 million to build or acquire 84

drilling rigs and to initiate the construction of 23 additional rigs In series of transactions in 2006 2007 and

2008 our drilling subsidiaries sold 83 rigs for $677 million and subsequently leased back the rigs through 2018

The drilling rigs have depth ratings between 3000 and 25000 feet and range
in drilling horsepower from 525 to

2000 These drilling rigs are currently operating in Oklahoma Texas Arkansas Louisiana and Appalachia

Chesapeake is the fourth largest drilling rig contractor in the U.S

Trucking

In 2006 Chesapeake expanded its service operations by acquiring two privately-owned
oilfield trucking

service companies We now own one of the largest oilfield and heavy haul transportation companies in the

industry Our trucking business is utilized primarily to transport drilling rigs for both Chesapeake and third

parties Through this ownership we are better able to manage the movement of our rigs As of December 31

2008 our fleet included 250 trucks and 15 cranes which mainly service the Mid-Continent Barnett Shale and

Appalachian regions

Compression

During the past few years Chesapeake has expanded its compression business Our wholly-owned

subsidiary MidCon Compression L.L.C operates wellhead and system compressors to facilitate the

transportation of our natural gas production In series of transactions in 2007 and 2008 MidCon sold

significant portion of its compressor fleet consisting of 1443 compressors for $303 million and entered into

master lease agreement These transactions were recorded as sales and operating leasebacks Over the next two

years 625 new compressors are on order for approximately $240 million and we intend to simultaneously enter

into sale/leaseback transactions with financial counterparties as the compressors are delivered if acceptable

leasing arrangements are available to us
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Seasonal Nature of Business

Generally the demand for natural gas decreases during the summer months and increases during the winter
months Seasonal anomalies such as mild winters or hot summers can lessen or intensify this fluctuation In

addition pipelines utilities local distribution companies and industrial users utilize natural
gas storage facilities

and purchase some of their anticipated winter requirements during the summer This can lessen seasonal demand
fluctuations World weather and resultant prices for LNG can also affect deliveries of competing LNG into this

country from abroad affecting the price of domestically produced natural gas

Competition

We compete with both major integrated and other independent natural gas and oil companies in acquiring
desirable leasehold acreage producing properties and the equipment and expertise necessary to explore develop
and operate our properties and market our production Some of our competitors may have larger financial and
other resources than ours The natural gas and oil industry also faces competition from alternative fuel sources
including other fossil fuels such as coal and imported LNG Competitive conditions may be affected by future

legislation and regulations as the U.S develops new energy and climate-related policies In addition some of our
larger competitors may have competitive advantage when

responding to factors that affect demand for natural

gas and oil production such as changing prices domestic and foreign political conditions weather conditions
the price and availability of alternative fuels the proximity and capacity of

gas pipelines and other
transportation

facilities and overall economic conditions We believe that our technological expertise our exploration land
drilling and production capabilities and the experience of our management generally enable us to compete
effectively

Hedging Activities

We utilize hedging strategies to hedge the price of portion of our future natural gas and oil production and
to manage interest rate exposure See Item 7A-Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Regulation

General All of our operations are conducted onshore in the United States The U.S natural gas and oil

industry is regulated at the federal state and local levels and some of the laws rules and regulations that govern
our operations carry substantial penalties for noncompliance These regulatory burdens increase our cost of doing
business and consequently affect our profitability

Regulation of Natural Gas and Oil Operations Our exploration and production operations are subject to

various types of regulation at the U.S federal state and local levels Such regulation includes requirements for

permits to drill and to conduct other operations and for provision of financial assurances such as bonds
covering drilling and well operations Very few of our natural gas and oil leases are located on federal lands
Other activities subject to regulation are

the location of wells

the method of drilling and completing wells

the surface use and restoration of properties upon which wells are drilled

the plugging and abandoning of wells

the disposal of fluids used or other wastes generated in connection with operations

the marketing transportation and reporting of production and

the valuation and payment of royalties
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Our operations are also subject to various conservation regulations These include the regulation of the size

of drilling and spacing units regarding the density of wells that may be drilled in particular area and the

unitization or pooling of natural gas and oil properties In this regard some states such as Oklahoma allow the

forced pooling or integration of tracts to facilitate exploration while other states such as Texas and New

Mexico rely on voluntary pooling of lands and leases In areas where pooling is voluntary it may be more

difficult to form units and therefore more difficult to fully develop project if the operator owns less than 100%

of the leasehold In addition state conservation laws establish maximum rates of production from natural gas and

oil wells generally prohibit the venting or flaring of natural
gas

and impose certain requirements regarding the

ratability of production The effect of these regulations is to limit the amount of natural gas and oil we can

produce and to limit the number of wells and the locations at which we can drill

Chesapeake operates number of natural
gas gathering systems The U.S Department of Transportation and

certain state agencies regulate the safety and operating aspects of the transportation and storage activities of these

facilities There is currently no price regulation of the companys sales of oil natural gas liquids and natural gas

although governmental agencies may elect in the future to regulate certain sales

We do not anticipate that compliance with existing laws and regulations governing exploration production

and natural gas gathering will have material adverse effect upon our capital expenditures earnings or

competitive position

Environmental Health and Safety Regulation The business operations of the company and its ownership

and operation of natural
gas

and oil interests are subject to various federal state and local environmental health

and safety laws and regulations pertaining to the release emission or discharge of materials into the environment

the generation storage transportation handling and disposal of materials including solid and hazardous wastes

the safety of employees or otherwise relating to pollution preservation remediation or protection of human

health and safety natural resources wildlife or the environment We must take into account the cost of

complying with environmental regulations in planning designing constructing drilling operating and

abandoning wells and related surface facilities In most instances the regulatory frameworks relate to the

handling of drilling and production materials the disposal of drilling and production wastes and the protection of

water and air In addition our operations may require us to obtain permits for among other things

air emissions

the construction and operation of underground injection wells to dispose of produced saltwater and

other non-hazardous oilfield wastes and

the construction and operation of surface pits to contain drilling muds and other non-hazardous fluids

associated with drilling operations

Under federal state and local laws we could be required to remove or remediate previously disposed

wastes including wastes disposed of or released by us or prior owners or operators
in accordance with current

laws or otherwise to suspend or cease operations at contaminated areas or to perform remedial well plugging

operations or response
actions to reduce the risk of future contamination Federal laws including the

Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act or CERCLA and analogous state

laws impose joint and several liability without regard to fault or legality of the original conduct on classes of

persons who are considered responsible for response actions to address the release of hazardous substance into

the environment These persons include the owner or operator of the site where the release occurred and persons

that disposed of or arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances at the site The Environmental Protection

Agency state environmental agencies and in some cases third parties are authorized to take actions in response

to threats to human health or the environment and to seek to recover from responsible classes of persons the costs

of such actions Furthermore certain wastes generated by our natural gas and oil operations that are currently

exempt from treatment as hazardous wastes may in the future be designated as hazardous wastes and therefore

be subject to considerably more rigorous and costly operating and disposal requirements
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Vast quantities of natural gas deposits exist in deep shale formations It is customary in our industry to

recover natural gas from these deep shale formations through the use of hydraulic fracturing combined with

sophisticated horizontal drilling Hydraulic fracturing is the process of creating artificial cracks or fractures in

shale formations deep underground where water sand and other additives are pumped under high pressure into

shale gas formation These deep shale gas formations are generally geologically separated and isolated from any

fresh ground water supplies by thousands of feet of protective rock layers Our well construction practices

include installation of multiple layers of protective steel casing surrounded by cement that are specifically

designed and installed to protect freshwater aquifers by preventing the migration of fracturing fluids into

overlying aquifers Legislative and regulatory efforts at the federal level and in some states have been made to

render permitting and compliance requirements more stringent for hydraulic fracturing Such efforts could have

an adverse effect on our operations

Federal and state occupational safety and health laws require us to organize and maintain information about

hazardous materials used released or produced in our operations Certain portions of this information must be

provided to employees state and local governmental authorities and local citizens We are also subject to the

requirements and reporting set forth in federal workplace standards

We have made and will continue to make expenditures to comply with environmental health and safety

regulations and requirements These are necessary
business costs in the natural gas and oil industry Although we

are not fully insured against all environmental health and safety risks and our insurance does not cover any

penalties or fines that may be issued by governmental authority we maintain insurance coverage which we
believe is customary in the industry Moreover it is possible that other developments such as stricter and more

comprehensive environmental health and safety laws and regulations as well as claims for damages to property

or persons resulting from company operations could result in substantial costs and liabilities including civil and

criminal penalties to Chesapeake We believe we are in material compliance with existing environmental health

and safety regulations and that absent the occurrence of an extraordinary event the effect of which cannot be

predicted any noncompliance will not have material adverse effect on our business financial position and

results of operations

Income Taxes

Chesapeake recorded income tax expense of $463 million in 2008 compared to income tax expense of $890

million in 2007 and $1 .252 billion in 2006 Of the income tax expense recorded in 2008 $423 million is reflected

as current income tax expense and $40 million is reflected as deferred income tax expense The divestitures that

closed during 2008 are projected to generate sufficient taxable income for the
year to exhaust all our non-limited

NOLs and result in current tax liability for the tax year ended December 31 2008 Of the $427 million decrease

in 2008 $439 million was the result of the decrease in net income before taxes which was offset by $12 million

as the result of an increase in the effective tax rate Our effective income tax rate was 39% in 2008 compared to

38% in 2007 and 38.5% in 2006 Our effective tax rate fluctuates as result of the impact of state income taxes

and permanent differences between our accounting for certain revenue or expense items and their corresponding

treatment for income tax purposes We expect our effective income tax rate to be 39% in 2009

At December 31 2008 Chesapeake had federal income tax net operating loss NOL carryforwards of

approximately $12 million We also had approximately $3 million of alternative minimum tax AMT NOL

carryforwards available as deduction against future AMT income The NOL carryforwards expire from 2019

through 2026 The value of the remaining carryforwards depends on the ability of Chesapeake to generate taxable

income In addition for AMT purposes only 90% of AMT income in any given year may be offset by AMT
NOLs

The ability of Chesapeake to utilize NOL carryforwards to reduce future federal taxable income and federal

income tax is subject to various limitations under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended The

utilization of such carryforwards may be limited upon the occurrence of certain ownership changes including the
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issuance or exercise of rights to acquire stock the purchase or sale of stock by 5% stockholders as defined in the

Treasury regulations and the offering of stock by us during any three-year period resulting in an aggregate

change of more than 50% in the beneficial ownership of Chesapeake

In the event of an ownership change as defined for income tax purposes Section 382 of the Code imposes

an annual limitation on the amount of corporations taxable income that can be offset by these carryforwards

The limitation is generally equal to the product of the fair market value of the equity of the company

multiplied by ii percentage approximately equivalent to the yield on long-term tax exempt bonds during the

month in which an ownership change occurs In addition the limitation is increased if there are recognized

built-in gains during any post-change year but only to the extent of any net unrealized built-in gains as defined

in the Code inherent in the assets sold Certain NOLs acquired through various acquisitions are also subject to

limitations The following table summarizes our net operating losses as of December 31 2008 and any related

limitations

Net Operating Losses

Annual

Total Limited Limitation

in millions

Net operating loss $12 $12 $7

AMT net operating loss $1

As of December 31 2008 we do not believe that an ownership change has occurred Future equity

transactions by Chesapeake or by 5% stockholders including relatively small transactions and transactions

beyond our control could cause an ownership change and therefore limitation on the annual utilization of

NOLs Following an ownership change the amount of Chesapeakes NOLs available for use each year will

depend upon future events that cannot currently be predicted and upon interpretation of complex rules under

Treasury regulations

If less than the full amount of the annual limitation is utilized in any given year the unused portion may be

carried forward and may be used in addition to successive years annual limitation

We expect to utilize our NOL carryforwards and other tax deductions and credits to offset taxable income in

the future However there is no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will not challenge these

carryforwards or their utilization

In June 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued FASB Interpretation FIN No 48

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 FIN 48 provides

guidance for recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions as defined in SFAS 109 Accounting for Income

Taxes FIN 48 prescribes threshold condition that tax position must meet for any of the benefit of the

uncertain tax position to be recognized in the financial statements Guidance is also provided regarding

de-recognition classification and disclosure of these uncertain tax positions FIN 48 became effective for fiscal

years beginning after December 15 2006

Chesapeake adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 2007 As result of the implementation of FIN

48 Chesapeake recognized $7 million liability for accrued interest associated with uncertain tax positions

which was accounted for as reduction in the January 2007 balance of retained earnings net of tax At the

date of adoption and at December 31 2007 we had approximately $142 million and $133 million respectively

of unrecognized tax benefits related to alternative minimum tax AMT associated with uncertain tax positions

As of December 31 2008 the amount of unrecognized tax benefits related to regular tax liabilities and AMT
associated with uncertain tax positions was $60 million Of this amount $48 million is related to regular tax

liabilities and $12 million is related to AMT These unrecognized tax benefits are associated with temporary

differences If these unrecognized tax benefits are disallowed and we are required to pay additional taxes the

reversal of the temporary differences associated with the regular tax liabilities will increase our tax basis which
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will increase our future tax deductions Any AMT payments can be utilized as credits against future regular tax

liabilities The uncertain tax positions identified would not have material effect on the effective tax rate At

December 31 2008 we had an accrued liability of $3 million for interest related to these uncertain tax positions

Chesapeake recognizes interest related to uncertain tax positions in interest expense Penalties if any related to

uncertain tax positions would be recorded in other expenses

Chesapeake files income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction and various state and local jurisdictions

With few exceptions Chesapeake is no longer subject to U.S federal state and local income tax examinations by

tax authorities for years prior to 2005 The Internal Revenue Service IRS completed an examination of

Chesapeakes U.S income tax returns for 2005 and 2006 in December 2008 This examination resulted in

additional AMT liabilities of $1 million These AMT liabilities will be utilized as credits against current regular

tax liabilities The adjustments in the examination did not result in material change to our financial position

results of operations or cash flows

Title to Properties

Our title to properties is subject to royalty overriding royalty carried net profits working and other similar

interests and contractual arrangements customary in the natural gas and oil industry to liens for current taxes not

yet due and to other encumbrances As is customary in the industry in the case of undeveloped properties only

cursory investigation of record title is made at the time of acquisition Drilling title opinions are usually prepared

before commencement of drilling operations We believe we have satisfactory title to substantially all of our

active properties in accordance with standards generally accepted in the natural gas
and oil industry

Nevertheless we are involved in title disputes from time to time which result in litigation

Operating Hazards and Insurance

The natural gas and oil business involves variety of operating risks including the risk of fire explosions

blow-outs pipe failure abnormally pressured formations and environmental hazards such as oil spills natural

gas leaks ruptures or discharges of toxic gases If any of these should occur Chesapeake could suffer substantial

losses due to injury or loss of life severe damage to or destruction of property natural resources and equipment

pollution or other environmental damage clean-up responsibilities regulatory investigation and penalties and

suspension of operations Our horizontal and deep drilling activities involve greater risk of mechanical problems

than vertical and shallow drilling operations

Chesapeake maintains $50 million control of well policy that insures against certain sudden and accidental

risks associated with drilling completing and operating our wells There is no assurance that this insurance will

be adequate to cover all losses or exposure to liability Chesapeake also carries $350 million comprehensive

general liability umbrella policy and $100 million pollution liability policy We provide workers compensation

insurance coverage to employees in all states in which we operate While we believe these policies are customary

in the industry they do not provide complete coverage against all operating risks

Facilities

Chesapeake owns an office complex in Oklahoma City and we continue to construct additional buildings in

Oklahoma City We also own or lease various field or administrative offices in the following locations

Arkansas Searcy and Little Rock

Illinois Chicago

Kansas Garden City

Kentucky Gray Elkhorn City Hueysville Debord and Langley

Louisiana Cheneyville Goldonna and Shreveport
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New Mexico Carlsbad Eunice Hobbs and Lovington

New York Horseheads

Oklahoma Arkoma Billings El Reno Elk City Enid Forgan Hartshorne Hinton Kingfisher

Lindsay Mayfield Oklahoma City Waynoka Weatherford Wilburton and Woodward

Pennsylvania Mt Morris Mansfield and Towanda

Tennessee Egan

Texas Alvarado Borger Bryan Cleburne College Station Dumas Fort Worth Garrison Marshall

Midland Ozona Palestine Pecos Tyler Victoria and Zapata

West Virginia Branchland Buckhannon Chapmanville Charleston Cedar Grove Clendenin Hamlin

Jane Lew Kermit Shrewsbury Tad and Teays Valley

Employees

Chesapeake had approximately 7600 employees as of December 31 2008 which includes approximately

2750 employed by our service operations companies As result of our acquisition of Columbia Natural

Resources LLC in November 2005 we assumed collective bargaining agreement with the United Steel

Workers of America USWA which expired effective December 2006 covering approximately 139 of our

field employees in West Virginia and Kentucky We continued to operate under the terms of the collective

bargaining agreement while negotiating with the USWA Contract negotiations began in October 2006 and have

been mediated by the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service On May 2007 we presented the USWA

leadership our last best and final offer On December 2007 the USWA membership voted to reject our

offer The company declared an impasse and effective February 2008 we implemented the terms of our offer

with certain minor clarifications Subsequently the union filed three separate unfair labor practice charges One

charge was dismissed by the National Labor Relations Board and two charges were settled by mutual agreement

There have been no strikes work stoppages or slowdowns since the expiration of the contract although no

assurances can be given that such actions will not occur

Glossary of Natural Gas and Oil Terms

The terms defined in this section are used throughout this Form 10-K

Bçf Billion cubic feet

Bcfe Billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

Bbl One stock tank barrel or 42 U.S gallons liquid volume used herein in reference to crude oil or other

liquid hydrocarbons

Bbtu One billion British thermal units

Btu British thermal unit which is the heat required to raise the temperature of one-pound mass of water

from 58.5 to 59.5 degrees Fahrenheit

Commercial Well Commercially Productive Well natural gas and oil well which produces natural gas

and oil in sufficient quantities such that proceeds from the sale of such production exceed production expenses

and taxes

Conventional Reserves Natural gas and oil occurring as discrete accumulations in structural and

stratigraphic traps

Developed Acreage The number of acres which are allocated or assignable to producing wells or wells

capable of production
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Development Well well drilled within the proved area of an oil or natural
gas reservoir to the depth of

stratigraphic horizon known to be productive

Dry Hole Dry Well well found to be incapable of producing either oil or natural gas in sufficient

quantities to justify completion as an oil or natural gas well

Exploratory Well well drilled to find and produce oil or natural gas in an unproved area to find new

reservoir in field previously found to be productive of oil or natural gas in another reservoir or to extend

known reservoir

Farmout An assignment of an interest in drilling location and related acreage conditional upon the

drilling of well on that location

Formation succession of sedimentary beds that were deposited under the same general geologic

conditions

Full-Cost Pool The full-cost pool consists of all costs associated with property acquisition exploration

and development activities for company using the full-cost method of accounting Additionally any internal

costs that can be directly identified with acquisition exploration and development activities are included Any
costs related to production general corporate overhead or similaractivities are not included

Gross Acres or Gross Wells The total acres or wells as the case may be in which working interest is

owned

Horizontal Wells Wells which are drilled at angles greater than 70 degrees from vertical

Inf ill Drilling Drilling wells between established producing wells on lease drilling program to reduce

the spacing between wells in order to increase production and/or
recovery of in-place hydrocarbons from the

lease

Karst An area of inegular limestone in which erosion has produced fissures sinkholes underground

streams and caverns

Mbbl One thousand barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons

Mbtu One thousand btus

Mcj One thousand cubic feet

Mcfe One thousand cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

Mmbbl One million barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons

Mmbtu One million btus

Mmçf One million cubic feet

Mmçfe One million cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

Net Acres or Net Wells The sum of the fractional working interests owned in gross acres or gross wells

NYMEX New York Mercantile Exchange

Play term applied to portion of the exploration and production cycle following the identification by

geologists and geophysicists of areas with potential natural gas and oil reserves
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Present Value or PV-lO When used with respect to natural gas and oil reserves present value or PV-lO

means the estimated future gross revenue to be generated from the production of proved reserves net of

estimated production and future development costs using prices and costs in effect at the determination date

without giving effect to non-property related expenses
such as general and administrative expenses debt service

and future income tax expense or to depreciation depletion and amortization discounted using an annual

discount rate of 10%

Productive Well well that is producing oil or natural gas or that is capable of production

Proved Developed Reserves Reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with

existing equipment and operating methods Additional natural gas and oil expected to be obtained through the

application of fluid injection or other improved recovery techniques for supplementing the natural forces and

mechanisms of primary recovery should be included as proved developed reserves only after testing by pilot

project or after the operation of an installed program has confirmed through production responses that increased

recovery will be achieved

Proved Reserves The estimated quantities of crude oil natural gas and natural gas liquids which

geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from

known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions i.e prices and costs as of the date the

estimate is made Reservoirs are considered proved if economic producibility is supported by either actual

production or conclusive formation test The area of reservoir considered proved includes that portion

delineated by drilling and defined by gas-oil and/or oil-water contacts if any and the immediately adjoining

portions not yet drilled but which can be reasonably judged as economically productive on the basis of available

geological and engineering data In the absence of information on fluid contacts the lowest known structural

occurrence of hydrocarbons controls the lower proved limit of the reservoir Reserves which can be produced

economically through application of improved recovery techniques such as fluid injection are included in the

proved classification when successful testing by pilot project or the operation of an installed program in the

reservoir provides support for the engineering analysis on which the project or program was based

Proved Undeveloped Location site on which development well can be drilled consistent with spacing

rules for purposes of recovering proved undeveloped reserves

Proved Undeveloped Reserves Reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled

acreage or from existing wells where relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion Reserves on

undrilled acreage are limited to those drilling units offsetting productive units that are reasonably certain of

production when drilled Proved reserves for other undrilled units can be claimed only where it can be

demonstrated with certainty that there is continuity of production from the existing productive formation Proved

undeveloped reserves may not include estimates attributable to any acreage for which an application of fluid

injection or other improved recovery technique is contemplated unless such techniques have been proved

effective by actual tests in the area and in the same reservoir

Reserve Replacement Calculated by dividing the sum of reserve additions from all sources revisions

extensions discoveries and other additions and acquisitions by the actual production for the corresponding

period The values for these reserve additions are derived directly from the proved reserves table located in Note

10 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements In calculating reserve replacement we do not use

unproved reserve quantities or proved reserve additions attributable to less than wholly-owned consolidated

entities or investments accounted for using the equity method Management uses the reserve replacement ratio as

an indicator of the companys ability to replenish annual production volumes and grow its reserves thereby

providing some information on the sources of future production It should be noted that the reserve replacement

ratio is statistical indicator that has limitations As an annual measure the ratio is limited because it typically

varies widely based on the extent and timing of new discoveries and property acquisitions Its predictive and

comparative value is also limited for the same reasons In addition since the ratio does not imbed the cost or

timing of future production of new reserves it cannot be used as measure of value creation
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Royalty Interest An interest in natural gas and oil property entitling the owner to share of oil or natural

gas production free of costs of production

Seismic An exploration method of sending energy waves or sound waves into the earth and recording the

wave reflections to indicate the type size shape and depth of subsurface rock fonnation 3-D seismic provides

three-dimensional pictures

Shale Fine-grained sedimentary rock composed mostly of consolidated clay or mud Shale is the most

frequently occurring sedimentary rock

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows The discounted future net cash flows

relating to proved reserves based on year-end prices costs and statutory tax rates adjusted for permanent

differences and 10-percent annual discount rate

Tcf One trillion cubic feet

Tcfe One trillion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

Unconventional Reserves Natural
gas

and oil occurring in regionally pervasive accumulations with low

matrix permeability and close association with source rocks

Undeveloped Acreage Lease acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed to point that

would permit the production of commercial quantities of natural gas and oil regardless of whether such
acreage

contains proved reserves

Unproved Properties Properties with no proved reserves

VPP volumetric production payment represents an obligation of the seller of property to deliver

specific volume of production free and clear of all costs to the purchaser of the property

Working Interest The operating interest which gives the owner the right to drill produce and conduct

operating activities on the property and share of production

ITEM 1A Risk Factors

Natural gas and oil prices are volatile decline in prices could adversely affect our financial position

financial results cash flows access to capital and ability to grow

Our revenues operating results profitability and future rate of growth depend primarily upon the prices we
receive for the natural gas and oil we sell Prices also affect the amount of cash flow available for capital

expenditures and our ability to borrow money or raise additional capital The amount we can borrow from banks

is subject to periodic redeterminations based on prices specified by our bank group at the time of

redetermination In addition falling prices may result in ceiling test write-downs of our natural gas and oil

properties as described below in the risk factor Price declines during 2008 resulted in write-down of our asset

carrying values and future price declines could result in additional write-downs in the future

Historically the markets for natural
gas and oil have been volatile and they are likely to continue to be

volatile Wide fluctuations in natural gas and oil prices may result from relatively minor changes in the supply of

and demand for natural gas and oil market uncertainty and other factors that are beyond our control including

worldwide and domestic supplies of natural gas and oil including U.S inventories of natural gas and

oil reserves

weather conditions

the level of consumer demand

the price and availability of alternative fuels
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the proximity and capacity of natural gas pipelines and other transportation facilities

the price and level of foreign imports

domestic and foreign governmental regulations and taxes

the ability of the members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries to agree to and

maintain oil price and production controls

political instability or armed conflict in oil-producing regions and

overall domestic and global economic conditions

These factors and the volatility of the
energy

markets make it extremely difficult to predict future natural

gas and oil price movements with any certainty Declines in natural gas and oil prices not only reduce revenue

but also reduce the amount of natural gas
and oil that we can produce economically and as result could have

material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations and reserves Further natural gas
and oil

prices do not necessarily move in tandem Because approximately 94% of our reserves at December 31 2008

were natural gas reserves we are more affected by movements in natural gas prices

Our level of indebtedness may limit our financial flexibility

As of December 31 2008 we had long-term indebtedness of approximately $14.1 84 billion with $3.474

billion of outstanding borrowings drawn under our revolving bank credit facility and $460 million of outstanding

borrowings drawn under our midstream revolving bank credit facility Our net indebtedness represented 43% of

our total book capitalization at December 31 2008 Following the February 2009 issuance of $1 .425 billion of

9.5% Senior Notes due 2015 we had as of February 26 2009 $1 .630 billion outstanding under our revolving

bank credit facility and $424 million outstanding under our midstream revolving bank credit facility

Our level of indebtedness and preferred stock affects our operations in several ways including the

following

portion of our cash flows from operating activities must be used to service our indebtedness and pay

dividends on our preferred stock and is not available for other purposes

we may be at competitive disadvantage as compared to similar companies that have less debt

the covenants contained in the agreements governing our outstanding indebtedness and future

indebtedness may limit our ability to borrow additional funds pay dividends and make certain

investments and may also affect our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in the economy

and in our industry

additional financing in the future for working capital capital expenditures acquisitions general

corporate or other purposes may have higher costs and more restrictive covenants and

changes in the credit ratings of our debt may negatively affect the cost terms conditions and

availability of future financing and lower ratings will increase the interest rate and fees we pay on our

revolving bank credit facilities

We may incur additional debt including secured indebtedness or issue additional series of preferred stock

in order to develop our properties and make future acquisitions higher level of indebtedness and/or additional

preferred stock increases the risk that we may default on our obligations Our ability to meet our debt obligations

and to reduce our level of indebtedness depends on our future performance General economic conditions natural

gas and oil prices and financial business and other factors affect our operations and our future performance

Many of these factors are beyond our control Factors that will affect our ability to raise cash through an offering

of our capital stock or refinancing of our debt include financial market conditions the value of our assets the

number of shares of capital stock we have authorized unissued and unreserved and our performance at the time

we need capital
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Chesapeake Midstream Operatings midstream revolving bank credit facility contains covenant restricting

Chesapeake Midstream Partners from paying dividends or distributions to Chesapeake

In addition our bank borrowing base is subject to periodic redetermination lowering of our borrowing

base could require us to repay indebtedness in excess of the borrowing base or we might need to further secure

the lenders with additional collateral

The current financial crisis may have impacts on our business and financial condition that we cannot

predict

The continued credit crisis and related turmoil in the global economic financial systems may have an impact

on our business and our financial condition and we may face challenges if conditions in the economy and

financial markets do not improve Although we believe we have developed an operating and capital budget for

2009 and 2010 that will allow us to fund our business with internally generated cash flow our cash flow from

operations our revolving bank credit facility and cash on hand historically have not been sufficient to fund all of

our expenditures and we have relied on the capital markets and asset monetization transactions to provide us

with additional capital Our ability to access the capital markets has been restricted from time to time as result

of this crisis and may be restricted at time when we would like or need to raise capital The financial crisis

may also limit the number of participants in our proposed asset monetization transactions or reduce the values we
are able to realize in those transactions making them uneconomic or harder or impossible to consummate The

economic situation could also adversely affect the collectability of our trade receivables and cause our

commodity hedging arrangements to be ineffective if our counterparties are unable to perform their obligations

or seek bankruptcy protection If our joint venture partners do not meet their obligations to fund portion of our

drilling costs in the Haynesville Fayetteville or Marcellus Shale plays as agreed under our joint venture

arrangements or if our Haynesville joint venture partner Plains Exploration Production Company exercises

its option in June 2010 to reduce its drilling cost carry obligation by $800 million as described in Item of this

report under Operating Areas we may be required to fund these expenditures from other sources or reduce our

drilling activities Additionally the current economic situation could lead to reduced demand for natural gas and

oil or lower prices for natural gas and oil or both over the long term which would have negative impact on our

revenues

Price declines at the end of 2008 resulted in write-down of our asset carrying values and further price

declines could result in additional write-downs in the future

We utilize the full-cost method of accounting for costs related to our natural gas and oil properties Under

this method all such costs for both productive and nonproductive properties are capitalized and amortized on

an aggregate basis over the estimated lives of the properties using the unit-of-production method However these

capitalized costs are subject to ceiling test which limits such pooled costs to the
aggregate of the present value

of future net revenues attributable to proved natural gas and oil reserves discounted at 10% plus the lower of cost

or market value of unproved properties The full-cost ceiling is evaluated at the end of each quarter using the

prices for natural gas and oil at that date adjusted for the impact of derivatives accounted for as cash flow

hedges

Natural gas and oil prices declined substantially throughout the second half of 2008 and were $5.71 per mcf

and $44.61 per barrel on December 31 2008 Our financial statements as of and for the
year ended December 31

2008 reflect an impairment of approximately $1.7 billion net of income tax of our natural gas and oil properties

We also had an after-tax non-cash impairment charge to certain investments and fixed assets of approximately

$128 million for the 2008 fourth quarter as result of lower asset valuation estimates

Commodity prices in early 2009 have continued to trend lower This and other factors could cause us to

write down our natural
gas

and oil properties or other assets in the future and incur non-cash charge against

future earnings
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Significant capital expenditures are required to replace our reserves

Our exploration development and acquisition activities require substantial capital expenditures

Historically we have funded our capital expenditures through combination of cash flows from operations our

revolving bank credit facility and debt and equity issuances Beginning in late 2007 we have also engaged in

significant asset monetization transactions Future cash flows are subject to number of variables such as the

level of production from existing wells prices of natural gas and oil our success in developing and producing

new reserves the orderly functioning of credit and capital markets and our ability to complete additional planned

asset monetization transactions If revenues were to decrease as result of lower natural gas
and oil prices or

decreased production and our access to capital were limited we would have reduced ability to replace our

reserves If our cash flow from operations is not sufficient to fund our capital expenditure budget we may not be

able to access additional bank debt debt or equity or other methods of financing on an economic basis to meet

these requirements

if we are not able to replace reserves we may not be able to sustain production

Our future success depends largely upon our ability to find develop or acquire additional natural gas and oil

reserves that are economically recoverable Unless we replace the reserves we produce through successful

development exploration or acquisition activities our proved reserves and production will decline over time In

addition approximately 33% of our total estimated proved reserves by volume at December 31 2008 were

undeveloped By their nature estimates of undeveloped reserves are less certain Recovery of such reserves will

require significant capital expenditures and successful drilling operations Our reserve estimates reflect that our

production rate on producing properties will decline approximately 29% from 2009 to 2010 Thus our future

natural gas and oil reserves and production and therefore our cash flow and income are highly dependent on our

success in efficiently developing and exploiting our current reserves and economically finding or acquiring

additional recoverable reserves

The actual quantities and present value of our proved reserves may prove to be lower than we have

estimated

This report contains estimates of our proved reserves and the estimated future net revenues from our proved

reserves These estimates are based upon various assumptions including assumptions required by the SEC

relating to natural gas
and oil prices drilling and operating expenses capital expenditures taxes and availability

of funds The process
of estimating natural gas

and oil reserves is complex The process involves significant

decisions and assumptions in the evaluation of available geological geophysical engineering and economic data

for each reservoir Therefore these estimates are inherently imprecise

Actual future production
natural gas and oil prices revenues taxes development expenditures operating

expenses
and quantities of recoverable natural gas and oil reserves most likely will vary from these estimates

Such variations may be significant and could materially affect the estimated quantities and present value of our

proved reserves In addition we may adjust estimates of proved reserves to reflect production history results of

exploration and development drilling prevailing natural gas and oil prices and other factors many of which are

beyond our control Our properties may also be susceptible to hydrocarbon drainage from production by

operators on adjacent properties

At December 31 2008 approximately 33% of our estimated proved reserves by volume were

undeveloped Recovery of undeveloped reserves requires significant capital expenditures and successful drilling

operations These reserve estimates include the assumption that we will make significant capital expenditures to

develop the reserves including approximately $925 million in 2009 You should be aware that the estimated

costs may not be accurate development may not occur as scheduled and results may not be as estimated

You should not assume that the present values referred to in this report represent the current market value of

our estimated natural gas and oil reserves In accordance with SEC requirements the estimates of our present
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values are based on prices and costs as of the date of the estimates The December 31 2008 present value is

based on weighted average natural gas and oil welihead prices of $5.12 per mcf of natural gas and $41.60 per
barrel of oil Actual future prices and costs may be materially higher or lower than the prices and costs as of the

date of an estimate

Any changes in consumption by natural gas and oil purchasers or in governmental regulations or taxation

will also affect actual future net cash flows

The timing of both the production and the expenses from the development and production of natural
gas and

oil properties will affect both the timing of actual future net cash flows from our proved reserves and their

present value In addition the 10% discount factor which is required by the SEC to be used in calculating
discounted future net cash flows for reporting purposes is not necessarily the most accurate discount factor The
effective interest rate at various times and the risks associated with our business or the natural gas and oil

industry in general will affect the
accuracy of the 10% discount factor

Exploration and development drillingmay not result in commercially productive reserves

We do not always encounter commercially productive reservoirs through our drilling operations The new
wells we drill or participate in may not be productive and we may not recover all or any portion of our
investment in new wells The seismic data and other technologies we use do not allow us to know conclusively

prior to drilling well that oil or natural gas is present or may be produced economically The cost of drilling

completing and operating well is often uncertain and cost factors can adversely affect the economics of

project Our efforts will be unprofitable if we drill dry wells or wells that are productive but do not produce

enough reserves to return profit after drilling operating and other costs Further our drilling operations may be

curtailed delayed or canceled as result of variety of factors including

increases in the cost of or shortages or delays in the availability of drilling rigs and equipment

unexpected drilling conditions

restricted access to land for drilling or laying pipeline

pressure or irregularities in formations

equipment failures or accidents

adverse weather conditions and

compliance with environmental and other governmental requirements

Drilling results in our newer shale plays primarily the Haynesville and Marcellus Shales may be more
uncertain than in shale plays that are more developed and have longer established production histories such as

the Barnett and Fayetteville Shales Our experience with horizontal drilling in the Haynesville and Marcellus

Shales as well as the industrys drilling and production history is more limited than in the Barnett and

Fayetteville Shale plays Completion techniques that have proven to be successful in other shale formations to

maximize recoveries are being used in the early development of the Haynesville and Marcellus Shales however
we can provide no assurance of the ultimate success of these drilling and completion techniques

Certain of our undeveloped leasehold acreage is subject to leases that will expire over the next several

years unless production is established on units containing the acreage

As of December 31 2008 we had leases on approximately 0.46 million and 1.25 million net acres

respectively in the Haynesville and Marcellus Shale areas sizeable portion of this acreage is not currently
held by production Unless production in paying quantities is established on units

containing these leases during
their terms the leases will expire If our leases expire and we are unable to renew the leases we will lose our

right to develop the related properties Our drilling plans for these areas are subject to change based upon various
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factors including drilling results natural gas
and oil prices the availability and cost of capital drilling and

production costs availability of drilling services and equipment gathering system and pipeline transportation

constraints and regulatory approvals

Our hedging activities may reduce the realized prices received for our natural gas and oil sales and

require us to provide collateral for hedging liabilities

In order to manage our exposure to price volatility in marketing our natural gas and oil we enter into natural

gas and oil price risk management arrangements
for portion of our expected production Commodity price

hedging may limit the prices we actually realize and therefore reduce natural gas and oil revenues in the future

Our commodity hedging activities will impact our earnings in various ways including recognition of certain

mark-to-market gains and losses on derivative instruments The fair value of our natural
gas

and oil derivative

instruments can fluctuate significantly between periods In addition our commodity price risk management

transactions may expose us to the risk of financial loss in certain circumstances including instances in which

our production is less than expected

there is widening of price differentials between delivery points for our production and the delivery

point assumed in the hedge arrangement or

the counterparties to our contracts fail to perform under the contracts

All but three of our commodity price risk management counterparties require us to provide assurances of

performance in the event that the counterparties mark-to-market exposure to us exceeds certain levels Most of

these arrangements allow us to minimize the potential liquidity impact of significant mark-to-market fluctuations

by making collateral allocations from our revolving bank credit facility or directly pledging natural gas and oil

properties rather than posting cash or letters of credit with the counterparties Future collateral requirements are

uncertain however and will depend on the arrangements with our counterparties and highly volatile natural gas

and oil prices

Acquisitions may prove to be worth less than we paid because of uncertainties in evaluating recoverable

reserves and potential liabilities and market forces may change expected economics of acquisitions

Our growth during the past few years is due in large part to acquisitions of exploration and production

companies producing properties and undeveloped leasehold Successful acquisitions require an assessment of

number of factors including estimates of recoverable reserves exploration potential future natural gas
and oil

prices operating costs and potential environmental and other liabilities Such assessments are inexact and their

accuracy is inherently uncertain In connection with our assessments we perform review of the acquired

properties which we believe is generally consistent with industry practices However such review will not

reveal all existing or potential problems In addition our review may not permit us to become sufficiently

familiar with the properties to fully assess their deficiencies and capabilities We do not inspect every well Even

when we inspect well we do not always discover structural subsurface and environmental problems that may

exist or arise As result of these factors the purchase price we pay to acquire natural gas and oil properties may

exceed the value we realize We are generally not entitled to contractual indemnification for preclosing liabilities

including environmental liabilities Normally we acquire interests in properties on an as is basis with limited

remedies for breaches of representations and warranties When we make entity acquisitions we may have

transferee liability that is not fully indemnified The company currently is defendant in cases involving

acquired companies where we may have no or only limited indemnification rights In any such actions we could

incur significant liability

Finally market forces beyond our control may change the expected economics of acquisitions Due to the

current financial crisis decreases in natural gas prices and concerns about an oversupply of natural gas in the

U.S for example market prices for undeveloped natural gas leasehold declined considerably during the second
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half of 2008 As result we have not closed on pending transactions with several significant Haynesville Shale

mineral or leasehold owners and instead are seeking to acquire their interests at reduced prices We have reached

agreement with some of these owners and are still negotiating with others including owners that have filed

lawsuits against us alleging enforceable contracts providing for lease bonus payments above current market

prices

Lower natural gas and oil prices could negatively impact our ability to borrow

Our revolving bank credit facility limits our borrowings to the lesser of the borrowing base and the total

commitments Currently both are $3.5 billion although one lender Lehman Brothers Commercial Bank has not

funded its share 2.1% of our borrowings under the facility beginning in the third quarter of 2008 and we do not

expect that it would fund any future borrowings The borrowing base is determined periodically at the discretion

of the banks and is based in part on natural gas and oil prices Additionally some of our indentures contain

covenants limiting our ability to incur indebtedness in addition to that incurred under our revolving bank credit

facility These indentures limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness unless we meet one of two alternative

tests The first alternative is based on our adjusted consolidated net tangible assets as defined in all of our

indentures which is determined using discounted future net revenues from proved natural gas and oil reserves as

of the end of each year The second alternative is based on the ratio of our adjusted consolidated EBITDA as
defined in the relevant indentures to our adjusted consolidated interest expense as defined in the relevant

indentures over trailing twelve-month period Currently we are permitted to incur additional indebtedness

under both debt incurrence tests Lower natural gas and oil prices in the future could reduce our adjusted

consolidated EBITDA as well as our adjusted consolidated net tangible assets and thus could reduce our ability

to incur additional indebtedness

Natural gas and oil drilling and producing operations can be hazardous and may expose us to

environmental liabilities

Natural gas and oil operations are subject to many risks including well blowouts cratering and explosions

pipe failures fires formations with abnormal
pressures uncontrollable flows of oil natural gas brine or well

fluids and other environmental hazards and risks Our drilling operations involve risks from high pressures and

from mechanical difficulties such as stuck pipes collapsed casings and separated cables If any of these risks

occurs we could sustain substantial losses as result of

injury or loss of life

severe damage to or destruction of property natural resources or equipment

pollution or other environmental damage

clean-up responsibilities

regulatory investigations and administrative civil and criminal penalties and

injunctions resulting in limitation or suspension of operations

There is inherent risk of incurring significant environmental costs and liabilities in our exploration and

production operations due to our generation handling and disposal of materials including wastes and petroleum

hydrocarbons We may incur joint and several strict liability under applicable U.S federal and state

environmental laws in connection with releases of petroleum hydrocarbons and other hazardous substances at

on under or from our leased or owned properties some of which have been used for natural gas and oil

exploration and production activities for number of years often by third parties not under our control For our

non-operated properties we are dependent on the operator for operational and regulatory compliance While we
may maintain insurance against some but not all of the risks described above our insurance may not be

adequate to cover casualty losses or liabilities and our insurance does not cover penalties or fines that may be

assessed by governmental authority Also in the future we may not be able to obtain insurance at premium
levels that justify its purchase
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In addition studies have suggested that emissions of certain gases commonly referred to as greenhouse

gases may be impacting the Earths climate Methane primary component of natural gas and carbon dioxide

byproduct of the burning of natural gas are examples of greenhouse gases The U.S Congress and various

states have been evaluating climate-related legislation and other regulatory initiatives that would restrict

emissions of greenhouse gases in areas in which we conduct business Such restrictions may have an effect on

demand for our products particularly because natural gas
is viewed by many as readily available replacement

for more carbon intensive sources of energy Likewise such restrictions may result in additional compliance

obligations with respect to the release capture and use of carbon dioxide that could have an adverse effect on our

operations

It is customary in our industry to use hydraulic fracturing process that creates fracture extending from

the well bore in rock formation to enable gas or oil to move more easily through the rock pores to

production well Fractures are typically created through the injection of water and chemicals into the rock

formation Legislative and regulatory efforts at the federal level and in some states have been made to render

permitting and compliance requirements more stringent for hydraulic fracturing Such efforts could have an

adverse effect on our operations

Our ability to sell natural gas and/or receive market prices for our natural gas may be adversely affected

by pipeline and gathering system capacity constraints and various transportation interruptions

If drilling in the Haynesville and Marcellus Shales continues to be successful the amount of natural gas

being produced by us and others could exceed the capacity of the various gathering and intrastate or interstate

transportation pipelines currently available in these areas If this occurs it will be necessary for new pipelines

and gathering systems to be built Because of the current economic climate certain pipeline projects that are

planned for the Haynesville and Marcellus Shale areas may not occur for lack of financing In addition capital

constraints could limit our ability to build intrastate gathering systems necessary to transport our gas to interstate

pipelines In such event we might have to shut in our wells awaiting pipeline connection or capacity and/or sell

natural
gas production at significantly lower prices than those quoted on NYMEX or than we currently project

which would adversely affect our results of operations

portion of our natural gas
and oil production in any region may be interrupted or shut in from time to

time for numerous reasons including as result of weather conditions accidents loss of pipeline or gathering

system access field labor issues or strikes or we might voluntarily curtail production in response to market

conditions If substantial amount of our production is interrupted at the same time it could temporarily

adversely affect our cash flow

ITEM lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

ITEM Properties

Information regarding our properties is included in Item and in Note 10 of the notes to our consolidated

financial statements included in Item of this report

ITEM Legal Proceedings

Litigation

We are involved in various disputes incidental to our business operations including claims from royalty

owners regarding volume measurements post-production costs and prices for royalty calculations In Tawney et

Columbia Natural Resources Inc Chesapeakes wholly-owned subsidiary Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C

formerly known as Columbia Natural Resources LLC CNR is defendant in class action lawsuit filed in
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2003 in the Circuit Court for Roane County West Virginia by royalty owners The plaintiffs allege that CNR
underpaid royalties by improperly deducting post-production costs failing to pay royalty on total volumes of

natural gas produced and not paying fair value for the natural gas produced from their leases The plaintiff class

consists of West Virginia royalty owners receiving royalties after July 31 1990 from CNR Chesapeake acquired
CNR in November 2005 and its seller acquired CNR in 2003 from NiSource Inc NiSource co-defendant in

the case indemnified Chesapeake against underpayment claims based on the use of fixed prices for natural gas
production sold under certain forward sale contracts and other claims with respect to CNRs operations prior to

September 2003

On January 27 2007 the Circuit Court jury returned verdict against the defendants of $404 million

consisting of $134 million in compensatory damages and $270 million in punitive damages The jury found
fraudulent conduct by the defendants with respect to the sales prices used to calculate royalty payments and with

respect to the failure of CNR to disclose post-production deductions The defendants appealed the judgment and
on May 22 2008 the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals refused to hear the appeal On October 22 2008
the parties in the Tawney matter entered into settlement agreement providing for the establishment of
settlement fund of $380 million The Circuit Court for Roane County West Virginia approved the settlement

following fairness hearing on November 22 2008 and entered an order to discharge the judgment on

January 21 2009 Chesapeakes share of the settlement fund was approximately $41 million which amount had

previously been fully reserved The Circuit Court retains continuing jurisdiction over the case during the claims

administration process in which the settlement amount is distributed to the members of the plaintiff class

Chesapeake is subject to other legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of business
In our opinion the final resolution of these proceedings and claims will not have material effect on the

company

ITEM Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

Not applicable
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PART II

ITEM Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CHK The following table

sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices per
share of our common stock as reported by

the New York Stock Exchange

Common Stock

High Low

Year ended December 31 2008

Fourth Quarter $35.46 9.84

Third Quarter 74.00 31.15

Second Quarter 68.10 45.25

First Quarter 49.87 34.42

Year ended December 2007

Fourth Quarter $41.19 $34.90

Third Quarter 37.55 31.38

Second Quarter 37.75 30.88

First Quarter 31.83 27.27

At February 26 2009 there were approximately 2025 holders of record of our common stock and 455500

approximately beneficial owners

Dividends

The following table sets forth the amount of dividends per share declared on Chesapeake common stock

during 2008 and 2007

2008 2007

Fourth Quarter 0.075 $0.0675

Third Quarter 0.075 0.0675

Second Quarter 0.075 0.0675

First Quarter 0.0675 0.06

While we expect to continue to pay dividends on our common stock the payment of future cash dividends is

subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon among other things our financial

condition our funds from operations the level of our capital and development expenditures our future business

prospects
contractual restrictions and other factors considered relevant by the Board of Directors

In addition our revolving bank credit facility and the indentures governing certain of our outstanding senior

notes contain restrictions on our ability to declare and pay cash dividends Under the revolving bank credit

facility and these indentures we may not pay any cash dividends on our common or preferred stock if an event of

default has occurred These indentures further restrict cash dividends if we have not met one of the two debt

incurrence tests set forth in the indentures or if immediately after giving effect to the dividend payment we have

paid total dividends and made other restricted payments in excess of the permitted amounts As of December 31

2008 our coverage ratio for purposes of the debt incurrence test under the relevant indentures was 8.7 to

compared to minimum of 2.25 to required in such indentures Our adjusted consolidated net tangible assets

exceeded 200% of our total indebtedness as required by the second debt incurrence test in these indentures by

approximately $1.0 billion
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The certificates of designation for our 5.00% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock Series 2005 our

4.50% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock our 5.00% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock Series

2005B our 4.125% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock and our 6.25% Mandatory Convertible Preferred

Stock prohibit payment of cash dividends on our common stock unless we have declared and paid or set apart

for payment full accumulated dividends on such series of our preferred stock

Purchases of Common Stock

The following table presents information about repurchases of our common stock during the three months

ended December 31 2008

Total Number of Maximum Number
Shares Purchased of Shares That May

Total Number Average as Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased
of Shares Price Paid Announced Plans Under the Plans

Period Purchased Per Share or Programs or Programs

October 2008 through October 31 2008 24174 $22.388

November 2008 through November 30
2008 15976 $20658

December 2008 through December 31
2008 5385 $15.829

Total 45535 $2 1.005

Includes the deemed surrender to the company of 5868 shares of common stock to pay the exercise price in

connection with the exercise of employee stock options and the surrender to the company of 39667 shares

of common stock to pay withholding taxes in connection with the vesting of employee restricted stock

We make matching contributions to our 401k plan and deferred compensation plan using Chesapeake

common stock which is held in treasury or is purchased by the respective plan trustees in the open market

The plans contain no limitation on the number of shares that may be purchased for
purposes of the company

contributions There are no other repurchase plans or programs currently authorized by the Board of

Directors
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ITEM Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data of Chesapeake for the years ended

December 31 2008 2007 2006 2005 and 2004 The data are derived from our audited consolidated financial

statements revised to reflect the reclassification of certain items Changes in annual average natural gas and oil

prices and increased production from drilling and acquisition activity in recent years have impacted comparability

between years See Note 10 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements The table should be read in

conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and

our consolidated financial statements including the notes appearing in Items and of this report

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

in millions except per share data

Statement of Operations Data

Revenues

Natural gas and oil sales 7858 5624 5619 3273 $1936
Natural gas and oil marketing sales 3598 2040 1577 1392 773

Service operations revenue 173 136 130

Total revenues 11629 7800 7326 4665 2709

Operating costs

Production expenses 889 640 490 317 205

Production taxes 284 216 176 208 104

General and administrative expenses 377 243 139 64 37

Natural gas and oil marketing expenses 3505 1969 1522 1358 755

Service operations expense 143 94 68

Natural gas and oil depreciation depletion and amortization 1970 1835 1359 894 582

Depreciation and amortization of other assets 177 154 104 51 29

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties and other fixed assets 2830
Employee retirement expense 55

Provision for legal settlements

Total operating costs 10175 5151 3913 2892 1717

Income from operations 1454 2649 3413 1773 992

Other income expense
Interest and other income 11 15 26 10

Interest expense 314 406 301 220 167
Gain loss on repurchases or exchanges of Chesapeake debt 237 70 25
Impairment of investments 180
Gain on sale of investments 83 117

Total other income expense 268 308 158 280 187

Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting

change 1186 2341 3255 1493 805

Income tax expense
Current 423 29

Deferred 40 861 1247 545 290

Total inconle tax expense 463 890 1252 545 290

Net Income 723 1451 2003 948 515

Preferred stock dividends 33 94 89 42 40
Loss on conversion/exchange of preferred stock 67 l28 10 26 36
Net income available to common shareholders 623 1229 1904 880 439

Earnings per common share

Basic 1.16 2.69 4.78 2.73 1.73

Assuming dilution 1.14 2.62 4.35 2.51 1.53

Cash dividends declared per common share $02925 $02625 0.23 0.195 0.17

Cash Flow Data

Cash provided by operating activities 5236 4932 4843 2407 $1432
Cash used in investing activities 9844 7922 8942 6921 3381
Cash provided by financing activities 6356 2988 4042 4567 1915

Balance Sheet Data at end of period
Total assets $38444 $30734 $24417 $16118 $8245

Long-term debt net of current maturities 14184 10950 7376 5490 3075
Stockholders equity 16297 12130 11251 6174 3163
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ITEM Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Financial Data

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the production volumes natural gas and oil

sales average sales prices received other operating income and expenses for the periods indicated

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Net Production

Natural gas mmcf 775424 654969 526459
Oil mbbls 11220 9882 8654
Natural gas equivalent mmcfe 842744 714261 578383

Natural Gas and Oil Sales in millions

Natural gas sales 6003 4117 3343

Natural gas derivatives realized gains losses 267 1214 1269

Natural gas derivatives unrealized gains losses 521 139 467

Total natural gas sales 6791 5192 5079

Oil sales 1066 678 527

Oil derivatives realized gains losses 275 11 15
Oil derivatives unrealized gains losses 276 235 28

Total oil sales 1067 432 540

Total natural gas and oil sales 7858 5624 5619

Average Sales Price excluding gains losses on derivatives

Natural gas per mcf 7.74 6.29 6.35

Oil per bbl 95.04 68.64 60.86

Natural gas equivalent per mcfe 8.39 6.71 6.69

Average Sales Price excluding unrealized gains losses on derivatives

Natural gas per mcf 8.09 8.14 8.76

Oil
per bbl 70.48 67.50 59.14

Natural gas equivalent per mcfe 8.38 8.40 8.86

Other Operating Income in millions

Natural gas and oil marketing 93 71 55

Service operations 30 42 62

Other Operating Income per mcfe
Natural gas and oil marketing 0.11 0.10 0.09

Service operations 0.04 0.06 0.11

Expenses per mcfe
Production expenses

1.05 0.90 0.85

Production taxes 0.34 0.30 0.31

General and administrative
expenses

0.45 0.34 0.24

Natural
gas

and oil depreciation depletion and amortization 2.34 2.57 2.35

Depreciation and amortization of other assets 0.21 0.22 0.18

Interest
expense

0.27 0.51 0.52

Interest Expense in millions

Interest expense 235 365 301

Interest rate derivatives realized gains losses

Interest rate derivatives unrealized gains losses 85 40

Total interest expense 314 406 301

Net Wells Drilled 1733 1919 1449

Net Producing Wells as of the End of Period 22813 21404 19079

Includes revenue and operating costs and excludes depreciation and amortization of other assets

Includes the effects of realized gains losses from interest rate derivatives but excludes the effects of

unrealized gains losses and is net of amounts capitalized
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We manage our business as three separate operational segments exploration and production marketing and

service operations which is comprised of our wholly-owned drilling and trucking operations We refer you to

Note 14 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements appearing in Item of this report which

summarizes by segment our net income and capital expenditures for 2008 2007 and 2006 and our assets as of

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Executive Summary

We are the largest independent producer of natural gas
in the United States We own interests in

approximately 41200 producing oil and natural gas wells that are currently producing approximately 2.3 bcfe per

day 92% of which is natural gas Our strategy is focused on discovering acquiring and developing conventional

and unconventional natural gas reserves onshore in the U.S primarily in the Big natural gas shale plays the

Barnett Shale in the Fort Worth Basin of north-central Texas the Haynesville Shale in the Ark-La-Tex area of

northwestern Louisiana and East Texas the Fayetteville Shale in the Arkoma Basin of central Arkansas and the

Marcellus Shale in the northern Appalachian Basin of West Virginia Pennsylvania and New York We also have

substantial operations in various other plays both conventional and unconventional in the Mid-Continent

Appalachian Basin Permian Basin Delaware Basin South Texas Texas Gulf Coast and Ark-La-Tex regions of

the United States

During 2008 Chesapeake continued the industrys most active drilling program drilling 1819 gross 1491

net operated wells and participating in another 1857 gross 242 net wells operated by other companies The

companys drilling success rate was 99% for company-operated wells and 98% for non-operated wells Also

during 2008 we invested $5.043 billion in operated wells using an average of 145 operated rigs and $754

million in non-operated wells using an average
of 110 non-operated rigs for total drilling completing and

equipping costs of $5 .797 billion

Chesapeake began 2008 with estimated proved reserves of 10.879 tcfe and ended the year with 12.051 tcfe

an increase of 1.172 tcfe or 11% During 2008 we replaced 843 bcfe of production with an internally estimated

2.015 tcfe of new proved reserves for reserve replacement rate of 239% Reserve replacement through the

drilibit was 2.545 tcfe or 302% of production including 1.248 tcfe of positive performance revisions and 298

bcfe of negative revisions resulting from natural gas
and oil price decreases between December 31 2007 and

December 31 2008 Reserve replacement through the acquisition of proved reserves was 172 bcfe During 2008

we divested 702 bcfe of estimated proved reserves Our annual decline rate on producing properties is projected

tobe29%from2009to2OlO 18%from2OlOto2Oll 14%from2Oll to2012 11%from2Ol2to2Ol3 and9%

from 2013 to 2014 Our percentage of proved undeveloped reserve additions to total proved reserve additions

was approximately
2% in 2008 29% in 2007 and 38% in 2006 Based on our current drilling schedule and

budget we expect that virtually all of the proved undeveloped reserves added in 2008 will begin producing

within the next three to five years Generally proved developed reserves are producing at the time they are added

or will begin producing within one year

Since 2000 Chesapeake has invested $12.6 billion in new leasehold net of divestitures and 3-D seismic

acquisitions and now owns the largest combined inventories of onshore leasehold 15 million net acres and 3-D

seismic 22 million acres in the U.S On this leasehold the company has approximately 36000 net drilisites

representing more than 10-year inventory of drilling projects

Business Strategy

Our exploration development and acquisition activities require us to make substantial operating and capital

expenditures Through the middle of 2008 we increased our capital expenditure budget for 2008 and 2009

several times in response to higher leasehold acquisition costs and in order to accelerate leasehold acquisition and

drilling in the Haynesville Shale and other plays During the second half of 2008 in response to significant

decrease in natural gas prices deteriorating global economic conditions and outlook and concerns about
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potential oversupply of natural gas in the U.S market we significantly reduced our planned capital expenditures
through year-end 2010 in order to bring our planned operating and capital expenditures within our anticipated
internally generated cash flow Our current budgeted capital expenditures for drilling leasehold and producing

property acquisitions geophysical costs and additions to midstream compression and other
property and

equipment are $4.150 billion to $4.675 billion in 2009 and $4.550 billion to $5.175 billion in 2010

Cash flow from operations is our primary source of liquidity used to fund operating expenses and capital

expenditures Our $3.5 billion revolving bank credit facility and our $460 million midstream
revolving bank

credit facility discussed more fully below provide us with additional liquidity In response to the difficulties

faced by several financial institutions and to ensure we had ample liquidity available we borrowed the remaining
capacity under our revolving bank credit facility at the end of the third quarter of 2008 As result we had

borrowings of $3.474 billion and letters of credit of $15 million outstanding under that facility as of
December 31 2008 As of December 31 2008 we had borrowings of $460 million under the midstream credit

facility

During 2008 we relied on capital markets financings and asset monetization transactions such as sales of

producing properties undeveloped acreage and non-strategic assets joint venture arrangements and volumetric

production payment or VPP transactions to provide us with additional capital Since March 31 2008 these

types of transactions have provided approximately $12.1 billion of new capital and up to $4.6 billion of our
future drilling and completion costs in the Haynesville Fayetteville and Marcellus Shales will be funded by our
joint venture partners These transactions are summarized below

From April through July of 2008 we issued 51.75 million shares of our common stock $800 million of
our 7.25% Senior Notes due 2018 and $l.380 billion of our 2.25% Contingent Convertible Senior
Notes due 2038 resulting in aggregate net proceeds to us of $4.734 billion The availability of any
additional capital from the public or private markets is uncertain at this time

In May August and December of 2008 we completed three
separate VPP transactions involving

approximately 285 bcfe of proved reserves and net production at the time of sale of 153 mmcfe per
day from wells in Texas Oklahoma and Kansas resulting in

aggregate net proceeds to us of $1.6

billion

In July of 2008 we entered into joint venture with Plains Exploration Production Company to

develop our Haynesville Shale leasehold under the terms of which Plains acquired 20% interest

in our approximately 550000 net acres of Haynesville Shale leasehold for $1.65 billion in cash
Plains agreed to fund 50% of our 80% share of the costs associated with drilling and completing

future Haynesville Shale joint venture wells over multi-year period up to an additional $1.65 billion

and Plains will have the right to 20% participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in the

Haynesville Shale Subsequently in February 2009 we amended the joint venture to provide Plains
one-time option in June 2010 to reduce its obligation to fund our drilling and completion costs by $800
million in exchange for assigning us 50% of its interest in the Haynesville joint venture properties

In August of 2008 we sold 90000 net acres of leasehold and producing natural gas properties with net

production at the time of sale of 50 mmcfe per day in the Arkoma Basin Woodford Shale play in

Oklahoma to BP America Inc for $1.7 billion in cash

In September of 2008 we entered into joint venture with BP America Inc to develop our Fayetteville
Shale leasehold under the terms of which BP acquired 25% interest in our approximately 540000
net acres of Fayetteville Shale leasehold for $1.1 billion in cash BP agreed to fund 100% of our
75% share of the costs associated with drilling and completing future Fayetteville Shale joint venture
wells over multi-year period up to an additional $800 million and BP will have the right to 25%
participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in the Fayetteville Shale

In November of 2008 we entered into joint venture with U.S subsidiary of StatoilHydro ASA
under the terms of which StatoilHydro acquired 32.5% interest in our approximately 1.8 million net

acres of Marcellus Shale leasehold for $1.25 billion in cash StatoilHydro agreed to fund 75% of
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our 67.5% share of the costs associated with drilling and completing future Marcellus Shale joint

venture wells over multi-year period up to an additional $2 125 billion and StatoilHydro will

have the right to 32.5% participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in the Marcellus Shale

Additionally Chesapeake and StatoilHydro are evaluating opportunities
for an international strategic

alliance to jointly explore unconventional natural gas opportunities worldwide

During the fourth quarter
of 2008 we privately exchanged $765 million in aggregate principal amount of

our 2.75% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2035 our 2.50% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due

2037 and our 2.25% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 for an aggregate of 23913203 shares of our

common stock Our net debt as percentage of total capitalization total capitalization is the sum of net debt less

cash on hand and stockholders equity was 43% as of December 31 2008 and 47% as of December 31 2007

The average maturity of our long-term debt as of December 31 2008 was over eight years with an average

interest rate of approximately
5.6% No scheduled principal payments are required under our senior notes until

2013 when $864 million is due

We plan to continue to evaluate asset monetization transactions in order to create additional value from our

proved and unproved properties and to increase our financial flexibility Management believes that our leasehold

and development joint ventures and various asset monetization programs benefit the company by improving our

asset base reducing our financial risk decreasing our DDA rate and increasing our profitability per
unit of

production thereby increasing our returns on capital and advancing future value creation We may also consider

alternative sources of public or private investment in the company or its subsidiaries While we believe that our

anticipated internally generated cash flow cash resources and other sources of liquidity will allow us to fully

fund our 2009 and 2010 operating and capital expenditure requirements further deterioration of the economy and

other factors could require us to fund these expenditures from monetization transactions or further curtail our

spending

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources and Uses of Funds

Cash flow from operations is significant source of liquidity used to fund operating expenses and capital

expenditures Cash provided by operating activities was $5.236 billion in 2008 compared to $4.932 billion in

2007 and $4843 billion in 2006 The $304 million increase from 2007 to 2008 was primarily due to higher

volumes of natural gas
and oil production The $89 million increase from 2006 to 2007 was primarily due to

higher volumes of natural gas
and oil production Changes in cash flow from operations are largely due to the

same factors that affect our net income excluding non-cash items such as depreciation depletion and

amortization deferred income taxes and unrealized gains and losses on derivatives See the discussion below

under Results of Operations

Changes in market prices for natural gas and oil directly impact the level of our cash flow from operations

To mitigate the risk of declines in natural gas or oil prices and to provide more predictable future cash flow from

operations we currently have hedged through swaps and collars 78% of our expected remaining natural gas and

oil production in 2009 and 48% of our expected natural gas
and oil production in 2010 at average prices of $7.71

and $9.02 per mcfe respectively Our natural gas
and oil hedges as of December 31 2008 are detailed in Item 7A

of this report Depending on changes in natural gas
and oil futures markets and managements view of underlying

natural gas and oil supply and demand trends we may increase or decrease our current hedging positions

As of December 31 2008 we had net natural gas and oil derivative asset of $1.305 billion We have

arrangements
with our hedging counterparties that allow us to minimize the potential liquidity impact of

significant
mark-to-market fluctuations in the value of our natural gas

and oil hedges by making collateral

allocations from our bank credit facility or directly pledging natural gas
and oil properties rather than posting

cash or letters of credit with the counterparties
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Our $3.5 billion bank credit facility our $460 million midstream bank credit facility and cash and cash

equivalents are other sources of liquidity Following the February 2009 issuance of $l.425 billion of 9.5% Senior
Notes due 2015 there was as of February 26 2009 $1 .864 billion of borrowing capacity available under the

revolving bank credit facility and $36 million of borrowing capacity under the midstream credit facility We use
the facilities and cash on hand to fund daily operating activities and acquisitions as needed We borrowed $13.3
billion and repaid $11.3 billion in 2008 we borrowed $7.9 billion and repaid $6.2 billion in 2007 and we
borrowed $8.4 billion and repaid $8.3 billion in 2006 under our bank credit facilities substantial portion of our
natural

gas and oil properties are not currently pledged under debt or hedging arrangements and therefore are

available to be pledged as additional collateral under our revolving bank credit facility if needed based on our
periodic borrowing base and collateral redeterminations Accordingly we believe our borrowing capacity will

not be reduced associated with such periodic redeterminations

On April 2008 we issued 23 million shares of our common stock in public offering at price of $45.75

per share and on July 15 2008 we issued 28.75 million shares of common stock in public offering at price of
$57.25 per share On May 20 2008 we completed public offerings of $800 million of our 7.25% Senior Notes
due 2018 and $1 .380 billion of our 2.25%

Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 These four offerings
resulted in aggregate net proceeds to us of

approximately $4734 billion which we used to fund the redemption
of our 7.75% Senior Notes due 2015 and to temporarily repay indebtedness outstanding under our revolving bank
credit facility The

following table reflects the proceeds from sales of securities we issued in 2008 2007 and
2006 in millions

2008 2007 2006

Total Net Total Net Total Net
Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds Proceeds

Common stock $2698 $2598 $1800 $1759
Contingent convertible senior notes 1380 1349 1650 1607
Senior notes 800 787 1799 1755
Convertible preferred stock 575 558

Total $4878 $4734 $1650 $1607 $4174 $4072

In May 2008 we sold portion of our proved reserves in certain producing assets in Texas Oklahoma and
Kansas in VPP transaction for proceeds of approximately $616 million net of transaction costs We completed
another VPP transaction in August 2008 when we sold portion of our proved reserves in certain producing
assets in the Anadarko Basin of Oklahoma for proceeds of approximately $594 million net of transaction costs
Also in December 2008 we sold certain long-lived producing assets in the Anadarko and Arkoma Basins in

VPP transaction for proceeds of approximately $412 million net of transaction costs Approximately $43
million of the proceeds are being held in escrow until post-closing adjustments have been finalized In August
2008 we sold leasehold and producing natural gas properties in the Arkoma Basin Woodford Shale play in

Oklahoma for $1.7 billion in cash

In the second half of 2008 the company entered into three joint venture arrangements covering three of the

companys Big shale plays In the joint ventures the company has collaborated with other leading energy
companies to accelerate the development of the companys properties in the Haynesville Shale the Fayetteville
Shale and the Marcellus Shale In total we sold leasehold and producing property assets in which we had cost
basis of approximately $1.2 billion to these three joint venture partners for total cash consideration of $4.0 billion

and up to $4.6 billion of future drilling cost carries while we retained majority interest in each joint venture
The drilling cost carries of up to approximately $4.2 billion that remain unused as of December 31 2008 will be

extremely valuable in the years ahead by enabling the company to develop reserves in these joint venture shale

plays at greatly reduced costs We are also considering opportunities for other joint venture transactions to

develop our properties

Our primary use of funds is for capital expenditures related to exploration development and acquisition of
natural gas and oil properties We refer you to the table under investing Activities below which sets forth the

components of our natural gas and oil investing activities and other
investing activities for 2008 2007 and 2006
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We retain significant degree of control over the timing of our capital expenditures which permits us to defer or

accelerate certain capital expenditures if necessary to address any potential liquidity issues In addition higher

drilling and field operating costs drilling results that alter planned development schedules acquisitions or other

factors could cause us to revise our drilling program which is largely discretionary

We paid dividends on our common stock of $148 million $115 million and $87 million in 2008 2007 and

2006 respectively The Board of Directors increased the quarterly dividend on common stock from $0.0675 to

$0075 per
share beginning with the dividend paid in July 2008 Dividends paid on our preferred stock decreased

to $35 million in 2008 from $95 million in 2007 and $88 million in 2006 as result of conversions and

exchanges of preferred stock into common stock during 2008 and 2007

In 2008 holders of our 4.5% cumulative convertible preferred stock and our 5.0% Series 2005B

cumulative preferred stock exchanged 891100 shares and 3654385 shares for 2227750 shares and 10443642

shares of common stock respectively in privately negotiated exchanges The exchanges resulted in loss of $67

million In 2007 holders of our 5.0% Series 2005 cumulative convertible preferred stock and 6.25% mandatory

convertible preferred stock exchanged 4535880 shares and 2156184 shares for 19038891 and 17367823

shares of common stock respectively in public exchange offers The exchanges resulted in loss $128 million

We received $9 million $15 million and $73 million from the exercise of employee and director stock

options in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively We paid $5 million $0 and $86 million to purchase treasury stock

in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Of these amounts $5 million and $11 million were used to fund our

matching contribution to our 40 1k and deferred compensation plans in 2008 and 2006 respectively The

remaining $75 million in 2006 was used to purchase shares of common stock to be used upon the exercise of

stock options under certain stock option plans

In 2008 2007 and 2006 we paid $167 million $91 million and $87 million respectively to settle portion

of the derivative liabilities assumed in our 2005 acquisition of Columbia Natural Resources LLC

SFAS 123R requires tax benefits resulting from stock-based compensation deductions in excess of

amounts reported for financial reporting purposes to be reported as cash flows from financing activities In 2008

2007 and 2006 we reported tax benefit from stock-based compensation of $43 million $20 million and $88

million respectively

Outstanding payments from certain disbursement accounts in excess of funded cash balances where no legal

right of set-off exists increased by $330 million decreased by $98 million and increased by $70 million in 2008

2007 and 2006 respectively All disbursements are funded on the day they are presented to our bank using

available cash on hand or draws on our revolving bank credit facility

Credit Risk

significant portion of our liquidity is concentrated in both cash and cash equivalents and derivative

instruments On December 31 2008 our cash and cash equivalents were invested in money market funds with

investment grade ratings significant portion of these funds was invested at the close of business on

September 19 2008 and is protected under the U.S Treasury Departments Temporary Guarantee Program The

remaining funds were spread among several counterparties to mitigate risk

Derivative instruments enable us to hedge portion of our exposure to natural gas and oil prices and interest

rate volatility These arrangements expose us to credit risk from our counterparties To mitigate this risk we

enter into derivative contracts only with investment grade rated counterparties deemed by management to be

competent and competitive market makers and spread our instruments among multiple counterparties such that

no single counterparty represents
material credit risk to the company Recently there have been concerns about

the ability of certain counterparties to continue to meet their financial obligations We monitor the

creditworthiness of all our counterparties and do not believe failure by counterparty would have material

negative impact on our liquidity
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Our accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers of natural
gas and oil $738 million at December

2008 and exploration and production companies which own interests in properties we operate $424 million at

December 31 2008 This industry concentration has the potential to impact our overall exposure to credit risk

either positively or negatively in that our customers and joint working interest owners may be similarly affected

by changes in economic industry or other conditions We generally require letters of credit or parental

guarantees for receivables from parties which are judged to have sub-standard credit unless the credit risk can

otherwise be mitigated

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities increased to $9.844 billion in 2008 compared to $7.922 billion in 2007 and

$8.942 billion in 2006 We have continued our active drilling program and our acquisitions are focused on

leasehold and property acquisitions needed for planned natural gas and oil development Our investing activities

during the past two years reflect our increasing focus on acquiring unproved leasehold and converting our

resource inventory into production redeploying our capital by selling natural gas and oil properties with lower

rates of return and increasing our investment in properties with higher return potential and investing in drilling

rigs midstream systems compressors and other
property and equipment to support our natural gas and oil

exploration development and production activities The following table shows our cash used in provided by
investing activities during 2008 2007 and 2006 in millions

Natural Gas and Oil Investing Activities 2008 2007 2006

Acquisitions of natural gas and oil companies and proved properties net of cash

acquired 372 520 $1104

Acquisition of leasehold and unproved properties 7660 2187 3301

Exploration and development of natural gas and oil properties 5789 4962 3009

Geological and geophysical costs 315 343 154

Interest capitalized on unproved properties 440 254 172

Proceeds from sale of volumetric production payments 1579 1089
Deposits for acquisitions 12 15 21

Divestitures of proved and unproved properties and leasehold 6091
Total natural gas and oil investing activities 6918 7192 7761

Other Investing Activities

Additions to other property and equipment 3073 1439 987

Proceeds from sale of drilling rigs and equipment 64 369 244
Proceeds from sale of compressors 114 188
Additions to investments 74 554

Proceeds from sale of investments 124 159
Acquisition of trucking company net of cash acquired 45

Sale of other assets 41 36
Total other investing activities 2926 730 1181

Total cash used in investing activities 9844 7922 $8942

Due to the current financial crisis decreases in natural gas prices and concerns about an oversupply of

natural
gas

in the U.S market we and other exploration and production companies have significantly decreased

budgets for natural gas and oil investing activities in 2009 In connection with our reduced budget for

acquisitions we are using our common stock for some or all of the consideration for certain transactions In

December 2008 we registered 25 million shares of common stock that we may offer and issue to acquire assets

including mineral interests businesses or securities of other companies As of February 26 2009 we had issued

approximately 16 million shares of common stock for leasehold acquisitions and anticipate we may issue the

remaining shares over the course of 2009
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Bank Credit Facilities

We have $3.5 billion syndicated revolving bank credit facility that matures in November 2012 As of

December 31 2008 we had $3.474 billion in outstanding borrowings under this facility and had utilized

approximately $15 million of the facility for various letters of credit To ensure that our revolving credit facility

could be fully utilized in these turbulent economic times we borrowed the remaining capacity under our facility

at the end of the third quarter and invested the cash proceeds in short-term highly liquid securities As result on

December 31 2008 we had cash and cash equivalents on hand of approximately $1749 billion All 36 lenders

that participate in our revolving credit facility fully funded their commitment with the exception of Lehman

Brothers Commercial Bank subsidiary of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc which has filed for bankruptcy

protection Lehman Brothers Commercial Bank did not fund its $11 million share of the advance

Borrowings under the facility are secured by certain producing natural gas
and oil properties and bear

interest at our option at either the greater of the reference rate of Union Bank of California N.A or the

federal funds effective rate plus 0.50% or ii London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR plus margin that varies

from 0.75% to 1.50% per annum according to our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings The collateral value

and borrowing base are redetermined periodically The unused portion of the facility is subject to commitment

fee that also varies according to our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings from 0.125% to 0.30% per annum

Currently the commitment fee is 0.20% per annum Interest is payable quarterly or if LIBOR applies it may be

payable at more frequent intervals Our subsidiaries Chesapeake Exploration L.L.C and Chesapeake

Appalachia L.L.C are the borrowers under our revolving bank credit facility and Chesapeake and all its other

wholly-owned restricted subsidiaries are guarantors

The credit facility agreement contains various covenants and restrictive provisions which limit our ability to

incur additional indebtedness make investments or loans and create liens The credit facility agreement requires

us to maintain an indebtedness to total capitalization ratio as defined not to exceed 0.70 to and an

indebtedness to EBITDA ratio as defined not to exceed 3.75 to As defined by the credit facility agreement

our indebtedness to total capitalization
ratio was 0.43 to and our indebtedness to EBITDA ratio was 2.43 to at

December 31 2008 If we should fail to perform our obligations under these and other covenants the revolving

credit commitment could be terminated and any outstanding borrowings under the facility could be declared

immediately due and payable Such acceleration if involving principal amount of $10 million $50 million in

the case of our senior notes issued after 2004 would constitute an event of default under our senior note

indentures which could in turn result in the acceleration of significant portion of our senior note indebtedness

The credit facility agreement also has cross default provisions that apply to other indebtedness of the company

and its restricted subsidiaries that we may have with an outstanding principal amount in excess of $75 million

On October 16 2008 we closed new secured revolving bank credit facility for our non-Appalachian

midstream operations which have recently been restructured under new unrestricted subsidiary Chesapeake

Midstream Partners L.P CMP and its operating subsidiary Chesapeake Midstream Operating L.L.C CMO
Twelve financial institutions are in the facility bank group The facility matures in October 2013 has initial

availability of $460 million and may be expanded up to $750 million at CMOs option subject to additional bank

participation CMO is utilizing the facility to fund capital expenditures associated with building additional

natural gas gathering and other systems associated with our drilling program and for general corporate purposes

related to our midstream operations As of December 31 2008 we had $460 million in outstanding borrowings

under the midstream credit facility

The midstream credit facility agreement contains various covenants and restrictive provisions which limit

the ability of CMP and its subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness make investments or loans and create

liens The credit facility agreement requires maintenance of an indebtedness to EBITDA ratio as defined not to

exceed 3.50 to and an EBITDA as defined to interest expense coverage
ratio of not less than 2.50 to As

defined by the credit facility agreement our indebtedness to EBITDA ratio was 2.59 to and our EBITDA to

interest expense coverage ratio was 9.36 to at December 31 2008 If CMP or its subsidiaries should fail to

perform their obligations under these and other covenants the revolving credit commitment could be terminated
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and any outstanding borrowings under the midstream facility could be declared immediately due and payable
The midstream credit facility agreement also has cross default provisions that apply to other indebtedness CMP
and its subsidiaries may have with an outstanding principal amount in excess of $15 million

Hedging Facilities

We have six secured
hedging facilities each of which permits us to enter into cash-settled natural

gas and
oil commodity transactions valued by the counterparty for up to stated maximum value Outstanding
transactions under each facility are collateralized by certain of our natural gas and oil properties that do not
secure any of our other obligations The value of reserve collateral pledged to each facility is required to be at
least 1.3 or 1.5 times the fair value of transactions outstanding under each facility In addition we may pledge
collateral from our revolving bank credit facility from time to time to these facilities to meet any additional
collateral

coverage requirements The hedging facilities are subject to an annual exposure fee which is assessed
quarterly based on the

average of the daily negative fair value amounts of the hedges if any during the quarter
The hedging facilities contain the standard representations and default provisions that are typical of such
agreements The agreements also contain various restrictive provisions which govern the

aggregate natural
gasand oil production volumes that we are permitted to hedge under all of our agreements at any one time The fair

value of outstanding transactions per annum exposure fees and the scheduled maturity dates are shown below

Secured Hedging Facilities

in millions
Fair value of

outstanding transactions as of December 31
2008

116 369 37 245 94
Per annum exposure fee 1% 1% 0.8% 0.8% 0.8% 0.8%
Scheduled maturity date 2010 2013 2020 2012 2012 2012

Chesapeake Exploration L.L.C is the named party to the facilities numbered and Chesapeake Energy
Corporation is the named party to the facilities numbered

Our
revolving bank credit facility the midstream credit facility and the secured hedging facilities do not

contain material adverse change or adequate assurance covenants Although the applicable interest rates and
commitment fees in our revolving bank credit facility fluctuate slightly based on our long-term senior unsecured
credit ratings neither of our credit facilities nor the secured hedging facilities contain provisions which would
trigger an acceleration of amounts due under the facilities or requirement to post additional collateral in the
event of downgrade of our credit ratings
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Senior Note Obligations

In addition to outstanding revolving bank credit facility borrowings discussed above as of December 31

2008 senior notes represented approximately $10.3 billion of our long-term debt and consisted of the following

in millions

7.5% Senior Notes due 2013 364

7.625% Senior Notes due 2013 500

7.0% Senior Notes due 2014 300

7.5% Senior Notes due 2014 300

7.75% Senior Notes due 2015

6.375% Senior Notes due 2015 600

6.625% Senior Notes due 2016 600

6.875% Senior Notes due 2016 670

6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2017 835

6.5% Senior Notes due 2017 1100

7.25% Senior Notes due 2018 800

6.25% Senior Notes due 2018 600

6.875% Senior Notes due 2020 500

2.75% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2035 451

2.5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2037 1378

2.25% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 1126

Discount on senior notes 85
Interest rate derivatives 211

$10250

The 7.75% Senior Notes due 2015 were redeemed on July 2008 In connection with the transaction we

recorded $31 million loss which consisted of $12 million premium and the write-off of $19 million in

various charges associated with the notes

The principal amount shown is based on the dollar/euro exchange rate of $1.39 19 to 1.00 as of

December 31 2008 See Note 10 for information on our related cross currency swap
The holders of our contingent convertible senior notes may require us to repurchase in cash all or portion

of their notes at 100% of the principal amount of the notes on any of four dates that are five ten fifteen and

twenty years before the maturity date The notes are convertible at the holders option prior to maturity

under certain circumstances into cash and if applicable shares of our common stock using net share

settlement process One such triggering circumstance is when the price of our common stock exceeds

threshold amount during specified period in fiscal quarter Convertibility based on common stock price

is measured quarter by quarter In the fourth quarter of 2008 the price of our common stock was below the

threshold level for each series of the contingent convertible senior notes during the specified period and as

result the holders do not have the option to convert their notes into cash and common stock in the first

quarter of 2009 under this provision The notes are also convertible at the holders option during specified

five-day periods if the trading price of the notes is below certain levels determined by reference to the

trading price of our common stock In general upon conversion of contingent convertible senior note the

holder will receive cash equal to the principal amount of the note and common stock for the notes

conversion value in excess of such principal amount We will pay contingent interest on the convertible

senior notes after they have been outstanding at least ten years under certain conditions We may redeem

the convertible senior notes once they have been outstanding for ten years at redemption price of 100% of

the principal amount of the notes payable in cash The optional repurchase dates the common stock price

conversion threshold amounts and the ending date of the first six-month period contingent interest may be

payable for the contingent convertible senior notes are as follows

Contingent Common Stock Contingent Interest

Convertible Price Conversion First Payable

Senior Notes Repurchase Dates Thresholds if applicable

2.75% due 2035 November 15 2015 2020 2025 2030 48.81 May 14 2016

2.5% due 2037 May 15 2017 2022 2027 2032 64.47 November 14 2017

2.25% due 2038 December 15 2018 2023 2028 2033 $107.36 June 142019

See Note for further discussion related to these instruments
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No scheduled principal payments are required under our senior notes until 2013 when $864 million is due

As of December 31 2008 and currently debt ratings for the senior notes are a3 by Moodys Investor

Service stable outlook BB by Standard Poors Ratings Services stable outlook and BB by Fitch Ratings

negative outlook

Our senior notes are unsecured senior obligations of Chesapeake and rank equally in right of payment with

all of our other existing and future senior indebtedness and rank senior in right of payment to all of our future

subordinated indebtedness We may redeem the senior notes other than the contingent convertible senior notes

at any time at specified make-whole redemption prices Senior notes issued before July 2005 are governed by

indentures containing covenants that limit our ability and our restricted subsidiaries ability to incur additional

indebtedness pay dividends on our capital stock or redeem repurchase or retire our capital stock or subordinated

indebtedness make investments and other restricted payments incur liens enter into sale/leaseback transactions

create restrictions on the payment of dividends or other amounts to us from our restricted subsidiaries engage in

transactions with affiliates sell assets and consolidate merge or transfer assets Senior notes issued after June

2005 are governed by indentures containing covenants that limit our ability and our restricted subsidiaries ability

to incur certain secured indebtedness enter into salefleaseback transactions and consolidate merge or transfer

assets The debt incurrence covenants do not presently restrict our ability to borrow under or expand our secured

credit facility As of December 31 2008 we estimate that secured commercial bank indebtedness of

approximately $5.8 billion could have been incurred under the most restrictive indenture covenant

Chesapeake Energy Corporation is holding company and owns no operating assets and has no significant

operations independent of its subsidiaries As of December 31 2007 our obligations under our outstanding

senior notes and contingent convertible notes were fully and unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally by

all of our wholly-owned subsidiaries other than minor subsidiaries on senior unsecured basis Since October

2008 following the restructuring of our non-Appalachian midstream operations certain of our subsidiaries

having significant assets and operations have not guaranteed our outstanding senior notes and contingent

convertible notes Condensed consolidating financial information for Chesapeake and its combined guarantor and

combined non-guarantor subsidiaries as of and for the year ended December 31 2008 is provided in Note 16 of

the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report

Contractual Obligations

The table below summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31 2008 in millions

Payments Due By Period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than

Total Year Years Years years

Long term debt

Principal $14058 $4798 9260
Interest 6048 567 1133 1133 3215

Capital lease obligations

Operating lease obligations 946 142 266 270 268

Asset retirement obligations 269 19 21 223

Purchase obligations 2349 807 487 320 735

Unrecognized tax benefits 60 60

Standby letters of credit 15 15

Total contractual cash obligations $23749 $1553 $1968 $6527 $13701

Asset retirement obligations represent estimated discounted costs for future dismantlement and abandonment costs

These obligations are recorded as liabilities on our December 31 2008 balance sheet

See Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements for description of transportation and drilling contract

commitments

See Note of the notes to our consolidated financial statements for description of unrecognized tax benefits
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Chesapeake has commitments to purchase natural gas and oil associated with volumetric production

payment transactions that extend over terms ranging from 11 to 15 years
based on market prices at the time of

production and the purchased gas will be resold The obligations are as follows

Mmcfe

2009 68238

2010 60723

2011 53694

2012 48069

20fl 43477

After 2013 181574

Total 455775

Other Commitments

We own 49% interest in Mountain Drilling Company company that specializes in hydraulic drilling rigs

which are designed for drilling in urban areas Chesapeake has an agreement to lend Mountain Drilling Company

up to $32 million through December 31 2009 At December 31 2008 Mountain Drilling owed Chesapeake $19

million under this agreement

We invested in Ventura Refining and Transmission LLC in early 2007 and today own 25% interest There

were no refineries in western Oklahoma until Ventura opened its refinery in 2006 We have agreed to guarantee

various commitments for Ventura up to $70 million to support their operating activities As of December 31

2008 we had $7 million of outstanding performance guarantees

Hedging Activities

Natural Gas and Oil Hedging Activities

Our results of operations and operating cash flows are impacted by changes in market prices for natural gas

and oil To mitigate portion of the exposure to adverse market changes we have entered into various derivative

instruments Executive management is involved in all risk management activities and the Board of Directors

reviews the companys hedging program at its quarterly Board meetings We believe we have sufficient internal

controls to prevent
unauthorized hedging As of December 31 2008 our natural gas and oil derivative

instruments were comprised of swaps basis protection swaps knockout swaps cap-swaps call options put

options and collars Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk contains

description of each of these instruments Although derivatives often fail to achieve 100% effectiveness for

accounting purposes we believe our derivative instruments continue to be highly effective in achieving the risk

management objectives for which they were intended

Hedging allows us to predict with greater certainty the effective prices we will receive for our hedged

natural gas and oil production We closely monitor the fair value of our hedging contracts and may elect to settle

contract prior to its scheduled maturity date in order to lock in gain or loss Commodity markets are volatile

and Chesapeakes hedging activities are dynamic
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Mark-to-market positions under natural gas and oil hedging contracts fluctuate with commodity prices As

described above under Bank Credit Facilities and Hedging Facilities we may be required to deliver collateral or

other assurances of performance if our payment obligations to our hedging counterparties exceed levels stated in

our contracts Our realized and unrealized gains and losses on natural
gas and oil derivatives during 2008 2007

and 2006 were as follows

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

Natural gas and oil sales $7069 $4795 $3870
Realized gains losses on natural gas and oil derivatives 1203 1254

Unrealized gains losses on non-qualifying natural gas and oil

derivatives 887 252 184

Unrealized gains losses on ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges 90 122 311

Total natural gas and oil sales $7858 $5624 $5619

Changes in the fair value of natural gas and oil derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges to the

extent effective in offsetting cash flows attributable to the hedged commodities and locked-in gains and losses of

derivative contracts are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and are transferred to earnings in

the month of related production These unrealized gains losses net of related tax effects totaled $386 million

$53 million and $546 million as of December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Based upon the market

prices at December 31 2008 we expect to transfer to earnings approximately $345 million of the net gain
included in the balance of accumulated other comprehensive income during the next 12 months detailed

explanation of accounting for natural gas and oil derivatives under SFAS 133
appears under Application of

Critical Accounting Policies Hedging elsewhere in this Item

The estimated fair values of our natural gas and oil derivative instruments as of December 31 2008 and

2007 are provided below The associated carrying values of these instruments are equal to the estimated fair

values

December 31

2008 2007

in millions

Derivative assets liabilities

Fixed-price natural gas swaps 863 54
Fixed-price natural gas collars 402

Natural
gas

basis protection swaps 93 151

Fixed-price natural gas knockout swaps 141 108

Natural
gas

call options 178 230
Natural gas put options 39
Fixed-price oil swaps 31 110
Fixed-price oil knockout swaps 19 125
Fixed-price oil cap-swaps 17
Oil call options 35 96
Fixed-price oil collars

Estimated fair value $1305 $369

See Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk of this report for additional

information concerning any associated premiums received or discounts paid in connection with certain

derivative transactions
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Additional information concerning the fair value of our natural gas and oil derivative instruments is as

follows

2008 2007 2006

in millions

345

972

295
1203

354 188
______

Fair value of contracts outstanding as of December 31 $1305 369
_______

Interest Rate Derivatives

We use interest rate derivatives to mitigate our exposure to the volatility in interest rates For interest rate

derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges in accordance with SFAS 133 changes in fair value are

recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as assets liabilities and the debts carrying value amount is

adjusted by the change in the fair value of the debt subsequent to the initiation of the derivative Changes in the

fair value of derivative instruments not qualifying as fair value hedges are recorded currently as adjustments to

interest expense

Gains or losses from derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to interest expense on the

consolidated statements of operations Realized gains losses included in interest expense were $6 million $1

million and $2 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Pursuant to SFAS 133 certain derivatives do not

qualify for designation as fair value hedges Changes in the fair value of these non-qualifying derivatives that

occur prior to their maturity i.e temporary fluctuations in value are reported currently in the consolidated

statements of operations as unrealized gains losses within interest expense Unrealized gains losses included

in interest expense were $85 million $40 million and $2 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

detailed explanation of accounting for interest rate derivatives under SFAS 133 appears under Application of

Critical Accounting Policies Hedging elsewhere in this Item

Foreign Currency Derivatives

On December 2006 we issued 600 million of 6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due

2017 Concurrent with the issuance of the Euro-denominated senior notes we entered into cross currency swap

to mitigate our exposure to fluctuations in the euro relative to the dollar over the term of the notes detailed

explanation of accounting for foreign currency
derivatives under SFAS 133 appears under Application of

Critical Accounting Policies Hedging elsewhere in this Item

Results of Operations

General For the year
ended December 31 2008 Chesapeake had net income of $723 million or $1.14

per diluted common share on total revenues of $11 .629 billion This compares to net income of $1.45 billion or

$2.62 per
diluted common share on total revenues of $7800 billion during the year

ended December 31 2007

and net income of $2.003 billion or $4.35 per diluted common share on total revenues of $7.326 billion during

the year
ended December 31 2006

Natural Gas and Oil Sales During 2008 natural gas and oil sales were $7858 billion compared to $5.624

billion in 2007 and $5.619 billion in 2006 In 2008 Chesapeake produced and sold 842.7 bcfe of natural gas and

oil at weighted average price of $8.38 per mcfe compared to 714.3 befe in 2007 at weighted average price of

$8.40 per mcfe and 578.4 bcfe in 2006 at weighted average price of $8.86 per mcfe weighted average prices

Fair value of contracts outstanding as of January

Change in fair value of contracts

Fair value of contracts when entered into

Contracts realized or otherwise settled

Fair value of contracts when closed

369
1880

569

946
3423

32
1254

846

345
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for all years discussed exclude the effect of unrealized gains or losses on derivatives of $797 million $374
million and $495 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively The decrease in prices in 2008 resulted in

decrease in revenue of $17 million and increased production resulted in $1.079 billion increase for total

increase in revenues of 1.062 billion excluding unrealized gains or losses on natural gas and oil derivatives
The increase in production from period to period was primarily generated from the drilibit

For 2008 we realized an average price per mcf of natural gas of $8.09 compared to $8.14 in 2007 and
$8.76 in 2006 weighted average prices for all years discussed exclude the effect of unrealized gains or losses on
derivatives Oil prices realized per barrel excluding unrealized gains or losses on derivatives were $70.48
$67.50 and $59.14 in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Realized gains or losses from our natural gas and oil

derivatives resulted in net decrease in natural gas and oil revenues of $9 million or $0.01 per mcfe in 2008
net increase of $1.203 billion or $1.68

per mcfe in 2007 and net increase of $1254 billion or $2.17 per mcfe
in 2006

change in natural gas and oil prices has significant impact on our natural
gas and oil revenues and cash

flows Assuming 2008 production levels change of $0.10 per mcf of natural
gas sold would result in an

increase or decrease in 2008 revenues and cash flows of approximately $78 million and $75 million respectively
and change of $1.00 per barrel of oil sold would result in an increase or decrease in 2008 revenues and cash
flows of approximately $11 million without considering the effect of hedging activities

The following table shows our production by region for 2008 2007 and 2006

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Mmcfe Percent Mmcfe Percent Mmcfe Percent

Mid-Continent 412825 49% 373941 52% 315173 55%
Barnett Shale 181523 22 93463 13 44482
Permian and Delaware Basins 79645 10 64897 48510
South Texas and Texas Gulf Coast 70903 78228 11 79178 14
Ark-La-Tex 61543 55811 46009
Appalachian Basin 36305 47922 45031

Total Production 842744 100% 714262 100% 578383 100%

2008 was impacted by the sale of 11.1 bcf and 6.9 bcf of production in VPP transactions that closed on
May 2008 and August 2008 respectively

2008 was impacted by the sale of 7.6 bcf and 4.7 bcf of production from Arkoma and Fayetteville

properties respectively

2008 was impacted by the sale of 18.3 bcf of production in VPP transaction that closed on December 31
2007

Natural gas production represented approximately 92% of our total production volume on natural gas
equivalent basis in 2008 compared to 92% in 2007 and 91% in 2006

Natural Gas and Oil Marketing Sales and Operating Expenses Natural gas and oil marketing activities

are substantially for third parties who are owners in Chesapeake-operated wells Chesapeake realized $3.598
billion in natural

gas and oil marketing sales to third parties in 2008 with corresponding natural gas and oil

marketing expenses of $3.505 billion for net margin before depreciation of $93 million This compares to sales

of $2.040 billion and 1.577 billion expenses of $1.969 billion and $1522 billion and margins before

depreciation of $71 million and $55 million in 2007 and 2006 respectively The net margin increase in 2008 and
2007 is primarily due to an increase in volumes related to natural

gas and oil marketing sales

Service Operations Revenue and Operating Expenses Service operations consist of
third-party revenue

and operating expenses related to our drilling and oilfield trucking operations Chesapeake recognized $173
million in service operations revenue in 2008 with

corresponding service operations expenses of $143 million
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for net margin before depreciation of $30 million This compares to revenue of $136 million and $130 million

expenses of $94 million and $68 million and net margin before depreciation of $42 million and $62 million in

2007 and 2006 respectively These operations have grown as result of assets and businesses we acquired and

leased as seen in the growth in revenues However the net margins have decreased each of the previous three

years This is the result of increased expenses associated with the leasing cost of the numerous rigs we have sold

and leased back in the previous three years

Production Expenses Production expenses which include lifting costs and ad valorem taxes were $889

million in 2008 compared to $640 million and $490 million in 2007 and 2006 respectively On

unit-of-production basis production expenses were $1.05 per mcfe in 2008 compared to $0.90 and $0.85 per

mcfe in 2007 and 2006 respectively The expense increase in 2008 was primarily due to higher third-party field

service costs energy costs fuel costs ad valorem taxes and personnel costs Our per unit increase in 2008 was

also affected by the loss of production related to the sale of the volumetric production payments We expect that

production expenses per mcfe produced for 2009 will range from $1.10 to $1.20

Production Taxes Production taxes were $284 million in 2008 compared to $216 million in 2007 and

$176 million in 2006 On unit-of-production basis production taxes were $0.34 per mcfe in 2008 compared to

$0.30 per mcfe in 2007 and $0.31 per mcfe in 2006 The $68 million increase in production taxes from 2007 to

2008 is due to an increase in production of 128 bcfe and an increase in the realized average sales price of natural

gas and oil of $1.68 per
mcfe excluding gains or losses on derivatives

In general production taxes are calculated using value-based formulas that produce higher per unit costs

when natural gas and oil prices are higher We expect production taxes for 2009 to range
from $0.25 to $0.35 per

mcfe based on estimated NYMEX prices ranging from $6.00 to $7.50 per mcf of natural gas and an oil price of

$47.66 per barrel

General and Administrative Expense General and administrative expenses including stock-based

compensation but excluding internal costs capitalized to our natural gas and oil properties see Note 10 of notes

to consolidated financial statements were $377 million in 2008 $243 million in 2007 and $139 million in 2006

General and administrative expenses were $0.45 $0.34 and $0.24 per mcfe for 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively The increase in 2008 2007 and 2006 was the result of increasing labor costs due to the companys

continued growth as well as increased media and advocacy expenditures Included in general and administrative

expenses is stock-based compensation of $85 million in 2008 $58 million in 2007 and $27 million in 2006 The

increase was mainly due to an increase in the number of unvested restricted shares outstanding during 2008

compared to 2007 and 2006 as result of growth in our employment We anticipate that general and

administrative expenses for 2009 will be between $0.33 and $0.37 per mcfe produced including stock-based

compensation ranging from $0.10 to $0.12 per mcfe produced

Our stock-based compensation for employees and non-employee directors is in the form of restricted stock

Employee restricted stock awards generally vest over period of four or five years Our non-employee director

awards vest over period of three years
The discussion of stock-based compensation in Note and Note of

notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item of this report provides additional detail on the

accounting for and reporting of our stock-based compensation

Chesapeake follows the full-cost method of accounting under which all costs associated with natural gas
and

oil property acquisition exploration and development activities are capitalized We capitalize internal costs that

can be directly identified with our acquisition exploration and development activities and do not include any

costs related to production general corporate overhead or similar activities We capitalized $352 million $262

million and $161 million of internal costs in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively directly related to our natural gas

and oil property acquisition exploration and development efforts

Natural Gas and Oil Depreciation Depletion and Amortization Depreciation depletion and amortization

of natural gas
and oil properties was $l.970 billion $1.835 billion and $1359 billion during 2008 2007 and

49



2006 respectively The average DDA rate per mcfe which is function of capitalized costs future

development costs and the related underlying reserves in the periods presented was $2.34 $2.57 and $2.35 in

2008 2007 and 2006 respectively The decrease in the average rate from $2.57 in 2007 to $2.34 in 2008 is due

primarily to the reduction of our natural gas and oil full-cost pool resulting from our divestitures in 2008 and the

addition of reserves through our exploration activities We expect the 2009 DDA rate to be between $1.90 and

$2.00 per mcfe produced

Depreciation and Amortization of Other Assets Depreciation and amortization of other assets was $177

million in 2008 compared to $154 million in 2007 and $104 million in 2006 The average DA rate per mcfe

was $0.21 $0.22 and $0.18 in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Property and equipment costs are depreciated

on straight-line basis Buildings are depreciated over 15 to 39 years gathering facilities are depreciated over 20

years drilling rigs are depreciated over 15
years and all other property and equipment are depreciated over the

estimated useful lives of the assets which
range from two to ten years To the extent company-owned drilling

rigs are used to drill our wells substantial portion of the depreciation is capitalized in natural
gas and oil

properties as exploration or development costs We expect 2009 depreciation and amortization of other assets to

be between $0.24 and $0.28 per mcfe produced

Impairment of Natural Gas and Oil Properties and Other Fixed Assets Due to lower commodity prices at

December 31 2008 we reported non-cash impairment charge of $2.8 billion for 2008 We account for our

natural gas and oil properties using the full-cost method of accounting which limits the amount of costs we can

capitalize and requires us to write off these costs if the carrying value of natural gas and oil assets in the

evaluated portion of our full-cost pool exceeds the sum of the
present value of expected future net cash flows of

proved reserves using 10% pre-tax discount rate based on constant pricing and cost assumptions and the present

value of certain natural gas and oil hedges Additionally in 2008 we recorded an impairment of $30 million

associated with certain of our midstream assets

Employee Retirement Expense Our President and Chief Operating Officer Tom Ward resigned as

director officer and employee of the company effective February 10 2006 Mr Wards Resignation Agreement

provided for the immediate vesting of all of his unvested equity awards which consisted of options to purchase

724615 shares of Chesapeakes common stock at an average exercise price of $8.01 per share and 1291875
shares of restricted common stock As result of this vesting we incurred an expense of $55 million in 2006

Interest and Other Income Interest and other income was $11 million $15 million and $26 million in

2008 2007 and 2006 respectively The 2008 loss consisted of $22 million of interest income $38 million loss

related to our equity in the net losses of certain investments $4 million gain on sale of assets $10 million of

expense related to consent solicitation fees and $11 million of miscellaneous income The 2007 income consisted

of $8 million of interest income and $7 million of miscellaneous income Income related to equity investments

was not significant in 2007 The 2006 income consisted of $5 million of interest income $10 million of income

related to equity investments $5 million gain on sale of assets and $6 million of miscellaneous income

Interest Expense Interest expense decreased to $314 million in 2008 compared to $406 million in 2007

and $301 million in 2006 as follows

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

Interest expense on senior notes and revolving bank credit facility 687 616 472

Capitalized interest 464 269 179
Amortization of loan discount and other 12 17

Unrealized gain loss on interest rate derivatives 85 41

Realized gain loss on interest rate derivatives

Total interest expense 314 406 301

Average long-term borrowings $10044 $8224 $6278
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Interest expense excluding unrealized gains losses on interest rate derivatives was $0.27 per mcfe in 2008

compared to $0.51 per mcfe in 2007 and $0.52 per mcfe in 2006 The decrease in interest expense per
mcfe for

2008 is due to increased production volumes and an increase in capitalized interest Capitalized interest increased

in 2008 and 2007 as result of significant increase in unevaluated properties the base on which interest is

capitalized We expect interest expense for 2009 to be between $0.30 and $0.35 per mcfe produced before

considering the effect of interest rate derivatives

Gain on Exchanges or Repurchases of chesapeake Debt In 2008 we redeemed $300 million of our

7.75% Senior Notes due 2015 with proceeds from the issuance of new senior notes with lower rate of interest

In connection with the redemption we recorded $31 million loss which consisted of $12 million premium

and the write-off of $19 million in various charges associated with the notes Also in 2008 we privately

exchanged approximately $765 million in aggregate principal amount of our 2.75% Contingent Convertible

Senior Notes due 2035 our 2.50% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2037 and our 2.25% Contingent

Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 for an aggregate of 23913203 shares of our common stock The difference

between the face value of the notes that were exchanged and the fair value of the common stock issued resulted

in gain of $268 million on the cancellation of indebtedness

Impairment of Investments In 2008 we recorded $180 million impairment of certain investments Each

of our investees has been impacted by the dramatic slowing of the worldwide economy and the freezing of the

credit markets in the fourth quarter of 2008 and into 2009 The economic weakness has resulted in significantly

reduced natural gas and oil prices leading to meaningful decline in the overall level of activity in the markets

served by our investees Associated with the weakness in performance of certain of the investees as well as an

evaluation of their financial condition and near-term prospects we recognized that an other than temporary

impairment had occurred on the following investments Chaparral Energy Inc $100 million DHS Drilling

Company $20 million Mountain Drilling Company $10 million and Ventura Refining and Transmission LLC
Inc $50 million

Gain on Sale of Investments In 2007 we sold our 33% limited partnership interest in Eagle Energy

Partners L.P which we first acquired in 2003 for proceeds of $124 million and gain of $83 million In 2006

Chesapeake sold its investment in publicly-traded Pioneer Drilling Company common stock realizing proceeds

of $159 million and gain of $117 million At the time of sale we owned 17% of the common stock of Pioneer

which we began acquiring in 2003

Income Tax Expense Chesapeake recorded income tax expense
of $463 million in 2008 compared to

income tax expense of $890 million in 2007 and $l.252 billion in 2006 Of the income tax expense
recorded in

2008 $423 million is reflected as current income tax expense
and $40 million is reflected as deferred income tax

expense The divestitures that closed during 2008 are projected to generate sufficient taxable income for the
year

to exhaust all our non-limited NOLs and result in current tax liability for the tax year ended December 31

2008 Of the $427 million decrease in 2008 $439 million was the result of the decrease in net income before

taxes which was offset by $12 million as the result of an increase in the effective tax rate Our effective income

tax rate was 39% in 2008 compared to 38% in 2007 and 38.5% in 2006 Our effective tax rate fluctuates as

result of the impact of state income taxes and permanent differences We expect our effective income tax rate to

be 39% in 2009

Loss on Conversion/Exchange of Preferred Stock Loss on conversion/exchange of preferred stock was

$67 million $128 million and $10 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively The loss on the exchanges

represented the excess of the fair value of the common stock issued over the fair value of the securities issuable

pursuant to the original conversion terms See Note of notes to the consolidated financial statements in Item

for further detail regarding these transactions

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Readers of this
report and users of the information contained in it should be aware of how certain events

may impact our financial results based on the accounting policies in place The four policies we consider to be
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the most significant are discussed below The companys management has discussed each critical accounting

policy with the Audit Committee of the companys Board of Directors

The selection and application of accounting policies are an important process that changes as our business

changes and as accounting rules are developed Accounting rules generally do not involve selection among

alternatives but involve an implementation and interpretation of existing rules and the use of judgment to the

specific set of circumstances existing in our business

Hedging Chesapeake uses commodity price and financial risk management instruments to mitigate our

exposure to price fluctuations in natural gas and oil changes in interest rates and changes in foreign exchange

rates Recognized gains and losses on derivative contracts are reported as component of the related transaction

Results of natural gas and oil derivative transactions are reflected in natural gas and oil sales and results of

interest rate and foreign exchange rate hedging transactions are reflected in interest expense The changes in the

fair value of derivative instruments not qualifying for designation as either cash flow or fair value hedges that

occur prior to maturity are reported currently in the consolidated statement of operations as unrealized gains

losses within natural
gas

and oil sales or interest expense Cash flows from derivative instruments are classified

in the same category within the statement of cash flows as the items being hedged or on basis consistent with

the nature of the instruments

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 133 Accounting for Derivative instruments and Hedging

Activities establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that derivative instruments including certain

derivative instruments embedded in other contracts be recorded at fair value and included in the consolidated

balance sheet as assets or liabilities The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivative instrument

depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting designation which is established at the inception

of derivative For derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges changes in fair value to the extent the

hedge is effective are recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings

Any change in the fair value resulting from ineffectiveness as defined by SFAS 133 is recognized immediately

in natural gas and oil sales For derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges in accordance with SFAS

133 changes in fair value as well as the offsetting changes in the estimated fair value of the hedged item

attributable to the hedged risk are recognized currently in earnings Differences between the changes in the fair

values of the hedged item and the derivative instrument if any represent gains or losses on ineffectiveness and

are reflected currently in interest expense Hedge effectiveness is measured at least quarterly based on the

relative changes in fair value between the derivative contract and the hedged item over time Changes in fair

value of contracts that do not qualify as hedges or are not designated as hedges are also recognized currently in

earnings See Hedging Activities above and Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market

Risk for additional information regarding our hedging activities

One of the primary factors that can have an impact on our results of operations is the method used to value

our derivatives We have established the fair value of our derivative instruments utilizing established index

prices volatility curves and discount factors These estimates are compared to our counterparty values for

reasonableness Derivative transactions are also subject to the risk that counterparties will be unable to meet their

obligations Such non-performance risk is considered in the valuation of our derivative instruments but to date

has not had material impact on the values of our derivatives The values we report in our financial statements

are as of point in time and subsequently change as these estimates are revised to reflect actual results changes

in market conditions and other factors

Another factor that can impact our results of operations each period is our ability to estimate the level of

correlation between future changes in the fair value of the hedge instruments and the transactions being hedged

both at inception and on an ongoing basis This correlation is complicated since energy commodity prices the

primary risk we hedge have quality and location differences that can be difficult to hedge effectively The

factors underlying our estimates of fair value and our assessment of correlation of our hedging derivatives are

impacted by actual results and changes in conditions that affect these factors many of which are beyond our

control
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Due to the volatility of natural gas and oil prices and to lesser extent interest rates and foreign exchange

rates the companys financial condition and results of operations can be significantly impacted by changes in the

market value of our derivative instruments As of December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the net market value of

our derivatives was an asset of $1.305 billion liability of $375 million and an asset of $293 million

respectively The derivatives that we acquired in our CNR acquisition represented $17 million $184 million and

$254 million of liability at December 31 2008 2007 and 2006

Natural Gas and Oil Properties The accounting for our business is subject to special accounting rules that

are unique to the natural gas
and oil industry There are two allowable methods of accounting for natural gas

and

oil business activities the successful efforts method and the full-cost method Chesapeake follows the full-cost

method of accounting under which all costs associated with property acquisition exploration and development

activities are capitalized We also capitalize internal costs that can be directly identified with our acquisition

exploration and development activities and do not include any costs related to production general corporate

overhead or similaractivities

Under the successful efforts method geological and geophysical costs and costs of carrying and retaining

undeveloped properties are charged to expense as incurred Costs of drilling exploratory wells that do not result

in proved reserves are charged to expense Depreciation depletion amortization and impairment of natural gas

and oil properties are generally calculated on well by well or lease or field basis versus the aggregated full

cost pool basis Additionally gain or loss is generally recognized on all sales of natural gas and oil properties

under the successful efforts method As result our financial statements will differ from companies that apply

the successful efforts method since we will generally reflect higher level of capitalized costs as well as higher

natural gas and oil depreciation depletion and amortization rate and we will not have exploration expenses that

successful efforts companies frequently have

Under the full-cost method capitalized costs are amortized on composite unit-of-production method based

on proved natural gas and oil reserves If we maintain the same level of production year over year the

depreciation depletion and amortization expense may be significantly different if our estimate of remaining

reserves changes significantly Proceeds from the sale of properties are accounted for as reductions of capitalized

costs unless such sales involve significant change in the relationship between costs and proved reserves in

which case gain or loss is recognized The costs of unproved properties are excluded from amortization until

the properties are evaluated We review all of our unevaluated properties quarterly to determine whether or not

and to what extent proved reserves have been assigned to the properties and otherwise if impairment has

occurred Unevaluated properties are grouped by major producing area where individual property costs are not

significant and are assessed individually when individual costs are significant

We review the carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties under the full-cost accounting rules of the

Securities and Exchange Commission on quarterly basis This quarterly review is referred to as ceiling test

Under the ceiling test capitalized costs less accumulated amortization and related deferred income taxes may

not exceed an amount equal to the sum of the present value of estimated future net revenues adjusted for cash

flow hedges less estimated future expenditures to be incurred in developing and producing the proved reserves

less any related income tax effects As of December 31 2008 capitalized costs of natural
gas

and oil properties

exceeded the estimated present value of future net revenues from our proved reserves net of related income tax

considerations resulting in write-down in the carrying value of natural gas and oil properties of $2.8 billion In

calculating future net revenues current prices and costs used are those as of the end of the appropriate quarterly

period Such prices are utilized except where different prices are fixed and determinable from applicable

contracts for the remaining term of those contracts including the effects of derivatives qualifying as cash flow

hedges Based on spot prices for natural gas and oil as of December 31 2008 these cash flow hedges increased

the full-cost ceiling by $1.024 billion thereby reducing the ceiling test write-down by the same amount

Two primary factors impacting this test are reserve levels and current prices and their associated impact on

the present value of estimated future net revenues Revisions to estimates of natural gas and oil reserves and/or

an increase or decrease in prices can have material impact on the present value of estimated future net revenues
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Any excess of the net book value less deferred income taxes is generally written off as an expense Under SEC

regulations the excess above the ceiling is not expensed or is reduced if subsequent to the end of the period
but prior to the release of the financial statements natural gas and oil prices increase sufficiently such that an

excess above the ceiling would have been eliminated or reduced if the increased prices were used in the

calculations

The process of estimating natural gas and oil reserves is very complex requiring significant decisions in the

evaluation of available geological geophysical engineering and economic data The data for given property

may also change substantially over time as result of numerous factors including additional development

activity evolving production history and continual reassessment of the viability of production under changing

economic conditions As result material revisions to existing reserve estimates occur from time to time

Although every reasonable effort is made to ensure that reserve estimates reported represent the most accurate

assessments possible the subjective decisions and variances in available data for various properties increase the

likelihood of significant changes in these estimates

Our internal petroleum reservoir engineers evaluated and estimated all of our proved reserves as of

December 31 2008 and independent petroleum engineers audited approximately 76% of our estimated proved

reserves by volume In addition our internal engineers review and update our reserves on quarterly basis All

reserve estimates are prepared based upon review of production histories and other geologic economic

ownership and engineering data we developed Additional information about our 2008 year-end reserve

evaluation is included under Natural Gas and Oil Reserves in Item Business

Income Taxes As part of the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements we are required to

estimate the federal and state income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which Chesapeake operates This

process involves estimating the actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences

resulting from differing treatment of items such as derivative instruments depreciation depletion and

amortization and certain accrued liabilities for tax and accounting purposes These differences and our net

operating loss carryforwards result in deferred tax assets and liabilities which are included in our consolidated

balance sheet We must then assess using all available positive and negative evidence the likelihood that the

deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income If we believe that recovery is not likely we
must establish valuation allowance Generally to the extent Chesapeake establishes valuation allowance or

increases or decreases this allowance in period we must include an expense or reduction of expense within the

tax provision in the consolidated statement of operations

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes an enterprise

must use judgment in considering the relative impact of negative and positive evidence The weight given to the

potential effect of negative and positive evidence should be commensurate with the extent to which it can be

objectively verified The more negative evidence that exists the more positive evidence is
necessary and

the more difficult it is to support conclusion that valuation allowance is not needed for some portion or all

of the deferred tax asset Among the more significant types of evidence that we consider are

taxable income projections in future years

whether the carryforward period is so brief that it would limit realization of tax benefits

future sales and operating cost projections that will produce more than enough taxable income to

realize the deferred tax asset based on existing sales prices and cost structures and

our earnings history exclusive of the loss that created the future deductible amount coupled with

evidence indicating that the loss is an aberration rather than continuing condition

If natural gas and oil prices were to decrease significantly below present levels and if such decreases

were considered other than temporary exploration drilling and operating costs were to increase significantly

beyond current levels or we were confronted with any other significantly negative evidence pertaining to our
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ability to realize our NOL carryforwards prior to their expiration we may be required to provide valuation

allowance against our deferred tax assets As of December 31 2008 we had deferred tax assets of $347 million

FASB Interpretation FIN No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an Interpretation of FASB

Statement No 109 provides guidance for recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions as defined in SFAS

No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes FIN 48 prescribes threshold condition that tax position must meet for

any of the benefit of the uncertain tax position to be recognized in the financial statements Guidance is also

provided regarding de-recognition classification and disclosure of these uncertain tax positions Based on this

guidance we regularly analyze tax positions taken or expected to be taken in tax return based on the threshold

condition prescribed under FIN 48 Tax positions that do not meet or exceed this threshold condition are

considered uncertain tax positions We accrue interest related to these uncertain tax positions which is recognized

in interest expense Penalties if any related to uncertain tax positions would be recorded in other expenses

Additional information about uncertain tax positions appears in Income Taxes in Item Business

Accounting frr Business Combinations Our business has grown substantially through acquisitions and our

business strategy is to continue to pursue acquisitions as opportunities arise We have accounted for all of our

business combinations using the purchase method which is the only method permitted under SFAS 141

Accounting for Business Combinations The accounting for business combinations is complicated and involves

the use of significant judgment

Under the purchase method of accounting business combination is accounted for at its purchase price

based upon the fair value of the consideration given whether in the form of cash assets stock or the assumption

of liabilities The assets and liabilities acquired are measured at their fair values and the purchase price is

allocated to the assets and liabilities based upon these fair values The excess of the cost of an acquired entity if

any over the net of the amounts assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recognized as goodwill

The excess of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the cost of an acquired entity if any

is allocated as pro rata reduction of the amounts that otherwise would have been assigned to certain acquired

assets

Determining the fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired involves the use of judgment since some of

the assets and liabilities acquired do not have fair values that are readily determinable Different techniques may be

used to determine fair values including market prices where available appraisals comparisons to transactions for

similar assets and liabilities and present value of estimated future cash flows among others Since these estimates

involve the use of significant judgment they can change as new information becomes available

We believe that the consideration we have paid for our natural gas
and oil property acquisitions has

represented the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired at the time of purchase Consequently we have not

recognized any goodwill from any of our natural gas and oil property acquisitions nor do we expect to recognize

goodwill from similar business combinations that we may complete in the future

Disclosures About Effects of Transactions with Related Parties

Since Chesapeake was founded in 1989 our CEO Aubrey McClendon has acquired working interests in

virtually all of our natural gas and oil properties by participating in our drilling activities under the terms of the

Founder Well Participation Program FWPP and predecessor participation arrangements provided for in

Mr McClendons employment agreements Under the FWPP approved by our shareholders in June 2005

Mr McClendon may elect to participate in all or none of the wells drilled by or on behalf of Chesapeake during

calendar year but he is not allowed to participate only in selected wells participation election is required to be

received by the Compensation Committee of Chesapeakes Board of Directors not less than 30 days prior to the

start of each calendar year His participation is permitted only under the terms outlined in the FWPP which

among other things limits his individual participation to maximum working interest of 2.5% in well and

prohibits participation in situations where Chesapeakes working interest would be reduced below 12.5% as

result of his participation In addition the company is reimbursed for costs associated with leasehold acquired by

Mr McClendon as result of his well participation
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On December 31 2008 we entered into new five-year employment agreement with Mr McClendon that

contained one-time well cost incentive award to him The total cost of the award to Chesapeake was $75
million plus employment taxes in the amount of approximately $1 million We will recognize the incentive

award as general and administrative expense over the five-year vesting period for the clawback described below

resulting in an expense of approximately $15 million per year beginning in 2009 In addition to state and federal

income tax withholding similar employment taxes were imposed on Mr McClendon and withheld from the

award The net incentive award of approximately $44 million can only be applied against costs attributable to

interests in company wells acquired by Mr McClendon or his affiliates under the FWPP The incentive award is

subject to clawback if during the initial five-year term of the employment agreement Mr McClendon resigns
from the company or is terminated for cause by the company Upon receipt of the companys monthly invoice for

joint interest billings in mid-January 2009 Mr McClendon elected to apply approximately $19 million of the

drilling credit against his December 2008 FWPP joint interest billings leaving $25 million available as credit

against future billings Based on our current development plans and Mr McClendons election under the FWPP
to participate with 2.5% working interest during 2009 the well costs under the FWPP are expected to exceed

the amount of the entire FWPP credit in early 2009 We refer you to the discussion of the FWPP and

Mr McClendons employment agreement contained in our proxy statement for our 2009 annual meeting of

shareholders which discussion is incorporated by reference in Part III of this
report

As disclosed in Note 14 in 2008 Chesapeake had revenues of $1.3 billion from natural
gas and oil sales to

Eagle Energy Partners L.P former affiliated entity We sold our 33% limited partnership interest in Eagle

Energy in June 2007

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

The FASB recently issued the following standards which were reviewed by Chesapeake to determine the

potential impact on our financial statements upon adoption

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Noncontrolling interests in Consolidated Financial

Statements an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No 51 This statement requires an entity to

separately disclose non-controlling interests as separate component of equity in the balance sheet and clearly

identify on the face of the income statement net income related to non-controlling interests This statement is

effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning after December 15 2008 The adoption of this

statement will not have material impact on our financial position results of operations or cash flows

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141R Business Combinations This statement requires

assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be measured at fair value as of the acquisition date acquisition-related

costs incurred prior to the acquisition to be expensed and contractual contingencies to be recognized at fair value

as of the acquisition date This statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning

after December 15 2008 We will comply with this statement prospectively in accounting for future business

combinations

In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 161 Disclosures about Derivative instruments and Hedging
Activities an amendment of FASB Statement No 133 This statement changes the disclosure requirements for

derivative instruments and hedging activities The statement requires that objectives for using derivative

instruments be disclosed in terms of underlying risk and accounting designation This statement is effective for

financial statements issued for fiscal
years and interim periods beginning after November 15 2008 This

statement will not have material impact on our financial disclosures

In May 2008 the FASB issued FSP APB 14-1 Accounting for Convertible Debt instruments That May Be
Settled in Cash Upon Conversion Including Partial Cash Settlement FSP APB 14-I clarifies that convertible

debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon either mandatory or optional conversion including partial cash

settlement are not addressed by paragraph 12 of APB Opinion No 14 Accounting jr Convertible Debt and
Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants The accounting prescribed by FSP APB 14-I increases the amount of
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interest expense required to be recognized with respect to such instruments and thus lowers reported net income

and net income per share of issuers of such instruments Issuers must account for the liability and equity

components of the instrument separately and in manner that reflects interest expense at the interest rate of

similar nonconvertible debt We have three debt series that will be affected by the guidance our 2.75%

Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2035 our 2.5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2037 and our

2.25% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 This staff position is effective for financial statements

issued for fiscal years
and interim periods beginning

after December 15 2008 and must be applied on

retrospective basis The initial adoption of FSP APB 14-1 is expected to decrease the carrying value of our

Contingent Convertible Senior Notes by approximately $1 billion increase shareholders equity by

approximately $600 million and increase deferred tax liabilities by approximately $400 million In addition we

currently estimate that we will record additional non-cash interest expense which will reduce our pre-tax income

by approximately $80 million and reduce net income by approximately $50 million for the year ended

December 31 2009

In June 2008 the FASB issued FSP Emerging Issues Task Force EITF No 03-6-1 Determining Whether

Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities FSP EITF 03-6-1

addresses whether instruments granted
in share-based payments transactions are participating securities prior to

vesting and therefore need to be included in the earnings allocation in calculating earnings per share under the

two-class method described in SFAS No 128 Earnings per
Share FSP EITF No 03-6-1 requires companies to

treat unvested share-based payment awards that have non-forfeitable rights to dividend or dividend equivalents as

separate class of securities in calculating earnings per
share FSP EITF No 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years

beginning after December 15 2008 earlier application is not permitted FSP EITF No 03-6-1 could be

applicable to us but we have no current transactions that would be affected

In October 2008 the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-3 Determining the Fair Value of Financial Asset When

the Market That Asset Is Not Active FSP FAS 157-3 clarifies the application of FASB statement No 157

Fair Value Measurements in market that is not active and provides an example to illustrate key considerations

in determining the fair value of financial asset when the market for that financial asset is not active This FSP

could be applicable to us but we currently have no financial assets of this type

On December 31 2008 the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC adopted major revisions to its rules

governing oil and gas company reporting requirements
These include provisions that permit the use of new

technologies to determine proved reserves and that allow companies to disclose their probable and possible

reserves to investors The current rules limit disclosure to only proved reserves The new disclosure requirements

also require companies to report the independence and qualifications of the person primarily responsible for the

preparation or audit of reserve estimates and to file reports
when third party

is relied upon to prepare or audit

reserves estimates The new rules also require that oil and gas reserves be reported and the full-cost ceiling value

calculated using an average price based upon the prior 12-month period The new oil and gas reporting

requirements are effective for annual reports on Form 10-K for fiscal years ending on or after December 31

2009 with early adoption not permitted We are in the process of assessing the impact of these new requirements

on our financial position
results of operations

and financial disclosures

Forward-Looking Statements

This report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act

of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Forward-looking statements give our current

expectations or forecasts of future events They include estimates of natural gas
and oil reserves expected natural

gas and oil production and future expenses assumptions regarding future natural gas and oil prices planned

capital expenditures and anticipated asset acquisitions and sales as well as statements concerning anticipated

cash flow and liquidity business strategy and other plans and objectives for future operations Disclosures

concerning the fair values of derivative contracts and their estimated contribution to our future results of

operations are based upon market information as of specific date These market prices are subject to significant

volatility

57



Although we believe the expectations and forecasts reflected in these and other forward-looking statements

are reasonable we can give no assurance they will prove to have been correct They can be affected by inaccurate

assumptions or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties Factors that could cause actual results to differ

materially from expected results are described under Risk Factors in Item 1A of this report and include

the volatility of natural gas and oil prices

the limitations our level of indebtedness may have on our financial flexibility

impacts the current financial crisis may have on our business and financial condition

declines in the values of our natural gas and oil properties resulting in ceiling test write-downs

the availability of capital on an economic basis including planned asset monetization transactions to

fund reserve replacement costs

our ability to replace reserves and sustain production

uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of natural gas and oil reserves and projecting future rates

of production and the timing of development expenditures

exploration and development drilling that does not result in commercially productive reserves

leasehold terms expiring before production can be established

hedging activities resulting in lower prices realized on natural gas and oil sales and the need to secure

hedging liabilities

uncertainties in evaluating natural gas and oil reserves of acquired properties and potential liabilities

the negative effect lower natural gas and oil prices could have on our ability to borrow

drilling and operating risks including potential environmental liabilities

transportation capacity constraints and interruptions that could adversely affect our cash flow

adverse effects of governmental and environmental regulation and

losses possible from pending or future litigation

We caution you not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements which speak only as of the

date of this report and we undertake no obligation to update this information We
urge you to carefully review

and consider the disclosures made in this report and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission that attempt to advise interested parties of the risks and factors that may affect our business

ITEM 7A Quantitative and Qualikitive Disclosures About Market Risk

Natural Gas and Oil Hedging Activities

Our results of operations and operating cash flows are impacted by changes in market prices for natural gas
and oil To mitigate portion of the exposure to adverse market changes we have entered into various derivative

instruments As of December 31 2008 our natural gas and oil derivative instruments were comprised of swaps
basis protection swaps knockout swaps cap-swaps call options put options and collars These instruments

allow us to predict with greater certainty the effective natural gas and oil prices to be received for our hedged
production Although derivatives often fail to achieve 100% effectiveness for accounting purposes we believe

our derivative instruments continue to be highly effective in achieving the risk management objectives for which

they were intended

For swap instruments Chesapeake receives fixed price for the hedged commodity and pays floating

market price to the counterparty The fixed-price payment and the floating-price payment are netted

resulting in net amount due to or from the counterparty
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Basis protection swaps are arrangements that guarantee price differential for natural gas or oil from

specified delivery point For Mid-Continent basis protection swaps which typically have negative

differentials to NYMEX Chesapeake receives payment from the counterparty if the price differential

is greater than the stated terms of the contract and pays the counterparty if the price differential is less

than the stated terms of the contract For Appalachian Basin basis protection swaps which typically

have positive differentials to NYMEX Chesapeake receives payment from the counterparty if the

price differential is less than the stated terms of the contract and pays the counterparty if the price

differential is greater than the stated terms of the contract

For knockout swaps Chesapeake receives fixed price and pays floating market price The fixed

price received by Chesapeake includes premium in exchange for the possibility to reduce the

counterparty exposure to zero in any given month if the floating market price is lower than certain

pre-determined knockout prices

For cap-swaps Chesapeake receives fixed price and pays floating market price The fixed price

received by Chesapeake includes premium in exchange for cap limiting the counterparty

exposure In other words there is no limit to Chesapeakes exposure but there is limit to the downside

exposure
of the counterparty

For call options Chesapeake receives premium from the counterparty in exchange for the sale of

call option If the market price exceeds the fixed price of the call option Chesapeake pays the

counterparty such excess If the market price settles below the fixed price of the call option no

payment is due from Chesapeake

For put options Chesapeake receives premium from the counterparty in exchange for the sale of put

option If the market price falls below the fixed price of the put option Chesapeake pays
the

counterparty such shortfall If the market price settles above the fixed price of the put option no

payment is due from Chesapeake

Collars contain fixed floor price put and ceiling price call If the market price exceeds the call

strike price or falls below the put strike price Chesapeake receives the fixed price and pays the market

price If the market price is between the call and the put strike price no payments are due from either

party

Chesapeake enters into counter-swaps from time to time for the purpose of locking-in the value of swap

Under the counter-swap Chesapeake receives floating price for the hedged commodity and pays
fixed price

to the counterparty The counter-swap is 100% effective in locking-in the value of swap since subsequent

changes in the market value of the swap are entirely offset by subsequent changes in the market value of the

counter-swap We refer to this locked-in value as locked swap Generally at the time Chesapeake enters into

counter-swap Chesapeake removes the original swaps designation as cash flow hedge and classifies the

original swap as non-qualifying hedge under SFAS 133 The reason for this new designation is that collectively

the swap and the counter-swap no longer hedge the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows Instead

the swap and counter-swap effectively lock-in specific gain or loss that will be unaffected by subsequent

variability in natural gas
and oil prices Any locked-in gain or loss is recorded in accumulated other

comprehensive income and reclassified to natural gas and oil sales in the month of related production

In accordance with FASB Interpretation No 39 to the extent that legal right of set-off exists Chesapeake

nets the value of its derivative arrangements with the same counterparty in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets

Gains or losses from certain derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to natural gas and oil sales

on the consolidated statements of operations Realized gains losses are included in natural gas and oil sales in

the month of related production Pursuant to SFAS 133 certain derivatives do not qualify for designation as cash

flow hedges Changes in the fair value of these non-qualifying derivatives that occur prior to their maturity i.e

temporary fluctuations in value are reported currently in the consolidated statements of operations as unrealized

gains losses within natural gas and oil sales Following provisions of SFAS 133 changes in the fair value of
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derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges to the extent they are effective in offsetting cash flows

attributable to the hedged risk are recorded in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized

in earnings Any change in fair value resulting from ineffectiveness is recognized currently in natural
gas and oil

sales as unrealized gains losses The components of natural gas and oil sales for the years ended December 31
2008 2007 and 2006 are presented below

Natural Gas bbtu
Swaps

QI 2009

Q2 2009

Q3 2X9

Q4 2009

2010

2011

Collars

QI 2009

Q2 2009

Q3 2009

Q4 2009

Knockout Swaps

QI 2009

Q22009

Q3 2009

Q4 2009

2010

2011

2012

Basis Protection Swaps

Mid-Continent

QI 2009

Q2 2009

Q3 2009

Q4 2009

2011

20122018

Basis Protection Swaps

Appalachian Basin
2009

2010

2011

20122022

Other Swaps

QI 2009

Q2 2009

Q32009
Q4 2009

2010

2011

Weighted

Average
Fixed

Price to be

Volume Received

26873

16457

16821

16953

45090

57961

16913

10199

12086
34

Weighted

Average

__________ __________
Differential

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No
No
No

No

No

No
No
No

No

No

No

No

No

No
No

No

-.- No

Fair

Value at

December 31
2008

in millions

$169

148

138

121

250

27

28

31

31

17

25

18

II

13

10

19

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

Natural
gas and oil sales $7069 $4795 $3870

Realized gains losses on natural
gas and oil derivatives 1203 1254

Unrealized gains losses on non-qualifying natural gas and oil

derivatives 887 252 184

Unrealized gains losses on ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges 90 122 311

Total natural gas and oil sales $7858 $5624 $5619

As of December 31 2008 we had the following open natural gas and oil derivative instruments including
derivatives assumed through our acquisition of CNR in November 2005 designed to hedge portion of our

natural gas and oil production for periods after December 2008

Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Put Call

Fixed Fixed

Price Price

Net

SEAS 133 Premiums

Hedge in millions

8.17

8.39

8.47

8.42

9.74

8.5

81760

57518

59114

72584

98249

23725

14.580

l729

20520

16290

9150

2730

2760

39970

321150

1386X
83t0

7.63 8.98

7.50 8.36

7.50 8.35

7.50 8.35

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

0.09

8.52

8.64

9.79

9.78

9.74

9.60

6.03

6X
6.00

6.30

6.23

6.3

6.50

14

06

16

0.47
0.27
0.27

0.27
0.64
t.62

0.28 No

0.26 No
0.25 No
0.11 No

45X
4550

46X
46X

3285
45X

10.14

9.86

9.94

10.24

9.89

8.73

60



Call Options

QI 2009

Q22009

Q3 2009

Q4 2009

2010

2011

20122017

Put Options

2109

2010

Other Collars

QI 2009

Q2 2009

Q3 2009

Q4 2109

2010

2011

2012 2020

CNR Swaps

QI 2009

Q2 29
Q3 2009

Q4 2X9

CNR Collars

209

Total Natural Gas

Oil mbbls
Knockout Swaps

QI 2X9

Q2 2X9

Q3 2009

Q4 2009

2010

2011

2012

Cap Swaps

QI 2009

Q2 2X9

Other Swaps

Ql 2009

Q2 2X9

Counter Swaps

QI 2009

Q2 209

Q3 2X9

Q4 2X9

Call Options

2009

2010

2011

2112

Other Collars

2010

Total Oil

Total Natural Gas and

Oil

5.18

5.18

5.18

5.18

9X 86.25

910 86.25

84 67.79

819 67X
230 69.10

230 69.10

No

No

No
No

No 21

No 21

No 58

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No
No

No
No

No
No

No
No

No
No

14
58
59
38

18

73

103

90

42

29

13

53

1282

34

29

16
II

20

23

$1305

These include options to extend an existing swap for an additional 12 months at 5000 mmbtu/day at $8.73/mmbtu The options are

callable by the counterparty in March 2009 and March 2010 and 440X mmbtu/day at $1l.35/mmhtu callable by the counterparty in

December 2109

We assumed certain liabilities related to open derivative positions in Connection with our acquisition of Columbia Natural Resources

Lif in November 2105 In accordance with SFAS 141 these derivative positions were recorded at fair value in the purchase price

Weighted

Average
Fixed

Price to be

Volume Received

Weighted
Fair

Weighted Average
Value at

Average Call Weighted Net December 31

Put Fixed Fixed Average SFAS 133 Premiums 2008

Price Price Differential Hedge in millions in millions

9.95

9.59

9.54

9.69

10.77

10.59

11.29

No $30
No 28

No 29

No 28

No 223

No 153

No 57

5.75 No

5.75 No

5.24/7.95

5.24/6.99

5.24/6.98

5.39/7.28

6.00/7.71

6.00/7.57

510/7.08

20355

27765

27160

2898
231775

138700

7682

365X
365X

35550

81135

85060

44860

25550

25550

87680

45X
4550

46X
46X

3650

855

865

1978

1978

4745

1095

732

9.90

9.18

9.16

9.49

11.46

10.69

l.20

670

80.35

80.43

83.10

83.05

90.25

104.75

109.50

4.50 6.00

55.95

55.95

58.2

58.21

60X
60X
60X

50X
50X

180 67.51

182 67.50

No

No

No
No

5110 101.79

6935 107.86

3650 185.00

3660 185.00

730 90.00/80X 136.40

No
No 10
No 36

No 37

No

66

$736
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allocation as liability of $592 million $45 million liability remaining as of December 31 2008 The recognition of the derivative

liability and other assumed liabilities resulted in an increase in the total purchase price which was allocated to the assets acquired
Because of this accounting treatment only cash settlements for changes in fair value subsequent to the acquisition date for the derivative

positions assumed result in adjustments to our natural gas and oil revenues upon settlement For example if the fair value of the

derivative positions assumed does not change then upon the sale of the underlying production and corresponding settlement of the

derivative positions cash would be paid to the counterparties and there would be no adjustment to natural gas and oil revenues related to
the derivative positions If however the actual sales price is different from the price assumed in the original fair value calculation the

difference would be reflected as either decrease or increase in natural gas and oil revenues depending upon whether the sales price was
higher or lower respectively than the prices assumed in the original fair value calculation For accounting purposes the net effect of
these acquired hedges is that we hedged the production volumes at market prices on the date of our acquisition of CNR

Pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 149 Amendment of SFAS 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities the derivative instruments assumed in connection with the CNR acquisition are deemed to contain significant financing
element and all cash flows associated with these positions are reported as financing activity in the statement of cash flows for the periods
in which settlement occurs

We have established the fair value of our derivative instruments utilizing established index prices volatility

curves and discount factors These estimates are compared to our counterparty values for reasonableness

Derivative transactions are also subject to the risk that counterparties will be unable to meet their obligations
Such non-performance risk is considered in the valuation of our derivative instruments but to date has not had
material impact on the values of our derivatives The values we report in our financial statements are as of point
in time and subsequently change as these estimates are revised to reflect actual results changes in market

conditions and other factors

Based upon the market prices at December 31 2008 we expect to transfer approximately $345 million net
of income taxes of the gain included in the balance in accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings

during the next twelve months in the related month of production All transactions hedged as of December 31
2008 are expected to mature by December 31 2022

Additional information concerning the fair value of our natural gas and oil derivative instruments is as

follows

2008 2007 2006

in millions

Fair value of contracts outstanding as of January 369 345 946
Change in fair value of contracts 1880 972 3423
Fair value of contracts when entered into 569 295 32
Contracts realized or otherwise settled 1203 1254
Fair value of contracts when closed 354 188 846
Fair value of contracts outstanding as of December 31 $1305 369 345

The change in the fair value of our derivative instruments since January 2008 resulted from new contracts

entered into the settlement of derivatives for realized gain as well as decrease in natural gas and oil prices
Derivative instruments reflected as current in the consolidated balance sheet represent the estimated fair value of

derivative instrument settlements scheduled to occur over the subsequent twelve-month period based on market

prices for natural gas and oil as of the consolidated balance sheet date The derivative settlement amounts are not

due and payable until the month in which the related underlying hedged transaction occurs
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Interest Rate Risk

The table below presents principal cash flows and related weighted average interest rates by expected

maturity dates As of December 31 2008 the fair value of the fixed-rate long-term debt has been estimated based

on quoted market prices

Years of Maturity

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total

in millions

Liabilities

Long-term debt fixed-rate 864 9260 10124

Average interest rate 7.6 5.4 5.6

Long-term debt variable rate 3474 460 3934

Average interest rate 1.8 3.0 2.0

This amount does not include the discount included in long-term debt of $85 million and interest rate

derivatives of $211 million

Changes in interest rates affect the amount of interest we earn on our cash cash equivalents and short-term

investments and the interest rate we pay on borrowings under our revolving bank credit facility All of our other

long-term indebtedness is fixed rate and therefore does not expose us to the risk of earnings or cash flow loss

due to changes in market interest rates However changes in interest rates do affect the fair value of our debt

Interest Rate Derivatives

We use interest rate derivatives to mitigate our exposure to the volatility in interest rates For interest rate

derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges in accordance with SFAS 133 changes in fair value are

recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as assets liabilities and the debts carrying value amount is

adjusted by the change in the fair value of the debt subsequent to the initiation of the derivative Changes in the

fair value of derivative instruments not qualifying as fair value hedges are recorded currently as adjustments to

interest expense

Gains or losses from interest rate derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to interest expense in

the consolidated statements of operations Realized gains losses included in interest expense were $6 million

$1 million and $2 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Pursuant to SFAS 133 certain derivatives do

not qualify for designation as fair value hedges Changes in the fair value of these non-qualifying derivatives that

occur prior to their maturity i.e temporary fluctuations in value are reported currently in the consolidated

statements of operations as unrealized gains losses within interest expense Unrealized gains losses included

in interest expense were $85 million $40 million and $2 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively
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As of December 31 2008 the following interest rate derivatives were outstanding

Notional Weighted Weighted Net Fair

Amount Average Average Fair Premiums Value
in Fixed Floating Value in in

millions Rate Rate Hedge millions millions

Fixed to Floating Interest Rate

Swaps

January 2008 November 2020 $750 6.75% mL plus 224 hp Yes

Call Options

February 2009 May 2009 $750 6.75% ml
plus 224 hp No II 105

Swaption

January 2009 $250 6.50% mL plus 2tX hp No

Floating to Fixed Interest Rate

Swaps

August 207 August 2010 $825 4.74% mL No 27
Collars

August2007 August 2010 $8X 4.52% mL No 35
Swaption

August 2009 $5X 2.56% mL No 10

$19 $62

The collars have ceiling and floor fixed interest rates of 5.37% and 4.52% respectively

Month LIBOR has been abbreviated mLand basis points has been abbreviated bp

In 2008 we closed interest rate derivatives for gains totaling $110 million of which $30 million was

recognized in interest expense The remaining $80 million was from interest rate derivatives designated as fair

value hedges and the settlement amounts received will be amortized as reduction to interest expense over the

remaining term of the related senior notes ranging from five to twelve years

Foreign Currency Derivatives

On December 2006 we issued 600 million of 6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due
2017 Concurrent with the issuance of the Euro-denominated senior notes we entered into cross currency swap
to mitigate our exposure to fluctuations in the euro relative to the dollar over the term of the notes Under the

terms of the cross currency swap on each semi-annual interest payment date the counterparties will pay
Chesapeake 19 million and Chesapeake will pay the counterparties $30 million which will yield an annual

dollar-equivalent interest rate of 7.491% Upon maturity of the notes the counterparties will pay Chesapeake
600 million and Chesapeake will pay the counterparties $800 million The terms of the cross currency swap
were based on the dollar/euro exchange rate on the issuance date of $1.3325 to 1.00 Through the cross currency

swap we have eliminated any potential variability in Chesapeakes expected cash flows related to changes in

foreign exchange rates and therefore the swap qualifies as cash flow hedge under SFAS 133 The euro-

denominated debt is recorded in notes payable $835 million at December 31 2008 using an exchange rate of

$l.3919 to 1.00 The fair value of the cross currency swap is recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as

liability of $77 million at December 31 2008
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MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

It is the responsibility of the management of Chesapeake Energy Corporation to establish and maintain

adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 3a- 15f under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 Management utilized the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commissions
Internal Control Integrated Framework COSO framework in conducting the required assessment of

effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting

Management has performed an assessment of the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over
financial reporting and has determined the Companys internal control over financial reporting was effective as
of December 31 2008

The effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 has
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in

their report which appears herein

Is AUBREY MCCLENDON

Aubrey McClendon

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Is MARCUS ROWLAND

Marcus Rowland

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Chesapeake Energy Corporation

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly in all

material respects the financial position of Chesapeake Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31

2008 and 2007 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31 2008 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America In addition in our opinion the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents

fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related

consolidated financial statements Also in our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects

effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on criteria established in

Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for these financial statements and financial

statement schedule for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of

the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in Managements Report on Internal

Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item Our responsibility is to express opinions on these

financial statements on the financial statement schedule and on the Companys internal control over financial

reporting based on our integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the

audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement

and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audits

of the financial statements included examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal control over

financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the

risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal

control based on the assessed risk Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iiiprovide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

Is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Tulsa Oklahoma

March 2009
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2008 2007

in millions

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1749

Accounts receivable 1324 1074

Short-term derivative instruments 1082 203

Inventory 58 87

Other 79 31

Total Current Assets 4292 1396

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Natural gas and oil properties at cost based on full-cost accounting

Evaluated natural gas and oil properties 28965 27656
Unevaluated properties 11216 5641

Less accumulated depreciation depletion and amortization of natural gas and oil

properties 11866 7112

Total natural gas and oil properties at cost based on full-cost accounting 28315 26185

Other property and equipment

Natural gas gathering systems and treating plants 2717 1135

Buildings and land 1513 816

Drilling rigs and equipment 430 106

Natural gas compressors 184 63

Other 482 327

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization of other
property and

equipment 496 295

Total Other Property and Equipment 4830 2152

Total Property and Equipment 33145 28337

OTHER ASSETS

Investments 444 612

Long-term derivative instruments 261

Other assets 302 385

Total Other Assets 1007 1001

TOTAL ASSETS 38444 $30734

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS Continued

December 31

2008 2007

in millions

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 1611 1262
Short-term derivative instruments 66 174

Accrued liabilities 880 712

Deferred income taxes 358
Income taxes payable 108

Revenues and royalties due others 431 433

Accrued interest 167 175

Total Current Liabilities 3621 2761

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term debt net 14184 10950
Deferred income tax liabilities 3763 3966
Asset retirement obligations 269 236

Long-term derivative instruments 111 408
Revenues and royalties due others 49 42

Other liabilities 150 241

Total Long-Term Liabilities 18526 15843

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS Note
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Preferred Stock $01 par value 20000000 shares authorized

4.50% cumulative convertible preferred stock 2558900 and 3450000 shares

issued and outstanding as of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

entitled in liquidation to $256 million and $345 million respectively 256 345

5.00% cumulative convertible preferred stock Series 2005B 2095615 and

5750000 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31 2008 and 2007
respectively entitled in liquidation to $209 million and $575 million

respectively 209 575
6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock 143768 shares issued and

outstanding as of December 31 2008 and 2007 entitled in liquidation to

$36 million 36 36
4.125% cumulative convertible preferred stock 3033 and 3062 shares issued and

outstanding as of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively entitled in

liquidation to $3 million

5.00% cumulative convertible preferred stock Series 2005 5000 shares issued

and outstanding as of December 31 2008 and 2007 entitled in liquidation to

$1 million

Common Stock $.01
par value 750000000 shares authorized 607953437 and

511648217 shares issued December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Paid-in capital 10835 7032
Retained earnings 4694 4150
Accumulated other comprehensive income loss net of tax of $163 million and $6

million respectively 267 11
Less treasury stock at cost 657276 and 500821 common shares as of December 31

2008 and 2007 respectively 10
Total Stockholders Equity 16297 12130

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY $38444 $30734

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions except per share data

REVENUES
Natural gas and oil sales 7858 5624 $5619

Natural gas and oil marketing sales 3598 2040 1577

Service operations revenue 173 136 130

Total Revenues 11629 7800 7326

OPERATING COSTS
Production expenses

889 640 490

Production taxes 284 216 176

General and administrative expenses
377 243 139

Natural
gas

and oil marketing expenses 3505 1969 1522

Service operations expense 143 94 68

Natural gas and oil depreciation depletion and amortization 1970 1835 1359

Depreciation and amortization of other assets 177 154 104

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties and other fixed assets 2830

Employee retirement expense
55

Total Operating Costs 10175 5151 3913

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 1454 2649 3413

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Interest and other income 11 15 26

Interest expense 314 406 301
Gain on exchanges or repurchases of Chesapeake debt 237

Impairment of investments 180
Gain on sale of investments 83 117

Total Other Income Expense 268 308 158

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 1186 2341 3255

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Current 423 29

Deferred 40 861 1247

Total Income Tax Expense 463 890 1252

NET INCOME 723 1451 2003

PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS 33 94 89
LOSS ON CONVERSION/EXCHANGE OF PREFERRED STOCK 67 128 10

NET INCOME AVAILABLE TO COMMON SHAREHOLDERS 623 1229 $1904

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
Basic 1.16 2.69 4.78

Assuming dilution 1.14 2.62 4.35

CASH DIVIDEND DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE $0.2925 $0.2625 0.23

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON AND COMMON EQUIVALENT
SHARES OUTSTANDING in millions

Basic 536 456 398

Assuming dilution 545 487 459

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NET INCOME
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME TO CASH PROVIDED BY

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Depreciation depletion and amortization

Deferred income taxes

Unrealized gains losses on derivatives

Realized gains losses on financing derivatives

Stock-based compensation
Gain on sale of investments

Loss income from equity investments

Gain on repurchases or exchanges of Chesapeake senior notes

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties and other fixed assets

Impairment of investments

Other

Increase decrease in accounts receivable

Increase decrease in inventory and other assets

Increase decrease in accounts payable accrued liabilities and other

Increase decrease in current and non-current revenues and royalties due others

Cash provided by operating activities

Cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term borrowings

Payments on long-term borrowings

Proceeds from issuance of senior notes net of offering costs

Proceeds from issuance of common stock net of offering costs

Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock net of offering costs

Cash paid to purchase Chesapeake senior notes

Cash paid for common stock dividends

Cash paid for preferred stock dividends

Cash paid for treasury stock

Derivative settlements

Net increase decrease in outstanding payments in excess of cash balance

Cash received from exercise of stock options

Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation

Other financing costs

Cash provided by financing activities

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 1749

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

723 1451 2003

2147 1989
40 861

712 415

38 92
132 84

83
38

237
2830

180

78 192
56 65
76 430

126

5236 4932

1463

1247

497
136

84

117
10

22
126

1025

74
4843

CASH FLOWS FROM IN VESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of natural gas and oil companies proved and unproved properties net of cash

acquired

Exploration and development of natural gas and oil properties

Additions to other property and equipment

Additions to investments

Divestitures of proved and unproved properties and leasehold

Proceeds from sale of volumetric production payments
Proceeds from sale of compressors
Proceeds from sale of drilling rigs and equipment
Proceeds from sale of investments

Acquisition of trucking company net of cash acquired

Deposits for acquisitions

Sale of other assets

8472 2961 3960
6104 5305 3779
3073 1439 987

74 554
6091

1579 1089
114 188

64 369 244

124 159

45
12 15 22
41 36

9844 7922 8942

13291 7932 8370

11307 6160 8264
2136 1607 1755

2598 1759
558

312
148 115 87
35 95 88

86
167 91 87
330 98 70

15 73

43 20 88

77 27 19
6356 2988 4042

1748 57
60

____ 1$
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Continued

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION OF CASH
PAYMENTS FOR

Interest net of capitalized interest $218 $315 $273

Income taxes net of refunds received $296 55

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

As of December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 dividends payable on our common and preferred stock were $50

million $53 million and $53 million respectively

In 2008 2007 and 2006 natural gas and oil properties were adjusted by $13 million $131 million and $180

million respectively for net income tax liabilities related to acquisitions

During 2008 2007 and 2006 natural gas
and oil properties were adjusted by $4 million $97 million and

$85 million respectively as result of an increase decrease in accrued exploration and development costs

During 2008 2007 and 2006 other property and equipment were adjusted by $125 million $3 million and

$11 million respectively as result in an increase decrease in accrued costs

We recorded non-cash asset additions to net natural gas
and oil properties of $10 million $29 million and

$23 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively for asset retirement obligations

In 2008 holders of certain of our contingent convertible senior notes exchanged or converted their senior

notes for shares of common stock in privately negotiated exchanges as summarized below in millions

Contingent Convertible Principal Number of

Senior Notes Amount Common Shares

2.75% due 2035 $239 8841526

2.50% due 2037 272 8416865

2.25% due 2038 254 6654821

$765 23913212

In 2008 we issued 1677000 shares of common stock valued at $34 million for the purchase of leasehold

and unproved properties pursuant to an acquisition shelf registration statement

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Continued

In 2008 2007 and 2006 shares of our cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged for or

converted into shares of common stock as summarized below

Cumulative

Year of Convertible Number of Number of Type of

Exchange/Conversion Preferred Stock Preferred Shares Common Shares Transaction

2008 5.0% Series 2005B 3654385 10443642 Exchange

4.5% 891100 2227750 Exchange

4.125% 29 1743 Conversion

12673135

2007 5.0% Series 2005 4595000 19283311 Exchange

6.25% 2156184 17367823 Exchange

6.25% 48 344 Conversion

4.125% 180 Conversion

36651658

2006 5.0% Series 2003 987321 6113009 Exchange

5.0% Series 2003 38625 235447 Conversion

4.125% 85995 5420720 Exchange

6.0% 99310 482694 Conversion

12251870

In 2006 we acquired 32% of the outstanding common stock of Chaparral Energy Inc for $240 million in

cash and 1375989 newly issued shares of our common stock valued at $40 million Chaparral is privately-held

independent natural gas and oil company headquartered in Oklahoma City Oklahoma

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

PREFERRED STOCK
Balance beginning of period

Issuance of 6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock

Exchange of common stock for 3654385 and shares of 5.00% preferred stock

Series 2005B

Exchange of conmion stock for 891100 and shares of 4.50% preferred stock

Exchange of common stock for 4595000 and shares of 5.00% preferred stock

Series 2005

Exchange of common stock for 2156232 and shares of 6.25% preferred stock

Exchange of common stock for 29 and 85995 shares of 4.125% preferred stock

Exchange of common stock for and 1025946 shares of 5.00% preferred stock

Series 2003

Exchange of common stock for and 99310 shares of 6.00% preferred stock

Balance end of period

COMMON STOCK
Balance beginning of period

Issuance of 517500000 and 58750000 shares of common stock

Issuance of 1677000 and shares of common stock for the purchase of leasehold

and unproved properties

Issuance of and 1375989 shares of common stock for the purchase of Chaparral

Energy Inc common stock

Exchange of 12673135 36651658 and 12251870 shares of common stock for

preferred stock

Exchange of 23913212 and shares of common stock for convertible notes

Exercise of stock options

Restricted stock grants

Balance end of period

PAID-IN CAPITAL

Balance beginning of period

Issuance of common stock

Issuance of common stock for the purchase of leasehold and unproved properties

Issuance of common stock for the purchase of Chaparral Energy Inc common
stock

Exchange of 23913212 and shares of common stock for convertible notes

Exchange of 12673135 36651658 and 12251870 shares of common stock for

preferred stock

Stock-based compensation

Adoption of SFAS 123R
Common stock offering expenses

Exercise of stock options

Release of and 6500000 shares from treasury stock upon exercise of stock

options

Tax benefit from exercise of stock options and restricted stock

Preferred stock conversion/exchange expenses

Balance end of period

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

7032 5873 3803

2697 1799

34

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

960 $1958 $1577

575

366
89

459
539

86

103

505 960 1958

40

480

454 998 193

188 129 100

89
101 58

15 73

75
43 20 88

10835 7032 5873
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY Continued

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

RETAINED EARNINGS

Balance beginning of period 4150 2913 1101
Net income 723 1451 2003
Dividends on common stock 158 121 96
Dividends on preferred stock 21 89 95
Adoption of F1N48

Balance end of period 4694 4150 2913

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
Balance beginning of period 11 528 195
Hedging activity 297 520 809

Marketable securities activity 19 19 86
Balance end of period 267 11 528

UNEARNED COMPENSATION
Balance beginning of period 89
Adoption of SFAS 123R 89

Balance end of period

TREASURY STOCK COMMON
Balance beginning of period 26 26
Purchase of 159430 and 2707471 shares of treasury stock 86
Release of and 6500000 shares upon exercise of stock options 75

Release of 2975 666186 and 361280 shares for company benefit plans 20 11

Balance end of period 10 26
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY $16297 $12130 $11251

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Net Income

Other comprehensive income loss net of income tax

Change in fair value of derivative instruments net of income taxes of

$113 million $56 million and 1.033 billion respectively

Reclassification of gain loss on settled contracts net of income taxes of

$35 million $308 million and $426 million respectively

Ineffective portion of derivatives qualifying for cash flow hedge

accounting net of income taxes of $34 million $46 million and

$116 million respectively

Unrealized gain on marketable securities net of income taxes of

$12 million $11 million and $8 million respectively

Reclassification of gain on sales of investments net of income taxes of

$0 $0 and $46 million respectively

Comprehensive income

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

723 $1451 $2003

186 92 1711

55 504 706

56 76 195

19 19 13

73

$1001 912 $2727

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Company

Chesapeake Energy Corporation Chesapeake or the company is natural gas and oil exploration and

production company engaged in the exploration development and acquisition of properties for the production of

natural gas and crude oil from underground reservoirs and we provide marketing and midstream services for

natural gas and oil for other working interest owners in properties we operate Our properties are located in

Alabama Arkansas Colorado Kansas Kentucky Louisiana Maryland Michigan Mississippi Montana
Nebraska New Mexico New York North Dakota Ohio Oklahoma Pennsylvania Tennessee Texas Utah

Virginia West Virginia and Wyoming

Principles of onsolida lion

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Chesapeake include the accounts of our direct and

indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been

eliminated

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of

revenues and expenses during the reporting periods Actual results could differ from those estimates

Cash Equivalents

For
purposes of the consolidated financial statements Chesapeake considers investments in all highly liquid

instruments with original maturities of three months or less at date of purchase to be cash equivalents

Accounts Receivable

Our accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers of natural gas and oil and exploration and production

companies which own interests in properties we operate This industry concentration has the potential to impact

our overall
exposure to credit risk either positively or negatively in that our customers may be similarly affected

by changes in economic industry or other conditions We generally require letters of credit for receivables from

customers which are judged to have sub-standard credit unless the credit risk can otherwise be mitigated

Accounts receivable consists of the following components

December 31

2008 2007

in millions

Natural gas and oil sales 738 798

Joint interest 424 175

Service operations 20 10

Related parties 18

Other
154 81

Allowance for doubtful accounts 12
Total accounts receivable $1324 $1074

See Note for discussion of related party transactions
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CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Natural Gas and Oil Properties

Chesapeake follows the full-cost method of accounting under which all costs associated with property

acquisition exploration and development activities are capitalized We capitalize internal costs that can be

directly identified with our acquisition exploration and development activities and do not include any costs

related to production general corporate overhead or similar activities see Note 10 Capitalized costs are

amortized on composite unit-of-production method based on proved natural gas
and oil reserves Estimates of

our proved reserves as of December 31 2008 were prepared by Chesapeakes internal staff Approximately 76%

of these proved reserves estimates by volume at year-end 2008 were audited by independent engineering firms

In addition our internal engineers review and update our reserves on quarterly basis The average composite

rates used for depreciation depletion and amortization were $2.34 per mcfe in 2008 $2.57 per mcfe in 2007 and

$2.35 per mcfe in 2006

Proceeds from the sale of properties are accounted for as reductions of capitalized costs unless such sales

involve significant change in the relationship between costs and the value of proved reserves or the underlying

value of unproved properties in which case gain or loss is recognized

The costs of unproved properties are excluded from amortization until the properties are evaluated We

review all of our unevaluated properties quarterly to determine whether or not and to what extent proved reserves

have been assigned to the properties and otherwise if impairment has occurred Unevaluated properties are

grouped by major prospect area where individual property costs are not significant and are assessed individually

when individual costs are significant

We review the carrying value of our natural gas and oil properties under the full-cost accounting rules of the

Securities and Exchange Commission on quarterly basis This quarterly review is referred to as ceiling test

Under the ceiling test capitalized costs less accumulated amortization and related deferred income taxes may

not exceed an amount equal to the sum of the present value of estimated future net revenues adjusted for cash

flow hedges less estimated future expenditures to be incurred in developing and producing the proved reserves

less any related income tax effects As of December 31 2008 capitalized costs of natural gas and oil properties

exceeded the estimated present value of future net revenues from our proved reserves net of related income tax

considerations resulting in write-down in the carrying value of natural gas and oil properties of $2.8 billion In

calculating future net revenues current prices and costs used are those as of the end of the appropriate quarterly

period Such prices are utilized except where different prices are fixed and determinable from applicable

contracts for the remaining term of those contracts including the effects of derivatives qualifying as cash flow

hedges Based on spot prices for natural gas and oil as of December 31 2008 these cash flow hedges increased

the full-cost ceiling by $1 .024 billion thereby reducing the ceiling test write-down by the same amount Our

qualifying cash flow hedges as of December 31 2008 which consisted of swaps and collars covered 362 bcfe

98 bcfe and 24 bcfe in 2009 2010 and 2011 respectively Our natural gas and oil hedging activities are discussed

in Note of these consolidated financial statements

Two primary factors impacting the ceiling test are reserve levels and current prices and their associated impact

on the present value of estimated future net revenues Revisions to estimates of natural gas and oil reserves and/or

an increase or decrease in prices can have material impact on the present value of estimated future net revenues

Any excess of the net book value less deferred income taxes is generally written off as an expense Under SEC

regulations the excess above the ceiling is not expensed or is reduced if subsequent to the end of the period but

prior to the release of the financial statements natural gas
and oil prices increase sufficiently such that an excess

above the ceiling would have been eliminated or reduced if the increased prices were used in the calculations
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We account for seismic costs in accordance with Rule 4-10 of Regulation S-X Specifically Rule 4-10

requires that all companies that use the full-cost method capitalize exploration costs as part of their natural gas
and oil properties i.e full-cost pool Exploration costs may be incurred both before acquiring the related

property and after acquiring the property Further exploration costs include among other things geological and

geophysical studies and salaries and other expenses of geologists geophysical crews and others conducting those

studies Such costs are capitalized as incurred Seismic costs directly associated with the acquisition and

evaluation of unproved properties are excluded from the amortization computation until it is determined whether

or not proved reserves can be assigned to the properties The company reviews its unproved properties and

associated seismic costs quarterly in order to ascertain whether impairment has incurred To the extent that

seismic costs cannot be directly associated with specific unevaluated properties they are included in the

amortization base as incurred

Other Property and Equipment

Other
property and equipment consists primarily of natural gas gathering and processing facilities drilling

rigs land buildings and improvements natural
gas compressors vehicles office equipment and software Major

renewals and betterments are capitalized while the costs of repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as

incurred The costs of assets retired or otherwise disposed of and the applicable accumulated depreciation are

removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations Other property and

equipment costs are depreciated on straight-line basis summary of other
property and equipment and the

useful lives are as follows

December 31

2008 2007 Useful Life

in millions in years

Natural gas gathering systems and treating plants $2717 $1135 20

Buildings and improvements 681 421 15 39
Drilling rigs and equipment 430 106 15

Natural gas compressors 184 63 20

Other 482 327 27
Land 832 395

Total $5326 $2447

Realization of the carrying value of other property and equipment is reviewed for possible impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable Assets

are determined to be impaired if forecast of undiscounted estimated future net operating cash flows directly

related to the asset including disposal value if any is less than the carrying amount of the asset If any asset is

determined to be impaired the loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds

its fair value An estimate of fair value is based on the best information available including prices for similar

assets For 2008 we recorded an impairment of $30 million associated with certain of our midstream assets

Investments

Investments in securities are accounted for under the equity method in circumstances where we are deemed

to exercise significant influence over the operating and investing policies of the investee but do not have control

Under the equity method we recognize our share of the investee earnings in our consolidated statements of

operations Investments in securities not accounted for under the equity method are accounted for under the cost
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method Investments in marketable equity securities accounted for under the cost method have been designated

as available for sale and as such are recorded at fair value We evaluate our investments for impairment in value

and recognize charge to earnings when any identified impairment is judged to be other than temporary For

2008 we recorded an impairment of $180 million associated with certain of our investments See Note 12 for

further discussion of investments

Capitalized Interest

During 2008 2007 and 2006 interest of approximately $464 million $269 million and $179 million

respectively was capitalized on significant investments in unproved properties that were not being currently

depreciated depleted or amortized and on which exploration activities were in progress Interest is capitalized

using weighted average interest rate based on our outstanding borrowings

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Included in accounts payable at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively are liabilities of approximately

$480 million and $150 million representing the amount by which checks issued but not yet presented to our

banks for collection exceeded balances in applicable bank accounts Other accrued liabilities include $258

million and $262 million of accrued drilling costs as of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Debt Issue Costs

Included in other assets are costs associated with the issuance of our senior notes and costs associated with

our revolving bank credit facility and hedging facilities The remaining unamortized debt issue costs at

December 31 2008 and 2007 totaled $157 million and $138 million respectively and are being amortized over

the life of the senior notes revolving credit facilities or hedging facilities

Asset Retirement Obligations

Chesapeake follows Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 143 Accounting for Asset

Retirement Obligations This statement applies to obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-

lived assets that result from the acquisition construction and development of the assets

SFAS 143 requires that the fair value of liability for retirement obligation be recognized in the period in

which the liability is incurred For natural
gas

and oil properties this is the period in which natural gas or oil

well is acquired or drilled The asset retirement obligation is capitalized as part
of the carrying amount of our

natural gas and oil properties at its discounted fair value The liability is then accreted each period until the

liability is settled or the well is sold at which time the liability is reversed

Revenue Recognition

Natural Gas and Oil Sales Revenue from the sale of natural gas and oil is recognized when title passes

net of royalties

Natural Gas Imbalances We follow the sales method of accounting for our natural gas revenue

whereby we recognize sales revenue on all natural gas
sold to our purchasers regardless of whether the sales are

proportionate to our ownership in the property An asset or liability is recognized to the extent that we have an

imbalance in excess of the remaining natural gas reserves on the underlying properties The natural gas

imbalance net position at December 31 2008 and 2007 was liability of $6 million and $4 million respectively

80



CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Marketing Sales Chesapeake takes title to the natural gas it purchases from other working interest owners

in operated wells arranges for transportation and delivers the natural gas to third parties at which time revenues

are recorded Chesapeakes results of operations related to its natural gas and oil marketing activities are

presented on gross basis because we act as principal rather than an agent All significant intercompany

accounts and transactions have been eliminated

Hedging

Chesapeake uses commodity price and financial risk management instruments to mitigate our exposure to

price fluctuations in natural
gas and oil and interest rates Recognized gains and losses on derivative contracts are

reported as component of the related transaction Results of natural
gas

and oil derivative transactions are

reflected in natural
gas

and oil sales and results of interest rate hedging transactions are reflected in interest

expense The changes in fair value of derivative instruments not qualifying for designation as either cash flow or

fair value hedges that occur prior to maturity are reported currently in the consolidated statement of operations as

unrealized gains losses within natural
gas and oil sales or interest expense

We have established the fair value of our derivative instruments utilizing established index prices volatility

curves and discount factors These estimates are compared to our counterparty values for reasonableness

Derivative transactions are also subject to the risk that counterparties will be unable to meet their obligations

Such non-performance risk is considered in the valuation of our derivative instruments but to date has not had

material impact on the values of our derivatives The values we report in our financial statements are as of point

in time and subsequently change as these estimates are revised to reflect actual results changes in market

conditions and other factors

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that derivative instruments including certain

derivative instruments embedded in other contracts be recorded at fair value and included in the consolidated

balance sheet as assets or liabilities The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivative instrument

depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting designation which is established at the inception

of derivative For derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges changes in fair value to the extent the

hedge is effective are recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings

Any change in the fair value resulting from ineffectiveness as defined by SFAS 133 is recognized immediately

in natural gas and oil sales For interest rate derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges in accordance

with SFAS 133 changes in fair value are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as assets liabilities and

the debts carrying value amount is adjusted by the change in the fair value of the debt subsequent to the

initiation of the derivative Differences between the changes in the fair values of the hedged item and the

derivative instrument if any represent gains or losses on ineffectiveness and are reflected currently in interest

expense Hedge effectiveness is measured at least quarterly based on the relative changes in fair value between

the derivative contract and the hedged item over time Changes in fair value of contracts that do not qualify as

hedges or are not designated as hedges are also recognized currently in earnings

Stock-Based Compensation

Chesapeakes stock based compensation programs consist of restricted stock and stock options issued to

employees and non-employee directors On January 2006 we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No 123 revised 2004 Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R to account for stock-based

compensation SFAS 123R requires companies to recognize the cost of employee services received in exchange
for awards of equity instruments based on the fair value at grant date of those awards in their financial

statements We elected to use the modified prospective method for adoption which requires compensation

expense to be recorded for all unvested stock options and other equity-based compensation beginning in the first

quarter of adoption For all unvested options outstanding as of January 2006 the previously measured but
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unrecognized compensation expense based on the fair value at the original grant date is recognized in our

financial statements over the remaining vesting period For equity-based compensation awards granted or

modified subsequent to January 2006 compensation expense based on the fair value on the date of grant or

modification is recognized in our financial statements over the vesting period We utilize the Black-Scholes

option pricing model to measure the fair value of stock options To the extent compensation cost relates to

employees directly involved in natural gas and oil exploration and development activities such amounts are

capitalized to natural gas and oil properties Amounts not capitalized to natural gas and oil properties are

recognized as general and administrative expenses or production expenses

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R we followed the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB 25 to

account for employee stock-based compensation Prior period financial statements have not been restated Upon

adoption of SPAS 123R we eliminated $89 million of unearned compensation cost and reduced additional

paid-in capital by the same amount on our consolidated balance sheet

For the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 we recorded the following stock-based

compensation in millions

2008 2007 2006

Production expenses
30 19

General and administrative expenses
85 57 27

Service operations expense

Natural gas and oil marketing expenses
11

Natural gas and oil properties
109 68 23

Employee retirement expense
51

Total $241 $152 $108

SPAS 123R also requires cash inflows resulting from tax deductions in excess of compensation expense

recognized for stock options and restricted stock excess tax benefits to be classified as financing cash inflows

in our statements of cash flows Accordingly for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 we

reported $43 million $20 million and $88 million respectively of excess tax benefits from stock-based

compensation as cash provided by financing activities on our statements of cash flows

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the consolidated financial statements for 2007 and 2006 to

conform to the presentation used for the 2008 consolidated financial statements
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Net Income Per Share

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 128 Earnings Per Share EPS requires presentation of

basic and diluted earnings per share as defined on the face of the statements of operations for all entities

with complex capital structures SFAS 128 requires reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the

basic and diluted EPS computations

For the
years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 the following securities and associated adjustments

to net income comprised of dividends and loss on conversions/exchanges were not included in the calculation of

diluted EPS as the effect was antidilutive in millions

2008

Net Income

Shares Adjustments

Common stock equivalent of our preferred stock outstanding

4.50% convertible preferred stock 5795396 12

5.00% series 2005 convertible preferred stock 19443
5.00% series 2005B convertible preferred stock 5367289 10

6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock 1237770
Common stock equivalent of our preferred stock outstanding prior to

conversion

4.50% convertible preferred stock 1135906 14

5.00% series 2005B convertible preferred stock 3917224 62

2007

Net Income

Shares Adjustments

Common stock equivalent of our preferred stock outstanding prior to

conversion

5.00% series 2005 convertible preferred stock 16158815 76

6.25% mandatory convertible preferred stock 13982602 99

2006

Net Income

Shares Adjustments

Common stock equivalent of our preferred stock outstanding prior to

conversion

4.125% convertible preferred stock 2090292
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reconciliation for the years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 is as follows

Income Shares Per Share

Numerator Denominator Amount

in millions except per share data

For the Year Ended December 31 2008

Basic EPS
Income available to common shareholders 623 536 $1.16

Effect of Dilutive Securities

Effect of contingent convertible senior notes outstanding during the period

Employee stock options

Restricted stock

Diluted EPS Income available to common shareholders and assumed

conversions
623 545 $1.14

For the Year Ended December 31 2007

Basic EPS
Income available to common shareholders $1229 456 $2.69

Effect of Dilutive Securities

Assumed conversion as of the beginning of the period of preferred shares

outstanding during the period

Common shares assumed issued for 4.50% convertible preferred stock

Common shares assumed issued for 5.00% Series 2005B convertible

preferred stock
15

Common shares assumed issued for 6.25% mandatory convertible

preferred stock

Employee stock options

Restricted stock

Preferred stock dividends
47

Diluted EPS income available to common shareholders and assumed

conversions $1276 487 $2.62

For the Year Ended December 31 2006

Basic EPS
Income available to common shareholders $1904 398 $4.78

Effect of Dilutive Securities

Assumed conversion as of the beginning of the period of preferred shares

outstanding during the period

Common shares assumed issued for 4.50% convertible preferred stock

Common shares assumed issued for 5.00% Series 2005 convertible

preferred stock
18

Common shares assumed issued for 5.00% Series 2005B convertible

preferred stock
IS

Common shares assumed issued for 6.25% mandatory convertible

preferred stock

Assumed conversion as of the beginning of the period of preferred shares

outstanding prior to conversion

Common stock equivalent of preferred stock outstanding prior to

conversion 5.00% Series 2003 convertible preferred stock

Employee stock options

Restricted stock

Loss on redemption of preferred stock

Preferred stock dividends 87

Diluted EPS income available to common shareholders and assumed

conversions $1994 459 $4.35
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Senior Notes and Revolving Bank Credit Facility

Our long-term debt consisted of the following at December 31 2008 and 2007

December 31

2008 2007

in millions

7.5% Senior Notes due 2013
364 364

7.625% Senior Notes due 2013 500 500

7.0% Senior Notes due 2014 300 300

7.5% Senior Notes due 2014 300 300
7.75% Senior Notes due 2015 300

6.3 75% Senior Notes due 2015 600 600

6.625% Senior Notes due 2016 600 600

6.875% Senior Notes due 2016 670 670
6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due 2017 835 876

6.5% Senior Notes due 2017 1100 1100
6.25% Senior Notes due 2018 600 600
7.25% Senior Notes due 2018 800

6.875% Senior Notes due 2020 500 500
2.75% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2035 451 690

2.5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2037 1378 1650
2.25% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 1126
Revolving bank credit

facility 3474 1950
Midstream revolving bank credit

facility 460

Discount on senior notes 85 105
Interest rate derivatives 211 55

Total notes payable and long-term debt $14184 $10950

The 7.75% Senior Notes due 2015 were redeemed on July 2008 In connection with the transaction we
recorded $31 million loss which consisted of $12 million premium and the write-off of $19 million in

various charges associated with the notes

The principal amount shown is based on the dollar/euro exchange rate of $l.3919 to 1.00 and $1.4603 to

1.00 as of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively See Note for information on our related cross

currency swap
The holders of our contingent convertible senior notes may require us to repurchase in cash all or portion

of their notes at 100% of the principal amount of the notes on any of four dates that are five ten fifteen and

twenty years before the maturity date The notes are convertible at the holders option prior to maturity
under certain circumstances into cash and if applicable shares of our common stock using net share

settlement
process One such triggering circumstance is when the price of our common stock exceeds

threshold amount during specified period in fiscal quarter Convertibility based on common stock price
is measured quarter by quarter In the fourth

quarter of 2008 the price of our common stock was below the

threshold level for each series of the contingent convertible senior notes during the specified period and as

result the holders do not have the option to convert their notes into cash and common stock in the first

quarter of 2009 under this provision The notes are also convertible at the holders option during specified

five-day periods if the trading price of the notes is below certain levels determined by reference to the

trading price of our common stock In general upon conversion of contingent convertible senior note the

holder will receive cash equal to the principal amount of the note and common stock for the notes

conversion value in excess of such principal amount We will pay contingent interest on the convertible

senior notes after they have been outstanding at least ten years under certain conditions We may redeem

the convertible senior notes once they have been outstanding for ten years at redemption price of 100% of
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the principal amount of the notes payable in cash The optional repurchase dates the common stock price

conversion threshold amounts and the ending date of the first six-month period contingent interest may be

payable for the contingent convertible senior notes are as follows

Common Stock

Contingent
Price Contingent Interest

Convertible Conversion First Payable

Senior Notes Repurchase Dates Thresholds if applicable

2.75% due 2035 November 15 2015 2020 2025 2030 48.81 May 14 2016

2.5% due 2037 May 15 2017 2022 2027 2032 64.47 November 14 2017

2.25% due 2038 December 15 2018 2023 2028 2033 $107.36 June 14 2019

See Note for further discussion related to these instruments

No scheduled principal payments are required under our senior notes until 2013 when $864 million is due

Our outstanding senior notes are unsecured senior obligations of Chesapeake that rank equally in right of

payment with all of our existing and future senior indebtedness and rank senior in right of payment to all of our

future subordinated indebtedness We may redeem the senior notes other than the contingent convertible senior

notes at any time at specified make-whole or redemption prices Senior notes issued before July 2005 are

governed by indentures containing covenants that limit our ability and our restricted subsidiaries ability to incur

additional indebtedness pay dividends on our capital stock or redeem repurchase or retire our capital stock or

subordinated indebtedness make investments and other restricted payments incur liens enter into sale/leaseback

transactions create restrictions on the payment of dividends or other amounts to us from our restricted

subsidiaries engage in transactions with affiliates sell assets and consolidate merge or transfer assets Senior

notes issued after June 2005 are governed by indentures containing covenants that limit our ability and our

subsidiaries ability to incur certain secured indebtedness enter into sale/leaseback transactions and consolidate

merge or transfer assets

Chesapeake Energy Corporation is holding company and owns no operating assets and has no significant

operations independent of its subsidiaries As of December 31 2007 our obligations under our outstanding

senior notes and contingent convertible notes were fully and unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally by

all of our wholly-owned restricted subsidiaries other than minor subsidiaries on senior unsecured basis In

October 2008 we restructured our non-Appalachian midstream operations as described below As result our

wholly-owned midstream subsidiaries having significant assets and operations do not presently guarantee our

outstanding senior notes

We have $3.5 billion syndicated revolving bank credit facility which matures in November 2012 As of

December 31 2008 we had $3.474 billion in outstanding borrowings under our facility and utilized

approximately $15 million of the facility for various letters of credit To ensure that our revolving bank credit

facility could be fully utilized in these turbulent economic times we borrowed the remaining capacity under our

facility in the third quarter
and invested the cash proceeds in short-term highly liquid securities As result on

December 31 2008 we had cash and cash equivalents on hand of approximately $1 .749 billion All 36 lenders

that participate in our revolving bank credit facility fully funded their commitment with the exception of

Lehman Brothers Commercial Bank subsidiary of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc which did not fund its $11

million share of the advance See Concentration of Credit Risk in Note

Borrowings under our facility are secured by certain producing natural gas and oil properties and bear

interest at our option at either the greater of the reference rate of Union Bank of California N.A or the federal

funds effective rate plus 0.50% or ii the London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR plus margin that varies
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from 0.75% to 1.50% per annum according to our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings The collateral value

and borrowing base are determined periodically The unused portion of the facility is subject to commitment

fee that also varies according to our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings from 0.125% to 0.30% per annum

Currently the commitment fee rate is 0.20%
per annum Interest is payable quarterly or if LIBOR applies it

may be payable at more frequent intervals

The credit facility agreement contains various covenants and restrictive provisions which limit our ability to

incur additional indebtedness make investments or loans and create liens The credit facility agreement requires

us to maintain an indebtedness to total capitalization ratio as defined not to exceed 0.70 to and an

indebtedness to EBITDA ratio as defined not to exceed 3.75 to As defined by the credit facility agreement

our indebtedness to total capitalization ratio was 0.43 to and our indebtedness to EBITDA ratio was 2.43 to at

December 31 2008 If we should fail to perform our obligations under these and other covenants the revolving

credit commitment could be terminated and any outstanding borrowings under the facility could be declared

immediately due and payable Such acceleration if involving principal amount of $10 million $50 million in

the case of our senior notes issued after 2004 would constitute an event of default under our senior note

indentures which could in turn result in the acceleration of significant portion of our senior note indebtedness

The credit facility agreement also has cross default provisions that apply to other indebtedness we may have with

an outstanding principal amount in excess of $75 million

Two of our subsidiaries Chesapeake Exploration L.L.C and Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C are the

borrowers under our revolving bank credit facility The facility is fully and unconditionally guaranteed on joint

and several basis by Chesapeake and all of our other wholly-owned restricted subsidiaries

On October 16 2008 we closed new secured revolving bank credit facility for our non-Appalachian

midstream operations which have recently been restructured under new unrestricted subsidiary Chesapeake

Midstream Partners L.P CMP and its operating subsidiary Chesapeake Midstream Operating L.L.C CMO
Twelve financial institutions are in the facility bank group The facility matures in October 2013 has initial

availability of $460 million and may be expanded up to $750 million at CMOs option subject to additional bank

participation CMO is utilizing the facility to fund capital expenditures associated with building additional

natural gas gathering and other systems associated with our drilling program and for general corporate purposes

related to our midstream operations As of December 31 2008 we had $460 million in outstanding borrowings

under the midstream credit facility

The midstream credit facility agreement contains various covenants and restrictive provisions which limit

the ability of CMP and its subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness make investments or loans and create

liens The credit facility agreement requires maintenance of an indebtedness to EBITDA ratio as defined not to

exceed 3.50 to and an EBITDA as defined to interest expense coverage
ratio of not less than 2.50 to As

defined by the credit facility agreement our indebtedness to EBITDA ratio was 2.59 to and our EBITDA to

interest expense coverage
ratio was 9.36 to at December 31 2008 If CMP or its subsidiaries should fail to

perform their obligations under these and other covenants the revolving credit commitment could be terminated

and any outstanding borrowings under the midstream facility could be declared immediately due and payable

The midstream credit facility agreement also has cross default provisions that apply to other indebtedness CMP
and its subsidiaries may have with an outstanding principal amount in excess of $15 million
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Contingencies and Commitments

Litigation

We are involved in various disputes incidental to our business operations including claims from royalty

owners regarding volume measurements post-production costs and prices for royalty calculations In Tawney et

Columbia Natural Resources Inc Chesapeakes wholly-owned subsidiary Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C

formerly known as Columbia Natural Resources LLC CNR is defendant in class action lawsuit filed in

2003 in the Circuit Court for Roane County West Virginia by royalty owners The plaintiffs allege that CNR

underpaid royalties by improperly deducting post-production costs failing to pay royalty on total volumes of

natural gas produced and not paying fair value for the natural gas produced from their leases The plaintiff class

consists of West Virginia royalty owners receiving royalties after July 31 1990 from CNR Chesapeake acquired

CNR in November 2005 and its seller acquired CNR in 2003 from NiSource Inc NiSource co-defendant in

the case indemnified Chesapeake against underpayment claims based on the use of lixed prices for natural gas

production sold under certain forward sale contracts and other claims with respect to CNRs operations prior to

September 2003

On January 27 2007 the Circuit Court jury returned verdict against the defendants of $404 million

consisting of $134 million in compensatory damages and $270 million in punitive damages The jury found

fraudulent conduct by the defendants with respect to the sales prices used to calculate royalty payments and with

respect to the failure of CNR to disclose post-production deductions The defendants appealed the judgment and

on May 22 2008 the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals refused to hear the appeal On October 22 2008

the parties in the Tawney matter entered into settlement agreement providing for the establishment of

settlement fund of $380 million The Circuit Court for Roane County West Virginia approved the settlement

following fairness hearing on November 22 2008 and entered an order to discharge the judgment on

January 21 2009 Chesapeakes share of the settlement fund was approximately $41 million which amount had

previously been fully reserved The Circuit Court retains continuing jurisdiction over the case during the claims

administration process in which the settlement amount is distributed to the members of the plaintiff class

Chesapeake is subject to other legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of business

In our opinion the final resolution of these proceedings and claims will not have material effect on the

company

Employment Agreements with Officers

Chesapeake has employment agreements with its chief executive officer chief operating officer chief

financial officer and other executive officers which provide for annual base salaries various benefits and

eligibility for bonus compensation The agreement with the chief executive officer has term of five years

commencing December 31 2008 and contains cap on cash salary and bonus compensation for the next five

years at 2008 levels The term of the agreement is automatically extended for one additional year on each

December 31 unless the company provides 30 days notice of non-extension In the event of termination of

employment without cause the chief executive officers base compensation defined as base salary plus bonus

compensation received during the preceding 12 months and benefits would continue during the remaining term

of the agreement The chief executive officer is entitled to receive payment in the amount of three times his

base compensation upon the happening of certain events following change of control The agreement further

provides that any stock-based awards held by the chief executive officer and deferred compensation will

immediately become 100% vested upon termination of employment without cause incapacity death or

retirement at or after age 55 The agreement also provides for one-time $75 million well cost incentive award

with five-year clawback see Note for discussion of related party transactions The agreements with the chief
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operating officer chief financial officer and other executive officers expire on September 30 2009 These

agreements provide for the continuation of salary for one year in the event of termination of employment without

cause or death and in the event of change of control payment in the amount of two times the executive

officers base compensation These executive officers are entitled to continue to receive compensation and

benefits for 180 days following termination of employment as result of incapacity Any stock-based awards

held by such executive officers will immediately become 100% vested upon termination of employment without

cause change of control death or retirement at or after age 55

Environmental Risk

Due to the nature of the natural gas and oil business Chesapeake and its subsidiaries are exposed to possible

environmental risks Chesapeake has implemented various policies and procedures to avoid environmental

contamination and risks from environmental contamination Chesapeake conducts periodic reviews on

company-wide basis to identify changes in our environmental risk profile These reviews evaluate whether there

is contingent liability its amount and the likelihood that the liability will be incurred The amount of any

potential liability is determined by considering among other matters incremental direct costs of any likely

remediation and the proportionate cost of employees who are expected to devote significant amount of time

directly to any possible remediation effort We manage our exposure to environmental liabilities on properties to

be acquired by identifying existing problems and assessing the potential liability Depending on the extent of an

identified environmental problem Chesapeake may exclude property from the acquisition require the seller to

remediate the property to our satisfaction or agree to assume liability for the remediation of the property

Chesapeake has historically not experienced any significant environmental liability and is not aware of any

potential material environmental issues or claims at December 31 2008

Rig Leases

In series of transactions in 2006 2007 and 2008 our drilling subsidiaries sold 83 drilling rigs and related

equipment for $677 million and entered into master lease agreement under which we agreed to lease the rigs

from the buyer for initial terms of seven to ten years for lease payments of approximately $95 million annually

The lease obligations are guaranteed by Chesapeake and its other material restricted subsidiaries These

transactions were recorded as sales and operating leasebacks and any related gain or loss will be amortized to

service operations expense over the lease term Under the rig leases we can exercise an early purchase option

after six or seven years or on the expiration of the lease term for purchase price equal to the then fair market

value of the rigs Additionally we have the option to renew the rig lease for negotiated renewal term at

periodic lease equal to the fair market rental value of the rigs as determined at the time of renewal As of

December 31 2008 Chesapeakes drilling subsidiaries had committed to acquire 23 rigs and had incurred costs

of $64 million as of that date The total remaining cost of the rigs is estimated to be approximately $267 million

Our intent is to sell and lease back those rigs as they are delivered if acceptable leasing arrangements are

available to us

Compressor Leases

In 2007 and 2008 our compression subsidiary sold significant portion of its existing compressor fleet

consisting of 1443 compressors for $303 million and entered into master lease agreement The term of the

agreement varies by buyer ranging from seven to ten years for aggregate lease payments of approximately $37

million annually The lease obligations are guaranteed by Chesapeake and its other material restricted

subsidiaries These transactions were recorded as sales and operating leasebacks and any related gain or loss will

be amortized to natural gas and oil marketing expenses over the lease term Under the leases we can exercise an

early purchase option after six to nine years or we can purchase the compressors at expiration of the lease for the
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fair market value at the time In addition we have the option to renew the lease for negotiated new terms at the

expiration of the lease As of December 31 2008 approximately 625 new compressors are on order for

approximately $240 million and our intent is to sell and lease back those compressors as they are delivered if

acceptable leasing arrangements are available to us

Future operating lease obligations related to rigs compressors and other equipment or property are not

recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets As of December 31 2008 minimum future lease

payments were as follows in millions

Rigs Compressors Other Total

2009 94 40 $142

2010 95 34 134

2011 95 34 132

2012 96 36 134

2013 97 39 137

After 2013 143 125 268

Total $620 $308 $19 $947

Rent expense including short-term rentals for the
years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was

$133 million $81 million and $47 million respectively

Transportation Contracts

Chesapeake has various firm pipeline transportation service agreements with expiration dates ranging from

2009 to 2099 These commitments are not recorded in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets

Under the terms of these contracts we are obligated to pay demand charges as set forth in the transporters

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission FERC gas
tariff In exchange the company receives rights to flow

natural gas production through pipelines located in highly competitive markets Excluded from this summary are

demand charges for pipeline projects that are currently seeking regulatory approval The aggregate amounts of

such required demand payments as of December 31 2008 are as follows in millions

2009 162

2010 183

2011 172

2012 164

2013 150

After 2013 735

Total $1566

Drilling Contracts

We have contracts with various drilling contractors to use 40 drilling rigs with terms of one to three years

These commitments are not recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets Minimum future

commitments as of December 31 2008 are as follows in millions

2009 $146

2010 79

2011 44

2012

After 2012

Total $276
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Natural Gas and Oil Purchase Obligations

Our marketing segment regularly commits to purchase natural gas from other owners in our properties and

such commitments typically are short term in nature We have also committed to purchase natural gas and oil

associated with volumetric production payment transactions The purchase commitments extend over 11 to 15

year terms based on market prices at the time of production and the purchased natural gas and oil will be resold

The obligations are as follows

Mmcfe

2009 68238
2010 60723
2011 53694
2012 48069
2013 43477
After 2013 181574

Total 455775

Other Commitments

We own 49% interest in Mountain Drilling Company company that specializes in hydraulic drilling rigs

which are designed for drilling in urban areas Chesapeake has an agreement to lend Mountain Drilling Company

up to $32 million through December 31 2009 At December 31 2008 Mountain Drilling owed Chesapeake $19

million under this agreement

We invested in Ventura Refining and Transmission LLC in early 2007 and today own 25% interest There

were no refineries in western Oklahoma until Ventura opened its refinery in 2006 We have agreed to guarantee

various commitments for Ventura up to $70 million to support their operating activities As of December 31

2008 we had $7 million of outstanding performance guarantees

Income Taxes

The components of the income tax provision benefit for each of the periods presented below are as follows

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

Current $423 29

Deferred 40 861 1247

Total $463 $890 $1252

The effective income tax expense differed from the computed expected federal income tax expense on

earnings before income taxes for the following reasons

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

Computed expected federal income tax provision $415 $819 $1139
State income taxes 32 56 90
Other 16 15 23

$463 $890 $1252
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Deferred income taxes are provided to reflect temporary differences in the basis of net assets for income tax

and financial reporting purposes The tax-effected temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards which

comprise deferred taxes are as follows

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007

in millions

Deferred tax liabilities

Natural gas and oil properties $2694 $3760

Other property and equipment 281 152
Derivative instruments 550 20
Volumetric production payments 943 442

Deferred tax liabilities 4468 4374

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards

Asset retirement obligation 102 91

Investments 117 33

Deferred stock compensation 85 42

Accrued liabilities 22

Percentage depletion carryforwards
Ii

Alternative minimum tax credits 61

Other 16

Deferred tax assets 347 409

Total deferred tax asset liability $4l21a $3965

Reflected in accompanying balance sheets as

Other current assets

Current deferred income tax liability 358
Non-current deferred income tax liability 3763 3966

$4l21 $3965

In addition to the income tax expense of $463 million activity during 2008 includes net liabilities of $13

million related to acquisitions and $181 million related to derivative instruments deferred tax assets for $12

million related to investments and $43 million related to stock-based compensation These items were not

recorded as part of the provision for income taxes In addition the activity includes reduction to deferred

tax liabilities of $398 million related to current federal and state income tax liabilities and payments and $48

million related to FIN 48 items

As of December 31 2008 we classified $358 million of deferred tax liabilities as current that were

attributable to the current portion of derivative assets and other current temporary
differences As of

December 31 2007 we classified $1 million of deferred tax assets as current that were attributable to the current

portion of derivative liabilities and other current temporary differences

At December 31 2008 Chesapeake had federal income tax net operating loss NOL carryforwards of

approximately $12 million Additionally we had $3 million of alternative minimum tax AMT NOL

carryforwards available as deduction against future AMT income The NOL carryforwards expire from 2019

through 2026 The value of these carryforwards depends on the ability of Chesapeake to generate taxable income

In addition for AMT purposes only 90% of AMT income in any given year may be offset by AMT NOLs
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The ability of Chesapeake to utilize NOL carryforwards to reduce future federal taxable income and federal

income tax of Chesapeake is subject to various limitations under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended
The utilization of such carryforwards may be limited upon the occurrence of certain ownership changes

including the issuance or exercise of rights to acquire stock the purchase or sale of stock by 5% stockholders as

defined in the Treasury regulations and the offering of stock by us during any three-year period resulting in an

aggregate change of more than 50% in the beneficial ownership of Chesapeake

In the event of an ownership change as defined for income tax purposes Section 382 of the Code imposes
an annual limitation on the amount of corporations taxable income that can be offset by these carryforwards

The limitation is generally equal to the product of the fair market value of the equity of the company
multiplied by ii percentage approximately equivalent to the yield on long-term tax exempt bonds during the

month in which an ownership change occurs In addition the limitation is increased if there are recognized
built-in gains during any post-change year but only to the extent of any net unrealized built-in gains as defined

in the Code inherent in the assets sold Certain NOLs acquired through various acquisitions are also subject to

limitations

The following table summarizes our net operating losses as of December 31 2008 and any related

limitations

Annual
Total Limited Limitation

in millions

Net operating loss $12 $12 $7

AMT net operating loss
$1

As of December 31 2008 we do not believe that an ownership change has occurred Future equity
transactions by Chesapeake or by 5% stockholders including relatively small transactions and transactions

beyond our control could cause an ownership change and therefore limitation on the annual utilization of

NOLs

In June 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued FASB Interpretation FIN No 48
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 FIN 48 provides

guidance for recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions as defined in SFAS 109 Accounting for Income
Taxes FIN 48 prescribes threshold condition that tax position must meet for any of the benefit of the

uncertain tax position to be recognized in the financial statements Guidance is also provided regarding

de-recognition classification and disclosure of these uncertain tax positions FIN 48 was effective for fiscal years

beginning after December 15 2006

Chesapeake adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 2007 As result of the implementation of FIN
48 Chesapeake recognized $7 million liability for accrued interest associated with uncertain tax positions
which was accounted for as reduction in the January 2007 balance of retained earnings net of tax At the

date of adoption and at December 31 2007 we had approximately $142 million and $133 million respectively
of unrecognized tax benefits related to alternative minimum tax AMT associated with uncertain tax positions
As of December 31 2008 the amount of unrecognized tax benefits related to regular tax liabilities and AMT
associated with uncertain tax positions was $60 million Of this amount $48 million is related to regular tax
liabilities and $12 million is related to AMT These unrecognized tax benefits are associated with temporary
differences If these unrecognized tax benefits are disallowed and we are required to pay additional taxes the

reversal of the temporary differences associated with the regular tax liabilities will increase our tax basis which

will increase our future tax deductions Any AMT payments can be utilized as credits against future regular tax
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liabilities The uncertain tax positions identified would not have material effect on the effective tax rate At

December 31 2008 we had an accrued liability of $3 million for interest related to these uncertain tax positions

Chesapeake recognizes interest related to uncertain tax positions in interest expense Penalties if any related to

uncertain tax positions would be recorded in other expenses

reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows

2008 2007

in millions

Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of period
133 $142

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year
48 64

Reductions for tax positions of prior years 120 52
Settlements 21

Unrecognized tax benefits at end of period
60 $133

Chesapeake files income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction and various state and local jurisdictions

With few exceptions Chesapeake is no longer subject to U.S federal state and local income tax examinations by

tax authorities for years prior to 2005 The Internal Revenue Service IRS completed an examination of

Chesapeakes 2005 and 2006 U.S income tax returns in December 2008 This examination resulted in an

additional AMT liability of $1 million This AMT liability will be utilized as credit against current regular tax

liabilities The adjustments in the examination did not result in material change to our financial position results

of operations or cash flows

Related Party Transactions

Since Chesapeake was founded in 1989 our CEO Aubrey McClendon has acquired working interests in

virtually all of our natural gas and oil properties by participating in our drilling activities under the terms of the

Founder Well Participation Program FWPP and predecessor participation arrangements provided for in

Mr McClendon employment agreements Under the FVTPP approved by our shareholders in June 2005

Mr McClendon may elect to participate in all or none of the wells drilled by or on behalf of Chesapeake during

calendar year but he is not allowed to participate only in selected wells participation election is required to be

received by the Compensation Committee of Chesapeakes Board of Directors not less than 30 days prior to the

start of each calendar year His participation is permitted only under the terms outlined in the FWPP which

among other things limits his individual participation to maximum working interest of 2.5% in well and

prohibits participation in situations where Chesapeakes working interest would be reduced below 12.5% as

result of his participation In addition the company is reimbursed for costs associated with leasehold acquired by

Mr McClendon as result of his well participation

On December 31 2008 we entered into new five-year employment agreement with Mr McClendon that

contained one-time well cost incentive award to him The total cost of the award to Chesapeake was $75

million plus employment taxes in the amount of approximately $1 million We will recognize the incentive

award as general and administrative expense over the five-year vesting period for the clawback described below

resulting in an expense of approximately $15 million per year beginning in 2009 In addition to state and federal

income tax withholding similar employment taxes were imposed on Mr McClendon and withheld from the

award The net incentive award of approximately $44 million can only be applied against costs attributable to

interests in company wells acquired by Mr McClendon or his affiliates under the FWPP The incentive award is

subject to clawback if during the initial five-year term of the employment agreement Mr McClendon resigns

from the company or is terminated for cause by the company Upon receipt of the companys monthly invoice for

joint interest billings in mid-January 2009 Mr McClendon elected to apply approximately $19 million of the
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drilling credit against his December 2008 FWPP joint interest billings leaving $25 million available as credit

against future billings Based on our current development plans and Mr McClendons election under the FWPP

to participate with 2.5% working interest during 2009 the well costs under the FWPP are expected to exceed

the amount of the entire FWPP credit in early 2009 We refer you to the discussion of the FWPP and

Mr McClendons employment agreement contained in our proxy statement for our 2009 annual meeting of

shareholders which discussion is incorporated by reference in Part III of this report

As disclosed in Note 15 in 2007 and 2006 Chesapeake had revenues of $1.1 billion and $867 million

respectively from natural gas and oil sales to Eagle Energy Partners L.P former affiliated entity We sold

our 33% limited partnership interest in Eagle Energy in June 2007

Employee Benefit Plans

Our qualified 40 1k profit sharing plan is the Chesapeake Energy Corporation Savings and Incentive Stock

Bonus Plan which is open to employees of Chesapeake and all our subsidiaries except certain employees of

Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C On January 2007 plan we maintained for the employees of our subsidiary

Nomac Drilling Corporation was merged into the Chesapeake plan Eligible employees may elect to defer

compensation through voluntary contributions to their 401k plan accounts subject to plan limits and those set

by the Internal Revenue Service Chesapeake matches employee contributions dollar for dollar subject to

maximum contribution of 15% of the employees annual salary and bonus compensation with Chesapeake

common stock purchased in the open market For the Nomac plan the matching percentage was 8% for 2005

through June 2006 and 15% as of July 2006 The company contributed $40 million $28 million and $18

million to the Chesapeake plan in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively and $2 million to the Nomac plan in 2006

In November 2005 Chesapeake acquired Columbia Natural Resources LLC which sponsored the

Columbia Natural Resources LLC 401k Plan Chesapeakes 401k plan was amended effective January

2006 to honor previous service by employees with CNR and predecessor companies and was open to CNR

employees in the Charleston West Virginia headquarters office as well as exempt administrative field

employees The CNR plan was adopted by the new employer entity Chesapeake Appalachia L.L.C and was

open to all non-administrative field employees including union employees The company contributed

approximately $1 million to this plan in 2006 Effective January 2007 these employees other than union

employees became eligible to participate in the Chesapeake plan Union employees will continue participation in

the CNR plan pending the outcome of ongoing labor negotiations

Prior to 2008 we maintained two nonqualified deferred compensation plans the 40 1k make-up plan and

the deferred compensation plan Effective on January 2008 the deferred compensation plans were merged into

the Chesapeake Energy Corporation Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan Prior to 2009 to be

eligible to participate in the amended and restated deferred compensation plan an employee must have received

annual compensation base salary and bonus combined in the prior 12 months of at least $100000 had

minimum of one year of service as company employee and have made the maximum contribution allowable

under the 401k plan For employees with at least five years of service as company employee the company

matches employee contributions to the plan in Chesapeake common stock On January 2009 the plan was

amended to allow for participation for any employee who received compensation base salary only of at least

$150000 and had an employment agreement with the company In addition the company begins matching

employee contributions once the employee has at least three
years

of service as company employee

Chesapeake matches 100% of employee contributions up to 15% of base salary and bonus in the aggregate

for the 40 1k plan and the amended and restated deferred compensation plan We contributed $6 million $4

million and $2 million to the 40 1k make-up plan during 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively The companys

non-employee directors are able to defer up to 100% of director fees into the amended and restated deferred
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compensation plan The maximum compensation that can be deferred by employees under all company deferred

compensation plans including the Chesapeake 401k plan is total of 75% of base salary and 100% of

performance bonus Chesapeake made no matching or other contributions to the deferred compensation plan

Any assets placed in trust by Chesapeake to fund future obligations of the companys nonqualified deferred

compensation plans are subject to the claims of creditors in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy and

participants are general creditors of the company as to their deferred compensation in the plans

Chesapeake maintains no post-employment benefit plans except those sponsored by Chesapeake

Appalachia L.L.C As of December 31 2006 total of 188 employees were eligible for these plans As of

January 2007 participation in these plans was limited to union members 135 employees The Chesapeake

Appalachia L.L.C benefit plans provide health care and life insurance benefits to eligible employees upon

retirement We account for these benefits on an accrual basis As of December 31 2008 the company had

accrued approximately $2 million in accumulated post-employment benefit liability

Stockholders Equity Restricted Stock and Stock Options

Common Stock

The following is summary of the changes in our common shares outstanding for 2008 2007 and 2006

2008 2007 2006

in thousands

Shares issued at January 511648 458601 375511

Common stock issuances for cash 51750 58750

Convertible note conversions/exchanges 23913

Preferred stock conversions/exchanges 12673 36652 12252

Restricted stock issuances net of forfeitures 4708 14268 3743

Stock option exercises 1584 2127 6969

Common stock issued for the purchase of leasehold and unproved

properties 1677

Common stock issued for the purchase of Chaparral Energy Inc

common stock 1376

Shares issued at December31 607953 511648 458601

Contingent Convertible Senior Notes

In 2008 holders of certain of our contingent convertible senior notes exchanged or converted their senior

notes for shares of common stock in privately negotiated exchanges as summarized below in millions

Contingent Convertible Principal Number of

Senior Notes Amount Common Shares

2.75% due 2035 $239 8841526

2.50% due 2037 272 8416865

2.25% due 2038 254 6654821

$765 23913212

The difference between the face value of the notes that were exchanged and the fair value of the common

stock issued resulted in gain of $268 million on the cancellation of indebtedness
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Preferred Stock

The following is summary of the changes in our preferred shares outstanding for 2008 2007 and 2006

5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

6.00% 2003 4.125% 2005 4.50% 2005B 6.25%

in thousands

Shares outstanding at January 2008 3450 5750 144

Conversion/exchange of preferred for common
stock 891 3654

Shares outstanding at December 31 2008 2559 2096 144

Shares outstanding at January 2007 4600 3450 5750 2300

Conversion/exchange of preferred for common
stock 4595 2156

Shares outstanding at December 31 2007 3450 5750 144

Shares outstanding at January 2006 99 1026 89 4600 3450 5750
Preferred stock issuances 2300

Conversion/exchange of preferred for common
stock 99 1026 86

Shares outstanding at December 31 2006 4600 3450 5750 2300

In 2008 2007 and 2006 shares of our cumulative convertible preferred stock were exchanged for or

converted into shares of common stock as summarized below

Cumulative

Year of Convertible Number of Number of Type of

Exchange/Conversion Preferred Stock Preferred Shares Common Shares Transaction

2008 5.0% Series 2005B 3654385 10443642 Exchange

4.5% 891100 2227750 Exchange

4.125% 29 1743 Conversion

12673135

2007 5.0% Series 2005 4595000 19283311 Exchange

6.25% 2156184 17367823 Exchange

6.25% 48 344 Conversion

4.125% 180 Conversion

36651658

2006 5.0% Series 2003 987321 6113009 Exchange

5.0% Series 2003 38625 235447 Conversion

4.125% 85995 5420720 Exchange

6.0% 99310 482694 Conversion

12251870

In connection with the exchanges and conversions noted above we recorded losses of $67 million $128

million and $10 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively In general the loss is equal to the excess of the fair

value of all common stock exchanged over the fair value of the common stock issuable pursuant to the original

terms of the preferred stock
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Dividends on our outstanding preferred stock are payable quarterly in cash or with respect to our 6.25%

mandatory convertible preferred stock and our 4.50% cumulative convertible preferred stock we may pay dividends in

cash common stock or combination thereof Following is summary of our preferred stock including the primary

conversion terms as of December 31 2008

Companys
Liquidation Holders Companys Market

Preference Conversion Conversion Conversion Conversion Conversion

Preferred Stock Series Issue Date per Share Right Rate Price Right From Trigger

6.25% Mandatory

Convertible June/July 2006 250 Any time 7.1745 $34.8456 Any time $52.2684b
5.00% Series 2005

Cumulative

Convertible April 2005 100 Any time 3.8887 $25.7 154 April 15 2010 $33.4300c
4.50% Cumulative

Convertible September 2005 100 Any time 2.2648 $44 1538 September 15 2010 $57.3999c
5.00% Series 2005B

Cumulative

Convertible November 2005 100 Any time 2.5612 $39.0442 November 15 2010 $50.7575c

4.125% Cumulative Market price

Convertible March/April 2004 $1000 $21.6l 60.1569 $16.6232 March 15 2009 $21.6l00c

Each share converts automatically on June 15 2009 into 7.1745 to 8.6095 shares of common stock depending on

the common stock market price at the time

Convertible at initial conversion rate plus cash equal to present value of future dividends to June 15 2009

Convertible at the companys option if the companys common stock equals or exceeds the trigger price for

specified time period or after the conversion date indicated above if the number of shares of preferred stock

outstanding are less than minimum levels provided in the certificates of designation

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Under Chesapeakes Long Term Incentive Plan restricted stock stock options stock appreciation rights

performance shares and other stock awards may be awarded to employees directors and consultants of Chesapeake

Subject to any adjustments as provided by the plan the aggregate number of shares of common stock available for

awards under the plan may not exceed 25000000 shares The maximum period for exercise of an option or stock

appreciation right may not be more than ten years from the date of grant and the exercise price may not be less than the

fair market value of the shares underlying the option or stock appreciation right on the date of grant Awards granted

under the plan become vested at dates or upon the satisfaction of certain performance or other criteria determined by

committee of the Board of Directors No awards may be granted under this plan after September 30 2014 This plan

has been approved by our shareholders There were 87500 87500 and 75000 shares of restricted stock issued to our

directors from this plan in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Additionally there were 4.5 million 14.7 million and

2610 restricted shares issued net of forfeitures to employees and consultants during 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

from this plan As of December 31 2008 there were 5762679 shares remaining available for issuance under the plan

Under Chesapeakes 2003 Stock Incentive Plan restricted stock and incentive and nonqualified stock options to

purchase our common stock may be awarded to employees and consultants of Chesapeake Subject to any adjustments

as provided by the plan the aggregate number of shares available for awards under the plan may not exceed

10000000 shares The maximum period for exercise of an option may not be more than ten years
from the date of

grant and the exercise price may not be less than the fair market value of the shares underlying the option on the date of

grant Restricted stock and options granted become vested at dates determined by committee of the Board of

Directors No awards may be granted under this plan after April 14 2013 This plan has been approved by our

shareholders There were 0.2 million 0.2 million and 4.0 million restricted shares net of forfeitures issued during

2008 2007 and 2006 respectively from this plan As of December 31 2008 there were 213302 shares remaining

available for issuance under the plan
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Under Chesapeakes 2003 Stock Award Plan for Non-Employee Directors 10000 shares of Chesapeakes

common stock are awarded to each newly appointed non-employee director on his or her first day of service

Subject to any adjustments as provided by the plan the aggregate number of shares which may be issued may not

exceed 100000 shares This plan has been approved by our shareholders In each of 2008 2007 and 2006 10000

shares of common stock were awarded to new directors from this plan As of December 31 2008 there were

50000 shares remaining available for issuance under this plan

In addition to the plans described above we have stock options outstanding to employees under number of

employee stock option plans which are described below All outstanding options under these plans were

at-the-money when granted with an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the date of

grant and have ten-year exercise period These plans were terminated in prior years and therefore no shares

remain available for stock option grants under the plans

Outstanding
Type of Shareholder Options at

Name of Plan Eligible Participants Options Shares Covered Approved December 312008

2002 and 2001 Stock Incentive and

Option Plans Employees and consultants nonqualified 3000000/ 3200000 Yes 879523

2002 and 2001

Nonqualified Stock

Option Plans Employees and consultants Nonqualified 4000000/ 3000000 No 977732

2000and 1999

Employee Stock

Option Plans Employees and consultants Nonqualified 3000000 each plan No 335864

1996 and 1994 Stock Incentive and

Option Plans Employees and consultants nonqualified 6000000/4886910 Yes 153052

Restricted Stock

Chesapeake began issuing shares of restricted common stock to employees in January 2004 and to

non-employee directors in July 2005 The fair value of the awards issued is determined based on the fair market

value of the shares on the date of grant This value is amortized over the vesting period which is generally four

years from the date of grant for employees and three years for non-employee directors To the extent

amortization of compensation cost relates to employees directly involved in acquisition exploration and

development activities such amounts are capitalized to natural gas and oil properties Amounts not capitalized to

natural gas and oil properties are recognized in general and administrative expense or production expense Note

details the accounting for our stock-based compensation expense in 2008 2007 and 2006 As of December 31
2005 the unamortized balance of unearned compensation recorded as reduction of stockholders equity was

$89 million Upon adoption of SFAS 123R in January 2006 we eliminated the unamortized balance of

unearned compensation in stockholders equity $89 million and reduced additional paid-in capital by the same

amount on our consolidated balance sheet
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sunmiary of the status of the unvested shares of restricted stock and changes during 2008 2007 and 2006

is presented below

Number of

Unvested

Restricted Shares

19688759

6800027

3942326

924258

21622202

7074761

15560570

2255384

691188

19688759

5805210

4392270

2818249

304470

7074761

Weighted Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

$32.42

51.14

28.27

37.33

$38.85

$25.85

34.25

24.34

33.29

$32.42

$18.38

31.77

19.78

25.04

$25.85

The aggregate intrinsic value of restricted stock vested during 2008 was approximately $211 million based

on the stock price at the time of vesting

As of December 31 2008 there was $639 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to

unvested restricted stock The cost is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 2.61 years

The vesting of certain restricted stock grants results in state and federal income tax benefits related to the

difference between the market price of the common stock at the date of vesting and the date of grant During the

years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 we recognized excess tax benefits related to restricted stock of

$28 million $5 million and $4 million respectively which were recorded as adjustments to additional paid-in

capital and deferred income taxes with respect to such benefits

Our President and Chief Operating Officer Tom Ward resigned as director officer and employee of

the company effective February 10 2006 Mr Wards Resignation Agreement provided for the immediate

vesting of all of his unvested equity awards which consisted of options to purchase 724615 shares of

Chesapeakes common stock at an average exercise price of $8.01 per share and 1291875 shares of restricted

common stock As result of this vesting we incurred an expense of $55 million in 2006

Stock Options

We granted stock options prior to 2006 under several stock compensation plans Outstanding options expire

ten years from the date of grant and become exercisable over four-year period

Unvested shares as of January 2008

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Unvested shares as of December 31 2008

Unvested shares as of January 2007

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Unvested shares as of December 31 2007

Unvested shares as of January 2006

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Unvested shares as of December 31 2006
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The following table provides information related to stock option activity for 2008 2007 and 2006

Weighted
Number of Average Weighted Aggregate

Shares Exercise Average Intrinsic

Underlying Price Contract Value

Options Per Share Life in Years in millions

Outstanding at January 2008 4445455 7.55

Exercised 1639401 6.54 66

Forfeited/ Canceled 3633 15.26

Outstanding at December 31 2008 2802421 8.13 3.59 23

Exercisable at December 31 2008 2801796 8.13 3.59 23

Shares authorized for future grants 5762679

Fair value of options granted during period

Outstanding at January 2007 6605703 7.43

Exercised 2146640 7.16 61

Forfeited Canceled 13608 9.90

Outstanding at December 31 2007 4445455 7.55 4.37 $141

Exercisable at December 31 2007 4422519 7.51 4.36 $140

Shares authorized for future grants 2460562

Fair value of options granted during period

Outstanding at January 2006 20256013 6.14

Exercised 13494835 5.34 $352

Forfeited Canceled 155475 20.22

Outstanding at December 31 2006 6605703 7.43 5.36 $143

Exercisable at December 31 2006 5337153 7.02 5.14 $118

Shares authorized for future grants 6719642

Fair value of options granted during period

The intrinsic value of stock option is the amount by which the current market value or the market value

upon exercise of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price of the option

As of December 31 2008 unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options was not

significant

During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 we recognized excess tax benefits related to

stock options of $15 million $15 million and $84 million respectively which were recorded as adjustments to

additional paid-in capital and deferred income taxes with respect to such benefits
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31 2008

Outstanding Options Options Exercisable

Weighted-Avg

Range of Number Remaining Weighted-Avg Number Weighted-Avg
Exercise Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price

0.94$ 4.00 213689 1.10 3.27 213689 3.27

5.20 5.20 331009 3.56 5.20 331009 5.20

5.35 5.89 140150 2.25 5.55 140150 5.55

6.11 6.11 490114 2.79 6.11 490114 6.11

6.40 7.74 96617 2.97 6.90 96617 6.90

7.80 7.80 480578 4.00 7.80 480578 7.80

7.86 10.01 124987 3.53 8.52 124987 8.52

10.08 10.08 555058 4.34 10.08 555058 10.08

10.10 15.48 282719 4.89 13.38 282094 13.37

16.08 22.49 87500 6.04 19.74 87500 19.74

0.94$22.49 2802421 3.59 8.13 2801796 8.13

Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

Natural Gas and Oil Hedging Activities

Our results of operations and operating cash flows are impacted by changes in market prices for natural gas

and oil To mitigate portion of the exposure to adverse market changes we have entered into various derivative

instruments As of December 31 2008 our natural gas and oil derivative instruments were comprised of swaps

basis protection swaps knockout swaps cap-swaps call options put options and collars These instruments

allow us to predict with greater certainty the effective natural gas and oil prices to be received for our hedged

production Although derivatives often fail to achieve 100% effectiveness for accounting purposes we believe

our derivative instruments continue to be highly effective in achieving the risk management objectives for which

they were intended

For swap instruments Chesapeake receives fixed price for the hedged commodity and pays floating

market price to the counterparty The fixed-price payment and the floating-price payment are netted

resulting in net amount due to or from the counterparty

Basis protection swaps are arrangements that guarantee price differential for natural gas or oil from

specified delivery point For Mid-Continent basis protection swaps which typically have negative

differentials to NYMEX Chesapeake receives payment from the counterparty if the price differential

is greater than the stated terms of the contract and pays the counterparty if the price differential is less

than the stated terms of the contract For Appalachian Basin basis protection swaps which typically

have positive differentials to NYMEX Chesapeake receives payment from the counterparty if the

price differential is less than the stated terms of the contract and pays the counterparty if the price

differential is greater than the stated terms of the contract

For knockout swaps Chesapeake receives fixed price and
pays floating market price The fixed

price received by Chesapeake includes premium in exchange for the possibility to reduce the

counterparty exposure to zero in any given month if the floating market price is lower than certain

pre-determined knockout prices

For cap-swaps Chesapeake receives fixed price and pays floating market price The fixed price

received by Chesapeake includes premium in exchange for cap limiting the counterparty

exposure In other words there is no limit to Chesapeakes exposure but there is limit to the downside

exposure of the counterparty

102



CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

For call options Chesapeake receives premium from the counterparty in exchange for the sale of

call option If the market price exceeds the fixed price of the call option Chesapeake pays the

counterparty such excess If the market price settles below the fixed price of the call option no

payment is due from Chesapeake

For put options Chesapeake receives premium from the counterparty in exchange for the sale of put

option If the market price falls below the fixed price of the put option Chesapeake pays the

counterparty such shortfall If the market price settles above the fixed price of the put option no

payment is due from Chesapeake

Collars contain fixed floor price put and ceiling price call If the market price exceeds the call

strike price or falls below the put strike price Chesapeake receives the fixed price and pays the market

price If the market price is between the call and the put strike price no payments are due from either

party

Chesapeake enters into counter-swaps from time to time for the purpose of locking-in the value of swap
Under the counter-swap Chesapeake receives floating price for the hedged commodity and pays fixed price

to the counterparty The counter-swap is 100% effective in locking-in the value of swap since subsequent

changes in the market value of the swap are entirely offset by subsequent changes in the market value of the

counter-swap We refer to this locked-in value as locked swap Generally at the time Chesapeake enters into

counter-swap Chesapeake removes the original swaps designation as cash flow hedge and classifies the

original swap as non-qualifying hedge under SFAS 133 The reason for this new designation is that collectively

the swap and the counter-swap no longer hedge the
exposure to variability in expected future cash flows Instead

the swap and counter-swap effectively lock-in specific gain or loss that will be unaffected by subsequent

variability in natural
gas and oil prices Any locked-in gain or loss is recorded in accumulated other

comprehensive income and reclassified to natural
gas and oil sales in the month of related production

In accordance with FASB Interpretation No 39 to the extent that legal right of set-off exists Chesapeake
nets the value of its derivative

arrangements with the same counterparty in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets

Gains or losses from certain derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to natural gas and oil sales

on the consolidated statements of operations Realized gains losses are included in natural gas and oil sales in

the month of related production Pursuant to SFAS 133 certain derivatives do not qualify for designation as cash

flow hedges Changes in the fair value of these non-qualifying derivatives that occur prior to their maturity i.e
temporary fluctuations in value are reported currently in the consolidated statements of operations as unrealized

gains losses within natural
gas and oil sales Following provisions of SFAS 133 changes in the fair value of

derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges to the extent they are effective in offsetting cash flows

attributable to the hedged risk are recorded in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized
in earnings Any change in fair value resulting from ineffectiveness is recognized currently in natural gas and oil

sales as unrealized gains losses The components of natural gas and oil sales for the years ended December 31
2008 2007 and 2006 are presented below

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

Natural gas and oil sales $7069 $4795 $3870
Realized gains losses on natural

gas and oil derivatives 1203 1254
Unrealized gains losses on non-qualifying natural gas and oil

derivatives 887 252 184

Unrealized gains losses on ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges 90 122 311

Total natural gas and oil sales $7858 $5624 $5619
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The estimated fair values of our natural gas and oil derivative instruments as of December 31 2008 and

2007 are provided below The associated carrying values of these instruments are equal to the estimated fair

values

December 31

2008 2007

in millions

Derivative assets liabilities

Fixed-price natural gas swaps
863 54

Fixed-price natural gas collars 402

Natural gas basis protection swaps 93 151

Fixed-price natural gas knockout swaps
141 108

Natural gas call options 178 230
Natural

gas put options
39

Fixed-price oil swaps
31 110

Fixed-price oil knockout swaps
19 125

Fixed-price oil cap-swaps 17
Oil call options

35 96
Fixed-price oil collars

Estimated fair value $1305 $369

After adjusting for $736 million and $276 million of unrealized premiums the cumulative unrealized gain

loss related to these derivatives as of December 31 2008 and 2007 was $2.04 billion and $93 million

respectively

Based upon the market prices at December 31 2008 we expect to transfer approximately $345 million net

of income taxes of the gain included in the balance in accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings

during the next 12 months in the related month of production All transactions hedged as of December 31 2008

are expected to mature by December 31 2022

We have six secured hedging facilities each of which permits us to enter into cash-settled natural
gas

and

oil commodity transactions valued by the counterparty for up to stated maximum value Outstanding

transactions under each facility are collateralized by certain of our natural gas and oil properties that do not

secure any of our other obligations The value of reserve collateral pledged to each facility is required to be at

least 1.3 or 1.5 times the fair value of transactions outstanding under each facility In addition we may pledge

collateral from our revolving bank credit facility from time to time to these facilities to meet any additional

collateral coverage requirements The hedging facilities are subject to per annum exposure fee which is

assessed quarterly based on the average of the daily negative fair value amounts of the hedges if any during the

quarter The hedging facilities contain the standard representations and default provisions that are typical of such

agreements The agreements also contain various restrictive provisions which govern the aggregate natural gas

and oil production volumes that we are permitted to hedge under all of our agreements at any one time The fair

value of outstanding transactions per annum exposure
fees and the scheduled maturity dates are shown below

Secured Hedging Facilities

in millions

Fair value of outstanding transactions as of December 31

2008 116 369 37 245 94

Per annum exposure fee 1% 1% 0.8% 0.8% 0.8% 0.8%

Scheduled maturity date 2010 2013 2020 2012 2012 2012
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Chesapeake Exploration L.L.C is the named party to the facilities numbered and Chesapeake Energy

Corporation is the named party to the facilities numbered

Interest Rate Derivatives

We use interest rate derivatives to mitigate our exposure to the volatility in interest rates For interest rate

derivative instruments designated as fair value hedges in accordance with SFAS 133 changes in fair value are

recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as assets liabilities and the debts carrying value amount is

adjusted by the change in the fair value of the debt subsequent to the initiation of the derivative Changes in the

fair value of non-qualifying derivatives that occur prior to their maturity i.e temporary fluctuations in value
are reported currently in the consolidated statements of operations as unrealized gains losses within interest

expense

Gains or losses from certain interest rate derivative transactions are reflected as adjustments to interest

expense on the consolidated statements of operations Realized gains losses included in interest
expense were

$6 million $1 million and $2 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Unrealized gains losses included

in interest expense were $85 million $40 million and $2 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

As of December 31 2008 the following interest rate derivatives were outstanding

Notional Weighted Weighted Net Fair

Amount Average Average Fair Premiums Value
in Fixed Floating Value in In

millions Rate Rate Hedge millions millions

Fixed to Floating Interest Rate

Swaps

January 2008 November 2020 $750 6.75% mL plus 224 bp Yes 115

Call Options

February 2X9 May 2X9 $750 6.75% ml pIus 224 bp No II 105
Swaption

January 2009 $250 6.50% mL plus 2X bp No

Floating to Fixed Interest Rate

Swaps

August 2X7 August 2010 $825 4.74% mL No 27
Collars

August 2X7 August2010 $8X 4.52% mL No 35
Swaption

August2009 $500 2.56% mL No 10

$19 $62

The collars have ceiling and floor fixed interest rates of 5.37% and 4.52% respectively
Month LIBOR has been abbreviated mL and basis points has been abbreviated bp

In 2008 we closed interest rate derivatives for gains totaling $110 million of which $30 million was

recognized in interest expense The remaining $80 million was from interest rate derivatives designated as fair

value hedges and the settlement amounts received will be amortized as reduction to interest expense over the

remaining term of the related senior notes ranging from five to twelve years
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Foreign Currency Derivatives

On December 2006 we issued 600 million of 6.25% Euro-denominated Senior Notes due

2017 Concurrent with the issuance of the euro-denominated senior notes we entered into cross currency swap

to mitigate our exposure to fluctuations in the euro relative to the dollar over the term of the notes Under the

terms of the cross currency swap on each semi-annual interest payment date the counterparties will pay

Chesapeake 19 million and Chesapeake will pay the counterparties $30 million which will yield an annual

dollar-equivalent interest rate of 7.491% Upon maturity of the notes the counterparties will pay Chesapeake

600 million and Chesapeake will pay the counterparties $800 million The terms of the cross currency swap

were based on the dollar/euro exchange rate on the issuance date of $1.3325 to 1.00 Through the cross currency

swap we have eliminated any potential variability in Chesapeakes expected cash flows related to changes in

foreign exchange rates and therefore the swap qualifies as cash flow hedge under SFAS 133 The euro-

denominated debt is recorded in notes payable $835 million at December 31 2008 using an exchange rate of

$1.39 to 1.00 The fair value of the cross currency swap is recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as

liability of $77 million at December 31 2008

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following disclosure of the estimated fair value of financial instruments is made in accordance with the

requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 107 Disclosures About Fair Value of

Financial Instruments We have determined the estimated fair values by using available market information and

valuation methodologies Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates

of fair value The use of different market assumptions or valuation methodologies may have material effect on

the estimated fair value amounts

The carrying values of financial instruments comprising current assets and current liabilities approximate

fair values due to the short-term maturities of these instruments We estimate the fair value of our long-term debt

and our convertible preferred stock using primarily quoted market prices Our carrying amounts for such debt

excluding the impact of interest rate derivatives at December 31 2008 and 2007 were $14.0 billion and $10.9

billion respectively compared to approximate fair values of $10.5 billion and $11.1 billion respectively The

carrying amounts for our convertible preferred stock as of December 31 2008 and 2007 were $505 million and

$960 million respectively compared to approximate fair values of $294 million and $1.0 billion respectively

Concentration of Credit Risk

significant portion of our liquidity is concentrated in both cash and cash equivalents and derivative

instruments On December 31 2008 our cash and cash equivalents were invested in money market funds with

investment grade ratings significant portion of these funds was invested at the close of business on

September 19 2008 and is protected under the U.S Treasury Departments Temporary Guarantee Program The

remaining funds were spread among several counterparties to mitigate risk The derivative instruments enable us

to hedge portion of our exposure to natural gas and oil price and interest rate volatility These arrangements

expose us to credit risk from our counterparties To mitigate this risk we enter into derivative contracts only with

investment-grade rated counterparties deemed by management to be competent and competitive market makers

Recently there have been concerns about the ability of certain counterparties to continue to meet their financial

obligations On December 31 2008 our commodity and interest rate derivative instruments were spread among

16 counterparties and no single counterparty represented
material credit risk to the company

On September 15 2008 Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc Lehman filed for protection under Chapter 11

of the federal Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court in the Southern District of New York
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Chesapeake and its subsidiaries had certain business relationships with Lehman and its subsidiaries We believe

the Lehman bankruptcy and its potential impact on subsidiaries of Lehman will not have material adverse effect

on Chesapeake or its subsidiaries individually or collectively

Lehman Brothers Commercial Bank LBCB subsidiary of Lehman had $75 million of the $3.5 billion

in commitments under our revolving bank credit facility Although LBCB to date has not filed for bankruptcy

to our knowledge LBCB had not funded approximately $11 million of its share of our borrowings under the

credit facility as of December 31 2008 and we have no reason to expect that LBCB will fund borrowings in the

future The loss of up to $75 million in borrowing capacity is not material to us

Chesapeake was counterparty with Lehman Brothers Commodity Services Inc LBCS subsidiary of

Lehman in financial transactions Specifically we utilized LBCS as counterparty to hedge portion of our

natural
gas and oil production The obligations of LBCS are guaranteed by Lehman and the Lehman bankruptcy

filing resulted in an event of default under our ISDA agreement with LBCS allowing us to terminate the ISDA on

September 18 2008 and cancel the outstanding transactions The potential loss associated with the termination

of such transactions is not material to us

Chesapeake sells natural gas to Eagle Energy Partners LP Eagle Energy previously an affiliate of

Lehman Eagle Energy was not included in the Lehman bankruptcy filing On September 26 2008 Eagle Energy

notified us that EDF Trading Limited EDFT wholly-owned subsidiary of ElectricitØ de France SA
EDF had entered into an agreement with Lehman to acquire Eagle Energy The acquisition of Eagle Energy

by EDFT was completed on October 31 2008 We have received cash payment for all natural gas that has been

sold to Eagle Energy and are continuing to do business with Eagle

Chesapeake will continue to closely monitor the Lehman bankruptcy situation and will assert its rights

under the various contractual relationships We monitor the credit worthiness of all our counterparties and do not

believe failure by counterparty would have material negative impact on our liquidity

Other financial instruments which potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally

of investments in equity instruments and accounts receivable Our accounts receivable are primarily from

purchasers of natural
gas and oil and exploration and production companies which own interests in properties we

operate This industry concentration has the potential to impact our overall
exposure to credit risk either

positively or negatively in that our customers may be similarly affected by changes in economic industry or

other conditions We generally require letters of credit for receivables from customers which are judged to have

sub-standard credit unless the credit risk can otherwise be mitigated
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10 Supplemental Disclosures About Natural Gas and Oil Producing Activities

Net Capitalized Costs

Evaluated and unevaluated capitalized costs related to Chesapeakes natural gas and oil producing activities

are summarized as follows

December 31

2008 2007

in millions

Natural gas and oil properties

Proved 28965 $27656

Unproved 11216 5641

Total 40181 33297

Less accumulated depreciation depletion and amortization 11866 7112

Net capitalized costs 28315 $26185

Unproved properties not subject to amortization at December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 consisted mainly of

leasehold acquired through corporate and significant natural gas and oil property acquisitions and through direct

purchases of leasehold We capitalized approximately $464 million $269 million and $179 million of interest

during 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively on significant investments in unproved properties that were not yet

included in the amortization base of the full-cost pool We will continue to evaluate our unevaluated properties

however the timing of the ultimate evaluation and disposition of the properties has not been determined

Costs Incurred in Natural Gas and Oil Exploration and Development Acquisitions and Divest itures

Costs incurred in natural gas and oil property exploration and development acquisitions and divestitures

activities which have been capitalized are summarized as follows

December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

Development and exploration costs

Development drilling 5185 4402 $2772

Exploratory drilling
612 653 349

Geological and geophysical costs 314 343 154

Asset retirement obligation and other 10 29 23

Total 6121 5427 3298

Acquisition costs

Proved properties
355 671 1175

Unproved properties 8129 2465 3473

Deferred income taxes 13 131 180

Total 8497 3267 4828

Proceeds from divestitures

Proved properties 2433 1142
Unproved properties 5302

Total 6883 7552 $8126

Includes capitalized internal cost of $326 million $243 million and $147 million respectively

Includes capitalized internal cost of $26 million $19 million and $13 million respectively

Includes costs to acquire new leasehold and related capitalized interest
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Results of Operations from Natural Gas and Oil Producing Activities unaudited

Chesapeakes results of operations from natural gas and oil producing activities are presented below for

2008 2007 and 2006 The following table includes revenues and expenses associated directly with our natural

gas and oil producing activities It does not include any interest costs or general and administrative costs and

therefore is not necessarily indicative of the contribution to consolidated net operating results of our natural gas

and oil operations

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

Natural gas and oil sales 7858 5624 5619

Production expenses 889 640 490
Production taxes 284 216 176
Impairment of natural gas and oil properties 2800
Depletion and depreciation 1970 1835 1359
Imputed income tax provision 747 1115 1383

Results of operations from natural gas and oil producing activities 1168 1818 2211

Includes $797 million $374 million and $495 million of unrealized gains losses on natural gas and oil

derivatives for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

The imputed income tax provision is hypothetical at the effective income tax rate and determined without

regard to our deduction for general and administrative expenses interest costs and other income tax credits

and deductions nor whether the hypothetical tax provision will be payable

Natural Gas and Oil Reserve Quantities unaudited

Chesapeakes petroleum engineers and internal staff estimated all of our proved reserves as of December 31

2008 and independent petroleum engineering firms audited an aggregate of 76% of our estimated proved

reserves by volume as set forth below reserve audit is not the same as financial audit and reserve audit is

less rigorous in nature than reserve report prepared by an independent petroleum engineering firm containing

its own estimate of reserves

December 31
2008

Netherland Sewell Associates Inc 42%

Lee Keeling and Associates Inc 13%

Data and Consulting Services Division of Schlumberger Technology

Corporation 8%

Ryder Scott Company L.P 8%

LaRoche Petroleum Consultants Ltd 5%

109



CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

Independent petroleum engineers and Chesapeakes petroleum engineers estimated our proved reserves as

of December 31 2007 and 2006 The portion of proved reserves by volume estimated by each is presented

below

December 31

2007 2006

Netherland Sewell Associates Inc 34% 32%

Lee Keeling and Associates Inc 11 14

Data and Consulting Services Division of Schiumberger Technology Corporation 12 16

Ryder Scott Company L.P 11 10

LaRoche Petroleum Consultants Ltd 11

Internal petroleum engineers 21 20

100% 100%

The information below on our natural gas and oil reserves is presented in accordance with regulations

prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission Chesapeake emphasizes that reserve estimates are

inherently imprecise Our reserve estimates were generally based upon extrapolation of historical production

trends analogy to similar properties and volumetric calculations Accordingly these estimates are expected to

change and such changes could be material and occur in the near term as future information becomes available

Proved natural gas and oil reserves represent the estimated quantities of crude oil natural gas and natural

gas liquids which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in

future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions i.e prices and costs as of

the date the estimate is made Reservoirs are considered proved if economic producibility is supported by either

actual production or conclusive formation test The area of reservoir considered proved includes that portion

delineated by drilling and defined by natural gas-oil and/or oil-water contacts if any and the immediately

adjoining portions not yet drilled but which can be reasonably judged as economically productive on the basis of

available geological and engineering data In the absence of information on fluid contacts the lowest known

structural occurrence of hydrocarbons controls the lower proved limit of the reservoir Reserves which can be

produced economically through application of improved recovery techniques such as fluid injection are

included in the proved classification when successful testing by pilot project or the operation of an installed

program in the reservoir provides support for the engineering analysis on which the project or program was

based

Proved developed natural gas and oil reserves are those expected to be recovered through existing wells

with existing equipment and operating methods Additional natural gas and oil expected to be obtained through

the application of fluid injection or other improved recovery techniques for supplementing the natural forces and

mechanisms of primary recovery should be included as proved developed reserves only after testing by pilot

project or after the operation of an installed program has confirmed through production responses that increased

recovery will be achieved
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Presented below is summary of changes in estimated reserves of Chesapeake for 2008 2007 and 2006

Oil Gas Total

mbbl mmcl mmcfe

December 31 2008

Proved reserves beginning of period 123554 10137299 10878623
Extensions discoveries and other additions 11465 1526364 1595156
Revisions of previous estimates 1186 956908 949792
Production 11220 775424 842744
Sale of reserves-in-place 4563 674177 701552
Purchase of reserves-in-place 2582 156485 171974

Proved reserves end of period 120632 11327455 12051249

Proved developed reserves

Beginning of period 88834 6408622 6941626

End of period 84913 7581523 8091002

December 31 2007

Proved reserves beginning of period 106030 8319434 8955614
Extensions discoveries and other additions 11644 1053123 1122986
Revisions of previous estimates 7732 1298802 1345195
Production 9882 654969 714261
Sale of reserves-in-place 208141 208141
Purchase of reserves-in-place 8030 329050 377230

Proved reserves end of period 123554 10137299 10878623

Proved developed reserves

Beginning of period 76705 5113211 5573441

End of period 88834 6408622 6941626

December 31 2006

Proved reserves beginning of period 103323 6900754 7520690
Extensions discoveries and other additions 8456 777858 828594
Revisions of previous estimates 3822 539606 516676
Production 8654 526459 578383
Sale of reserves-in-place 123 141
Purchase of reserves-in-place 6730 627798 668178

Proved reserves end of period 106030 8319434 8955614

Proved developed reserves

Beginning of period 76238 4442270 4899694

Endofperiod 76705 5113211 5573441

During 2008 Chesapeake acquired approximately 172 bcfe of proved reserves through purchases of natural

gas and oil properties for consideration of $355 million primarily in five separate transactions of greater than

$10 million each and we sold 702 bcfe of our proved reserves for approximately $2.433 billion During 2008
we recorded positive revisions of 950 bcfe to the December 31 2007 estimates of our reserves Included in the

revisions were 298 bcfe of negative adjustments caused by lower natural gas prices at December 31 2008 and
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1.248 tcfe of positive performance related revisions Lower prices decrease the economic lives of the underlying

natural gas and oil properties and thereby decrease the estimated future reserves The weighted average natural

gas
and oil wellhead prices used in computing our reserves were $5.12 per mcf and $41.60 per bbl at

December 31 2008

During 2007 Chesapeake acquired approximately 377 bcfe of proved reserves through purchases of natural

gas and oil properties for consideration of $671 million primarily in 10 separate transactions of greater than $10

million each In December 2007 we sold 208 bcfe of our proved reserves in certain Chesapeake-operated

producing assets in Kentucky and West Virginia for approximately $1.142 billion During 2007 we recorded

positive revisions of 1.345 tcfe to the December 31 2006 estimates of our reserves Included in the revisions

were 97 bcfe of positive adjustments
caused by higher natural gas prices at December 31 2007 and 1.248 tcfe of

positive performance related revisions of which 1.207 tcfe relate to infill drilling and increased density locations

Higher prices extend the economic lives of the underlying natural gas
and oil properties and thereby increase the

estimated future reserves The weighted average natural gas and oil welihead prices used in computing our

reserves were $6.19 per
mcf and $90.58 per

bbl at December 31 2007

During 2006 Chesapeake acquired approximately 668 bcfe of proved reserves through purchases of natural

gas and oil properties for consideration of $1175 billion primarily in 15 separate transactions of greater than

$10 million each During 2006 we recorded upward revisions of 517 bcfe to the December 31 2005 estimates

of our reserves Included in the revisions were 212 bcfe of downward adjustments caused by lower natural gas

prices at December 31 2006 offset by 729 bcfe of positive performance related revisions of which 710 bcfe

relate to infill drilling and increased density locations Lower prices reduce the economic lives of the underlying

natural gas
and oil properties and thereby decrease the estimated future reserves The weighted average natural

gas and oil wellhead prices used in computing our reserves were $5.41 per mcf and $56.25 per bbl at

December 31 2006

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows unaudited

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 69 prescribes guidelines for computing standardized

measure of future net cash flows and changes therein relating to estimated proved reserves Chesapeake has

followed these guidelines which are briefly discussed below

Future cash inflows and future production and development costs are determined by applying year-end

prices and costs to the estimated quantities of natural gas and oil to be produced Actual future prices and costs

may be materially higher or lower than the year-end prices and costs used Estimates are made of quantities of

proved reserves and the future periods during which they are expected to be produced based on year-end

economic conditions Estimated future income taxes are computed using current statutory income tax rates

including consideration for the current tax basis of the properties and related carryforwards giving effect to

permanent differences and tax credits The resulting future net cash flows are reduced to present value amounts

by applying 10% annual discount factor

The assumptions used to compute the standardized measure are those prescribed by the Financial

Accounting Standards Board and as such do not necessarily reflect our expectations of actual revenue to be

derived from those reserves nor their present worth The limitations inherent in the reserve quantity estimation

process as discussed previously are equally applicable to the standardized measure computations since these

estimates reflect the valuation process
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The following summary sets forth our future net cash flows relating to proved natural gas and oil reserves

based on the standardized measure prescribed in SFAS 69

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

Future cash inflows 62995a 73955b 50984c
Future production costs 18828 19319 13790
Future development costs 7378 8315 6804
Future income tax provisions 9813 14056 8877
Future net cash flows 26976 32265 21513

Less effect of 10% discount factor 15143 17303 11506

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows 11833 14962 10007

Calculated using weighted average prices of $41.60 per barrel of oil and $5.12 per mcf of natural gas
Calculated using weighted average prices of $90.58 per barrel of oil and $6.19 per mcf of natural gas
Calculated using weighted average prices of $56.25 per barrel of oil and $5.41 per mcf of natural gas

The principal sources of change in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows are as

follows

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

in millions

Standardized measure beginning of period $14962 $10007 15968

Sales of natural
gas and oil produced net of production costs

5896 3939 3204
Net changes in prices and production costs 5025 3277 10954
Extensions and discoveries net of production and development

costs 2752 2424 1184

Changes in future development costs 1043 639 743
Development costs incurred during the period that reduced future

development costs 1130 1410 954

Revisions of previous quantity estimates 1524 2960 948

Purchase of reserves-in-place 362 1166 1135

Sales of reserves-in-place 1696 708
Accretion of discount 2057 1365 2293
Net change in income taxes 1843 1970 3325

Changes in production rates and other 1223 391 899
Standardized measure end of period $11833 $14962 10007

The discounted amounts related to cash flow hedges that would affect future net cash flows have not been

included in any of the periods presented

Excluding gains losses on derivatives

11 Divestitures

Joint Ventures

In 2008 we entered into three joint ventures to sell portion of our leasehold in the joint venture areas

which allowed us to recover much or all of our initial leasehold investments in the plays reduce our ongoing

capital costs and reduce future risks The transactions are detailed below
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On July 2008 we entered into joint venture with Plains Exploration Production Company to develop

our Haynesville Shale leasehold in Northwest Louisiana and East Texas Under the terms of the joint venture

Plains acquired 20% interest in approximately 550000 net acres of our Haynesville Shale leasehold for $1.65

billion in cash Plains also agreed to fund 50% of our remaining 80% share of the costs associated with drilling

and completing future Haynesville Shale joint venture wells over multi-year period up to an additional $1.65

billion In addition Plains has the right to 20% participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in the

Haynesville Shale at our cost plus fee Chesapeake and Plains amended the joint venture in February 2009 to

provide Plains one-time option in June 2010 to reduce its obligation to fund our drilling and completion costs

by $800 million in exchange for assigning us 50% of its interest in the Haynesville joint venture properties

PXP commitment to fund 50% of our share of future drilling and completion costs up to $1.65 billion is

expected to reduce future DDA expense by reducing the amount of capital we will invest to develop our

Haynesville properties

On September 2008 we entered into joint venture with BP America Inc to develop our Fayetteville

Shale leasehold in Arkansas Under the terms of the joint venture BP acquired 25% interest in approximately

540000 net acres of our Fayetteville Shale leasehold for $1.1 billion in cash BP has also agreed to pay $800

million by funding 100% of Chesapeakes 75% share of drilling and completion expenditures until the $800

million obligation has been funded In addition BP has the right to 25% participation in any additional

leasehold we acquire in the Fayetteville Shale at our cost plus fee BPs commitment to fund our share of future

drilling and completion costs up to $800 million is expected to reduce future DDA expense by reducing the

amount of capital we will invest to develop our Fayetteville properties

On November 25 2008 we entered into joint venture with StatoilHydro ASA to develop our Marcellus

Shale leasehold in Appalachia Under the terms of the joint venture StatoilHydro acquired 32.5% interest in

our Marcellus Shale assets for $3.375 billion The assets included approximately 1.8 million net acres of

leasehold of which StatoilHydro now owns approximately 0.6 million net acres and Chesapeake owns

approximately 1.2 million net acres Chesapeake received $1.25 billion in cash from StatoilHydro funding 75%

of Chesapeakes 67.5% share of drilling and completion expenditures until the $2.1 25 billion obligation has been

funded In addition StatoilHydro has the right to 32.5% participation in any additional leasehold we acquire in

the Marcellus Shale StatoilHydros commitment to fund 75% of our share of future drilling and completion costs

up to $2 125 billion is expected to reduce future DDA expense by reducing the amount of capital we will

invest to develop our Marcellus properties

For accounting purposes cash proceeds from these transactions were reflected as reduction of natural gas

and oil properties with no gain or loss recognized

Volumetric Production Payments

On May 2008 we sold certain long-lived producing assets in Texas Oklahoma and Kansas in

volumetric production payment transaction for net proceeds of $616 million These assets had estimated proved

reserves of approximately 94 bcfe and current net production at the time of sale of approximately 47 mmcfe
per

day Chesapeake retained drilling rights on the properties below currently producing intervals

On August 2008 we completed volumetric production payment transaction with estimated proved

reserves of approximately 93 bcfe and current net production at the time of sale of approximately 46 mmcfe per

day from wells in the Anadarko Basin of Oklahoma This transaction resulted in net proceeds to us of $594

million Chesapeake retained drilling rights on the properties below currently producing intervals and retained all

remaining production after approximately 11
years
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On December 31 2008 we sold certain long-lived producing assets in the Anadarko and Arkoma Basins in

volumetric production payment transaction for net proceeds of $412 million These assets had estimated proved

reserves of approximately 98 bcfe and current net production at the time of sale of approximately 60 mmcfe per

day Chesapeake retained drilling rights on the properties below currently producing intervals

On December 31 2007 we sold portion of our proved reserves and production in certain Chesapeake-

operated producing assets in Kentucky and West Virginia in volumetric production payment for net proceeds of

approximately $1.1 billion These assets had estimated proved reserves of approximately 208 bcfe and current

net production at the time of sale of approximately 55 mmcfe
per day Chesapeake retained drilling rights on

the properties below currently producing intervals

For accounting purposes cash proceeds from these transactions were reflected as reduction of natural gas

and oil properties with no gain or loss recognized and our proved reserves were reduced accordingly

Other Divest itures

On August 2008 BP America Inc acquired all of our interests in approximately 90000 net acres of

leasehold and producing natural gas properties in the Arkoma Basin Woodford Shale play for $1.7 billion in

cash The properties were producing approximately 50 mmcfe
per day at the time of sale

Also in 2008 we sold non-core natural gas and oil assets in the Rocky Mountains and in the Mid-Continent

for proceeds of approximately $400 million

12 Investments

At December 31 2008 investments accounted for under the equity method totaled $426 million and

investments accounted for under the cost method totaled $18 million Following is summary of our

investments

December 31

2008 2007

Approximate Accounting Carrying Carrying
Owned Method Value Value

in millions

Frac Tech Services Ltd 20% Equity $223 $237

Chaparral Energy Inc 32% Equity 152 271

DHS Drilling Company 47% Equity 19 28

Sierra Mid-Con L.P 50% Equity 12

Gastar Exploration Ltd 17% Cost 11 42

Mountain Drilling Company 49% Equity 19

Ventura Refining and Transmission LLC 25% Equity

Other
18 15

$444 $612

The carrying value of our investment in Frac Tech is in excess of our underlying equity in net assets by

approximately $160 million as of December 31 2008 This excess amount is attributed to certain intangibles

associated with the specialty services provided by Frac Tech and is being amortized over the estimated life

of the intangibles

Our investees have been impacted by the dramatic slowing of the worldwide economy and the freezing of

the credit markets in the fourth quarter of 2008 and into 2009 The economic weakness has resulted in
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significantly reduced oil and natural
gas prices leading to meaningful decline in the overall level of

activity in the markets served by our investees Associated with the weakness in performance of certain of

the investees as well as an evaluation of their financial condition and near-term prospects we recognized

that an other than temporary impairment had occurred on the following investments Chaparral Energy of

$100 million DHS Drilling Company of $20 million and Mountain Drilling Company of $10 million We

will continue to monitor the performance of our investments and it is reasonably possible that we may

experience additional impairments although we do not believe that our exposure to future charges would be

material to our consolidated results of operations

The carrying value of our investment in Chaparral is in excess of our underlying equity in net assets by

approximately $107 million as of December 31 2008 This excess is attributed to the natural gas and oil

reserves held by Chaparral and is being amortized over the estimated life of these reserves based on unit of

production rate

Our investment in Gastar had an associated cost basis of $89 million as of December 31 2008 and 2007

In early 2007 we invested approximately $1 million in Ventura Refining and Transmission LLC to acquire

25% interest and subsequently entered into certain lending agreements with Ventura for which

approximately $54 million was outstanding at December 31 2008 Due to worsening economic conditions

the lack of third party credit available to Ventura and poor operating performance in the second half of

2008 management determined that an impairment had occurred and recognized charge of $50 million at

December 31 2008 See Note for further information regarding our guarantee of Venturas performance

In 2007 we sold our 33% limited partnership interest in Eagle Energy Partners L.P which we first

acquired in 2003 for proceeds of $124 million and gain of $83 million

In 2006 we sold our investment in publicly-traded Pioneer Drilling Company common stock realizing

proceeds of $159 million and gain of $117 million We owned 17% of the common stock of Pioneer which we

began acquiring in 2003

The table below presents summarized financial information for our significant equity method investments

including Chaparral Frac Tech Ventura Mountain Drilling and DHS The investee financial information reflects

the most current financial information available to investors and includes lags in financial reporting of up to one

quarter

December 31

2008 2007

in millions

Current assets 411 274

Noncurrent assets $2490 $2185

Current liabilities 429 312

Noncurrent liabilities $1883 $1673

Gross revenue $1523 972

Operating Expense $1261 739

Net Income 105 67
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13 Fair Value Measurements

Effective January 2008 we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 157 Fair Value
Measurements for our financial assets and liabilities measured on recurring basis This statement establishes

framework for measuring fair value of assets and liabilities and expands disclosures about fair value

measurements In February 2008 the FASB issued FSP 157-2 which delayed the effective date of SFAS No 157

by one year for nonfinancial assets and liabilities

SFAS 157 defines fair value as the amount that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid for the
transfer of liability in an orderly transaction between market participants i.e an exit price To estimate an exit

price three-level hierarchy is used The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs which refer broadly to

assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability into three levels Level inputs are

unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities and have the highest priority Level

inputs are inputs other than quoted prices within Level that are observable for the asset or liability either

directly or indirectly Level inputs are unobservable inputs for the financial asset or liability and have the
lowest priority Chesapeake uses appropriate valuation techniques based on available inputs including

counterparty quotes to measure the fair values of its assets and liabilities Counterparty quotes are generally
assessed as Level input

The following table provides fair value measurement information for financial assets and liabilities

measured at fair value on recurring basis as of December 31 2008

Quoted Significant

Prices in Other Significant

Active Observable Unobservable
Markets Inputs Inputs Total

Level Level Level Fair Value

in millions

Financial Assets Liabilities

Cash equivalents $1749 1749

Derivatives net 874 292 1166
Investments

11 11

Other long-term assets 19 19

Long-term debt 1470 $1470
Other long-term liabilities 19 19

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values of the assets and liabilities in

the table above

Level Fair Value Measurements

cash Equivalents The fair value of cash equivalents is based on quoted market prices

Investments The fair value of Chesapeakes investment in Gastar Exploration Ltd common stock is based

on quoted market price

Other Long-Term Assets and Liabilities The fair value of other long-term assets and liabilities consisting
of obligations under our Deferred Compensation Plan is based on quoted market prices
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Level Fair Value Measurements

Derivatives The fair values of our natural gas swaps are measured internally using established index

prices and other sources These values are based upon among other things futures prices and time to maturity

Level Fair Value Measurements

Derivatives The fair value of our derivative instruments excluding natural gas swaps have been established

utilizing established index prices volatility curves and discount factors These estimates are compared to our

counterparty
values for reasonableness Derivative transactions are also subject to the risk that counterparties will be

unable to meet their obligations Such non-performance risk is considered in the valuation of our derivative

instruments but to date has not had material impact on the values of our derivatives

Debt The fair value of our long-term debt is based on face value of the debt along with the value of the

related interest rate swaps The interest rate swap values are based on estimates provided by our respective

counterparties and reviewed internally for reasonableness using future interest rate curves and time to maturity

reconciliation of Chesapeakes assets and liabilities classified as Level measurements is presented below

Derivatives Debt Total

in millions

Balance of Level as of January 2008 $340 $2404 $2744
Total gains or losses realized/unrealized

Included in earnings 744 184 928

Included in other comprehensive income loss 82 82
Purchases issuances and settlements 30 750b 720

Transfers in and out of Level

Balance of Level as of December 31 2008 292 $1470 $1178

Natural Gas and Oil

Revenue Interest

in millions

Total gains and losses related to derivatives included in earnings for the

period $876 $132

Change in unrealized gains or losses relating to assets still held at reporting

date $815 $126

Amount represents debt no longer recorded at fair value as result of the termination of interest rate swaps

in 2008

14 Asset Retirement Obligations

The components of the change in our asset retirement obligations are shown below

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007

in millions

Asset retirement obligations beginning of period $236 $193

Additions 21 19

Revisions 10

Settlements and disposals

Accretion expense 17 15

Asset retirement obligations end of period $269 $236
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Based on increasing service costs we revised our asset retirement obligation related to natural gas and oil

wells in 2007

15 Major Customers and Segment Information

Sales to individual customers constituting 10% or more of total revenues before the effects of hedging

were as follows

Year Ended Percent of

December 31 Customer Amount Total Revenues

in millions

2008 Eagle Energy Partners L.P $1283 12%

2007 Eagle Energy Partners LP $1072 15%
2006 Eagle Energy Partners L.P 867 16%

In September 2003 Chesapeake invested in Eagle Energy Partners L.P and received 25% limited

partnership interest Through additional investments Chesapeake increased its limited partner ownership interest

to approximately 33% as of December 31 2006 In 2007 we sold our 33% limited partnership interest for

proceeds of $124 million and gain of $83 million

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 131 Disclosures about Segments of

an Enterprise and Related Information we have two reportable operating segments Our exploration and

production operational segment and natural
gas and oil marketing segment are managed separately because of the

nature of their products and services The exploration and production segment is responsible for finding and

producing natural gas and oil The marketing segment is responsible for gathering processing compressing

transporting and selling natural gas and oil primarily from Chesapeake-operated wells We also have drilling rig

and trucking operations which are responsible for providing drilling rigs primarily used on Chesapeake-operated

wells and trucking services utilized in the transportation of drilling rigs on both Chesapeake-operated wells and

wells operated by third parties
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Management evaluates the performance of our segments based upon income before income taxes Revenues

from the marketing segments sale of natural gas and oil related to Chesapeakes ownership interests are reflected

as exploration and production revenues Such amounts totaled $5.5 billion $3.5 billion and $2.6 billion for 2008

2007 and 2006 respectively The following tables present selected financial information for Chesapeakes

operating segments Our drilling and trucking service operations are presented in Other Operations for all

periods presented

Exploration and Other Intercompany Consolidated

Production Marketing Operations Eliminations Total

in millions

For the Year Ended December 31 2008

Revenues 7858 9126 631 $5986 $11629

Intersegment revenues 5528 458 5986

Total Revenues 7858 3598 173 11629

Depreciation depletion and amortization 2111 28 35 27 2147

Interest and other income 14 II
Interest expense 314 314

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties

and other fixed assets 2800 30 2830
Impairment of investments 180 180
Gain on exchanges or repurchases of debt 237 237

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES .. 1177 28 68 87 1186

TOTAL ASSETS $35043 3416 688 703 $38444

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 7658 1765 229 9652

For the Year Ended December 31 2007

Revenues 5624 5508 493 $3825 7800

Intersegment revenues 3468 357 3825

Total Revenues 5624 2040 136 7800

Depreciation depletion and amortization 1954 25 26 16 1989

Interest and other income 14 15

Interest expense
406 406

Other income/expense 83 83

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES .. 2287 41 135 122 2341

TOTAL ASSETS $29317 1759 487 829 $30734

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 7977 534 $163 8348

For the Year Ended December 31 2006

Revenues 5619 4135 325 $2753 7326

Intersegment revenues 2558 195 2753

Total Revenues 5619 1577 130 7326

Depreciation depletion and amortization 1441 10 28 16 1463

Interest and other income 22 26

Interest expense
300 301

Other income/expense 117 117

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES .. 3192 41 106 84 3255

TOTAL ASSETS $23333 864 $786 566 $24417

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 8423 255 231 8909
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16 Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

Chesapeake Energy Corporation is holding company and owns no operating assets and has no significant

operations independent of its subsidiaries As of December 31 2007 our obligations under our outstanding

senior notes and contingent convertible notes listed in Note were fully and unconditionally guaranteed jointly

and severally by all of our wholly-owned subsidiaries other than minor subsidiaries on senior unsecured

basis Since October 2008 following the restructuring of our non-Appalachian midstream operations as

described in Note certain of our wholly-owned subsidiaries having significant assets and operations have not

guaranteed our outstanding notes The midstream revolving credit facility referred to in Note contains

covenant restricting Chesapeake Midstream Partners L.P the parent of our midstream subsidiaries from paying

dividends or distributions or making loans to Chesapeake

Set forth below are condensed consolidating financial statements for Chesapeake Energy Corporation the

parent on stand-alone unconsolidated basis and its combined guarantor and combined non-guarantor

subsidiaries as of and for the year ended December 31 2008 We have not provided comparative financial

statements because the non-guarantor subsidiaries as of December 31 2007 were minor subsidiaries individually

and in the aggregate The financial information may not necessarily be indicative of results of operations cash

flows or financial position had the subsidiaries operated as independent entities

121



CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

AS OF DECEMBER 31 2008

in millions

Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1749 1749

Other current assets 13 2372 189 31 2543

Total Current Assets 13 4121 189 31 4292

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Total natural gas and oil properties at cost based

on full-cost accounting net 28300 15 28315

Other property and equipment net 1918 2912 4830

Total Property and Equipment 30218 2927 33145

Other assets 155 837 15 1007

Investments in subsidiaries and intercompany

advance 8455 140 8595

TOTAL ASSETS 8623 $35316 $3131 $8626 $38444

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 257 3322 133 91 3621

Intercompany payable receivable from parent 18172 15947 2165 60

Total Current Liabilities 17915 19269 2298 31 3621

Long-term debt net 10250 3474 460 14184

Deferred income tax liability
65 3471 227 3763

Other liabilities 74 647 579

Total Long-Term Liabilities 10241 7592 693 18526

Total Stockholders Equity 16297 8455 140 8595 16297

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS

EQUITY 8623 $35316 $3131 $8626 $38444
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
in millions

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

7856

3420

170

11446

155
44

199

20

7858

3598

173

11629

889

284

377

3505

143

$2
333

47

382

23

142

21

30

65

281

101

For the Year Ended December 31 2008

REVENUES
Natural gas and oil sales

Natural gas and oil marketing sales

Service operations revenue

Total Revenues

OPERATING COSTS
Production expenses 889

Production taxes 284

General and administrative expenses 354

Natural gas and oil marketing expenses 3363

Service operations expense 142

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties and

other fixed assets 2800

Natural gas and oil depreciation depletion and

amortization

Depreciation and amortization of other assets .. 17 31
Total Operating Costs 17 51

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 17 148

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Interest and other income expense 558 20 558 11
Interest expense 551 313 558 314
Impairment of investments 130 50 180
Gain on exchanges or repurchases of Chesapeake

debt 237 237

Equity in net earnings of subsidiary 585 58 527

Total Other Income Expense 829 521 49 527 268

INCOMEBEFOREINCOMETAXES 812 997 52 675 1186

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 89 412 20 58 463

NET INCOME $723 585 $32 $617 723

2830

1970

126

9928

1518

1970

177

10175

1454
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
in millions

Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

For the Year Ended December 31 2008

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 156 5493 204 $617 5236

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES

Additions to natural gas and oil properties 14567 14576

Divestitures of proved and unproved natural gas

and oil properties 7652 18 7670

Additions to other property and equipment 1284 1789 3073
Other investing activities 163 28 135

Cash used in investing activities 8036 1808 9844

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from credit facility borrowings 12831 460 13291

Payments on credit facility borrowings 11307 11307

Proceeds from issuance of senior notes net of

offering costs 2136 2136

Proceeds from issuance of common stock net of

offering costs 2598 2598

Other financing activities 514 162 10 362

Intercompany advances net 4376 2605 1154 617
_______

Cash provided by financing activities 156 4291 1604 617 6356

Net increase decrease in cash and cash

equivalents 1748 1748

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 1749 1749
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17 Quarterly Financial Data unaudited

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data for 2008 and 2007 are as follows in millions except per

share data

Total revenues

Gross profit loss

Net income loss
Net income loss available to common shareholders

Net earnings lossper common share

Basic

Diluted

18 Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Quarters Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2008 2008 2008 2008

$1611 455 $7491 $2982

104 2533 5478 1387
132 1597 3313 861
143 1649 3282 867

$0.29 3.17 5.93 1.51

$0.29 3.17 5.61 1.51

0.51 1.09

0.50 1.01

December 31
2007

2088

612

303

158

The FASB recently issued the following standards which were reviewed by Chesapeake to determine the

potential impact on our financial statements upon adoption

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial

Statements an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No 51 This statement requires an entity to

separately disclose non-controlling interests as separate component of equity in the balance sheet and clearly

identify on the face of the income statement net income related to non-controlling interests This statement is

effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 The adoption of this

statement will not have material impact on our financial position results of operations or cash flows

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141R Business combinations This statement requires

assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be measured at fair value as of the acquisition date acquisition-related

costs incurred prior to the acquisition to be expensed and contractual contingencies to be recognized at fair value

as of the acquisition date This statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning

after December 15 2008 We will comply with this statement prospectively in accounting for future business

combinations

Total revenues

Gross profit

Net income

Net income available to common shareholders

Net earnings per common share

Basic

Diluted

Quarters Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30
2007 2007 2007

$1580 2105 $2027

486 836 715

258 518c 372

232 493c 346

0.76 0.34

0.72 0.33

Total revenue less operating costs

Includes non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $3.0 10 billion related to the carrying value of natural gas

and oil properties and certain investments and pre-tax gain of $268 million on exchanges of certain of our

contingent convertible senior notes

Includes pre-tax gain on sale of investment of $83 million
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In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities an amendment of FASB Statement No 133 This statement changes the disclosure requirements for

derivative instruments and hedging activities The statement requires that objectives for using derivative

instruments be disclosed in terms of underlying risk and accounting designation This statement is effective for

financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15 2008 This

statement will not have material impact on our financial disclosures

In May 2008 the FASB issued FSP APB 14-1 Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be

Settled in Cash Upon Conversion Including Partial Cash Settlement FSP APB 14-1 clarifies that convertible

debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon either mandatory or optional conversion including partial cash

settlement are not addressed by paragraph 12 of APB Opinion No 14 Accounting for Convertible Debt and

Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants The accounting prescribed by FSP APB 14-1 increases the amount of

interest expense required to be recognized with respect to such instruments and thus lowers reported net income

and net income per
share of issuers of such instruments Issuers must account for the liability and equity

components of the instrument separately and in manner that reflects interest expense at the interest rate of

similar nonconvertible debt We have three debt series that will be affected by the guidance our 2.75%

Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2035 our 2.5% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2037 and our

2.25% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2038 This staff position is effective for financial statements

issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15 2008 and must be applied on

retrospective basis The initial adoption of FSP APB 14-1 is expected to decrease the carrying value of our

Contingent Convertible Senior Notes by approximately $1 billion increase shareholders equity by

approximately $600 million and increase deferred tax liabilities by approximately $400 million In addition we

currently estimate that we will record additional non-cash interest expense which will reduce our pre-tax income

by approximately $80 million and reduce net income by approximately $50 million for the year
ended

December 31 2009

In June 2008 the FASB issued FSP Emerging Issues Task Force EITF No 03-6-1 Determining Whether

Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities FSP EITF 03-6-1

addresses whether instruments granted in share-based payments transactions are participating securities prior to

vesting and therefore need to be included in the earnings allocation in calculating earnings per share under the

two-class method described in SFAS No 128 Earnings per Share FSP EITF No 03-6-1 requires companies to

treat unvested share-based payment awards that have non-forfeitable rights to dividend or dividend equivalents as

separate class of securities in calculating earnings per share FSP EITF No 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years

beginning after December 15 2008 earlier application is not permitted FSP EITF No 03-6-1 could be

applicable to us but we have no current transactions that would be affected

In October 2008 the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-3 Determining the Fair Value of Financial Asset When

the Market for That Asset Is Not Active FSP FAS 157-3 clarifies the application of FASB statement No 157

Fair Value Measurements in market that is not active and provides an example to illustrate key considerations

in determining the fair value of financial asset when the market for that financial asset is not active This FSP

could be applicable to us but we currently have no financial assets of this type

On December 31 2008 the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC adopted major revisions to its rules

governing oil and
gas company reporting requirements These include provisions that permit the use of new

technologies to determine proved reserves and that allow companies to disclose their probable and possible

reserves to investors The current rules limit disclosure to only proved reserves The new disclosure requirements

also require companies to report the independence and qualifications of the person primarily responsible for the

preparation or audit of reserve estimates and to file reports when third party is relied upon to prepare or audit
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reserves estimates The new rules also require that oil and gas reserves be reported and the full-cost ceiling value

calculated using an average price based upon the prior 12-month period The new oil and gas reporting

requirements are effective for annual reports on Form 10-K for fiscal years ending on or after December 31
2009 with early adoption not permitted We are in the process of assessing the impact of these new requirements

on our financial position results of operations and financial disclosures

19 Subsequent Events

On February 2009 we completed public offering of $1 billion aggregate principal amount of senior

notes due 2015 which have an interest rate of 9.5% per annum The senior notes were priced at 95.071% of par

to yield 10.625% On February 17 2009 we completed an offering of an additional $425 million aggregate

principal amount of the 9.5% Senior Notes due 2015 The additional senior notes were priced at 97.75% of par

plus accrued interest from February to February 17 2009 to yield 10.0% per annum Net proceeds of $1.343

billion from these two offerings were used to repay outstanding indebtedness under our revolving bank credit

facility which we anticipate reborrowing from time to time to fund drilling and leasehold acquisition initiatives

and for general corporate purposes

On February 20 2009 we amended our Haynesville Shale joint venture agreement with Plains

Exploration Production Company to provide Plains one-time option in June 2010 to reduce its maximum

drilling cost carry obligation by $800 million in exchange for assigning us effective December 31 2010 50% of

its interest in the Haynesville joint venture properties Chesapeake believes Plains cost basis in the properties

that would be assigned to us upon exercise of the option could approximate $1.5 billion to $1.6 billion by

December 31 2010 If Plains exercises this option and has funded more than $850 million of its drilling cost

carry as of December 31 2010 we will be required to pay to Plains an amount equal to such excess We will not

be required to refund to Plains any of the $1.65 billion in cash consideration paid in July 2008 or any portion of

the first $850 million in drilling cost carries to be paid by Plains
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Schedule II

CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CORPORATION

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
in millions

Additions

Balance at Charged Charged To Balance at

Beginning To Other End

Description of Period Expense Accounts Deductions of Period

December 31 2008

Allowance for doubtful accounts
12

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

December 31 2007

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

December 31 2006

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
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ITEM Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable

ITEM 9A Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed

by Chesapeake in reports filed or submitted by it under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded

processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and forms As of December 31 2008 we carried out an evaluation under the supervision and
with the participation of Chesapeake management including Chesapeakes Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of Chesapeakes disclosure controls and

procedures pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15b Based upon that evaluation our Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of

December 31 2008 to ensure that information required to be disclosed by Chesapeake is accumulated and

communicated to Chesapeake management including Chesapeakes Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Changes in Internal Controls

No changes in the companys internal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter ended
December 31 2008 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the companys
internal control over financial reporting

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Managements annual report on internal control over financial reporting and the audit report on our internal

control over financial reporting of our independent registered public accounting firm are included in Item of

this report

ITEM 98 Other Information

Not applicable
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PART III

ITEM 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information called for by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy

Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 30 2009

ITEM 11 Executive Compensation

The information called for by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy

Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 30 2009

ITEM 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information called for by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy

Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 30 2009

ITEM 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information called for by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy

Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 4A of the General Rules and Regulations under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 30 2009

ITEM 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information called for by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy

Statement to be filed by Chesapeake pursuant to Regulation 14A of the General Rules and Regulations under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than April 30 2009
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PART IV

ITEM 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this report

Financial Statements Chesapeakes consolidated financial statements are included in Item of this

report Reference is made to the accompanying Index to Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedules Schedule II is included in Item of this report with our consolidated

financial statements No other financial statement schedules are applicable or required

Exhibits The following exhibits are filed herewith pursuant to the requirements of Item 601 of

Regulation S-K

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit SEC File Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

3.1.1 Chesapeakes Restated Certificate of lO-Q 001-13726 3.1.1 08/09/2006

Incorporation as amended

3.1.2 Certificate of Designation of 4.125% l0-Q 001-13726 3.1.3 08/11/2008

Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock as

amended

3.1.3 Certificate of Designation of 5% Cumulative 10-Q 001-13726 3.1.4 11/10/2008

Convertible Preferred Stock Series 2005B

3.1.4 Certificate of Designation of 5% Cumulative S-8 333-151762 4.1.6 06/18/2008

Convertible Preferred Stock Series 2005 as

amended

3.1.5 Certificate of Designation of 4.5% Cumulative lO-Q 001-13726 3.1.6 08/11/2008

Convertible Preferred Stock

3.1.6 Certificate of Designation of 6.25% 10-K 001-13726 3.1.7 02/29/2008

Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock as

amended

3.2 Chesapeakes Amended and Restated Bylaws 8-K 001-13726 3.1 11/17/2008

4.1 Indenture dated as of May 27 2004 among S-4 333-116555 4.1 06/17/2004

Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and the Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

7.5% senior notes due 2014

4.2 Indenture dated as of August 2004 among S-4 333-118378 4.1 08/20/2004

Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and the Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

7.0% senior notes due 2014
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit SEC File Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

44 Seventh Amended and Restated Credit 8-K 001-13726 4.1 11/08/2007

Agreement dated as of November 2007

among Chesapeake Energy Corporation as

the Company Chesapeake Exploration

Limited Partnership and Chesapeake

Appalachia L.L.C as Co-Borrowers Union

Bank of California N.A as Administrative

Agent The Royal Bank of Scotland as

Syndication Agent and Bank of America

N.A SunTrust Bank and BNP Paribas as

Co-Documentation Agents and the several

lenders from time to time parties thereto

4.4.1 Consent Waiver Letter dated December 10-K 001-13726 4.4.1 02/29/2008

12 2007 with respect to the Seventh

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

dated as of November 2007 among

Chesapeake Energy Corporation as the

Company Chesapeake Exploration Limited

Partnership and Chesapeake Appalachia

L.L.C as Co-Borrowers Union Bank of

California NA as Administrative Agent

The Royal Bank of Scotland as Syndication

Agent and Bank of America N.A SunTrust

Bank and BNP Paribas as Co
Documentation Agents and the several

lenders from time to time parties thereto

45 Indenture dated as of March 2003 among S-4 333-104396 4.7 04/09/2003

Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

7.5% Senior Notes due 2013

4.6 Indenture dated as of November 26 2003 S-4/A 333-110668 4.2 12/01/2003

among Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

6.875% senior notes due 2016

47 Indenture dated as of December 2004 8-K 001-13726 4.1 12/14/2004

among Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A Trust Company N.A as

Trustee with respect to 6.375% senior notes

due 2015
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Exhibit Description

Indenture dated as of April 19 2005 among

Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

6.625% senior notes due 2016

49 Indenture dated as of June 20 2005 among

Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

6.25% senior notes due 2018

4.10 Indenture dated as of August 16 2005 among

Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

6.50% senior notes due 2017

4.11 Indenture dated as of November 2005

among Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

6.875% senior notes due 2020

4.12 Indenture dated as of November 2005

among Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

2.75% contingent convertible senior notes due

2035

4.13 Indenture dated as of June 30 2006 among 8-K 001-13726 4.1 06/30/2006

Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

7.625% senior notes due 2013

Exhibit

Number

4.8

Incorporated by Reference

SEC File Filed

Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

10-Q 001-13726 4.12 05/10/2005

10-Q 001-13726 4.1 08/08/2005

8-K 001-13726 4.1 08/16/2005

8-K 001-13726 4.1.1 11/15/2005

8-K 001-13726 4.1.2 11/15/2005
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Exhibit Description

Indenture dated as of December 2006

among Chesapeake as issuer the

subsidiaries signatory thereto as Subsidiary

Guarantors The Bank of New York Mellon

Trust Company N.A as Trustee AIBIBNY

Fund Management Ireland Limited as

Irish Paying Agent and Transfer Agent and

The Bank of New York London Branch as

Registrar Transfer Agent and Paying Agent

with respect to 6.25% senior notes due 2017

4.15 Indenture dated as of May 15 2007 among

Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

2.50% contingent convertible senior notes

due 2037

4.16 Indenture dated as of May 27 2008 among

Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

7.25% senior notes due 2018

4.17 Indenture dated as of May 27 2008 among

Chesapeake as issuer the subsidiaries

signatory thereto as Subsidiary Guarantors

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A as Trustee with respect to

2.25% contingent convertible senior notes

due 2038

4.18 Indenture dated as of February 2009

among Chesapeake as issuer the

subsidiaries signatory thereto as Subsidiary

Guarantors and The Bank of New York

Mellon Trust Company N.A as Trustee

with respect to 9.50% contingent convertible

senior notes due 2015

4.18.1 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of

February 10 2009 to Indenture dated as of

February 2009 among Chesapeake as

issuer its subsidiaries signatory thereto as

Subsidiary Guarantors and The Bank of

New York Mellon Trust Company N.A as

Trustee with respect to the 9.50% senior

notes due 2015

Exhibit

Number

4.14

Incorporated by Reference

SEC File Filed

Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

8-K 001-13726 4.1 12/06/2006

8-K 001-13726 4.1 05/15/2007

8-K 001-13726 4.1 05/29/2008

8-K 001-13726 4.2 05/29/2008

8-K 001-13726 4.1 02/03/2009

8-K 001-13726 4.2 02/17/2009
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

10.1.lt Chesapeakes 2003 Stock Incentive

Plan as amended

10.1.1.lt Form of Restricted Stock Award

Agreement for the 2003 Stock

Option Plan

Chesapeakes 1992 Nonstatutory

Stock Option Plan as amended

Chesapeakes 1994 Stock Option

Plan as amended

Chesapeakes 1996 Stock Option

Plan as amended

Chesapeakes 1999 Stock Option

Plan as amended

Chesapeakes 2000 Employee Stock

Option Plan as amended

Chesapeakes 2001 Stock Option

Plan as amended

Chesapeakes 2001 Nonqualified

Stock Option Plan as amended

Chesapeakes 2002 Stock Option

Plan as amended

Chesapeakes 2002 Non-Employee

Director Stock Option Plan

Chesapeakes 2002 Nonqualified

Stock Option Plan as amended

Chesapeakes 2003 Stock Award

Plan for Non-Employee Directors as

amended

10.1.13t Chesapeake Energy Corporation

Amended and Restated Deferred

Compensation Plan

l0.1.14t Chesapeakes Amended and Restated

Long Term Incentive Plan

10.1.14.1t Form of Restricted Stock Award

Agreement for the Long Term

Incentive Plan

10.1.14.2t Form of Non-Employee Director

Restricted Stock Award Agreement

for the Long Term Incentive Plan

Incorporated by Reference

SEC File Filed

Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

10-Q 001-13726 10.1.1 11/09/2007

10-Q 001-13726 10.1.2 02/14/199710.1.2t

10.l.3t

10.1.4t

10.l.5t

10.1.61-

10.1.71-

10.1.81-

10.1.91-

10.1.101-

10.1.llt

10.1 12t

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-K

00 1-13726

00 1-13726

00 1-13726

00 1-13726

001-13726

001-13726

00 1-13726

001-13726

00 1-13726

001-13726

10.1.3

10.1.4

10.1.5

10.1.6

10.1.8

10 10

10.1.11

10 12

10 13

10 14

11/07/2006

11/07/2006

08/11/2008

08/11/2008

08/11/2008

08/11/2008

08/11/2008

08/11/2008

08/11/2008

02/29/2008

10-K 001-13726 10.1.16 02/29/2008

S-8

8-K

333- 15 1762

001- 13726

99.1

10 18 .2

06/18/2008

06/16/2005

10.1.151- Founder Well Participation Program DEF 14A 001-13726

8-K 001-13726 10.1.18.3 06/16/2005

04/29/2005
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit SEC File Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

10.2.1 Employment Agreement dated as of December 8-K 001-13726 10.2.1 01/07/2009

31 2008 between Aubrey McClendon and

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

10.2.2t Employment Agreement dated as of October 8-K 001-13726 10.2.2 10/06/2006

2006 between Marcus Rowland and

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

10.2.3 Employment Agreement dated as of October 8-K 001-13726 10.2.3 10/06/2006

2006 between Steven Dixon and

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

i0.2.4t Employment Agreement dated as of October 8-K 001-13726 10.2.4 10/06/2006

2006 between Mark Lester and

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

102.5t Employment Agreement dated as of January 10-K 001-13726 10.2.5 03/01/2007

2007 between Douglas Jacobson and

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

10.2.6t Employment Agreement dated as of January 10-K 001-13726 10.2.2 12/20/06

2007 between Martha Burger and

Chesapeake Energy Corporation

10.2.7t Form of Employment Agreement between 10-K 001-13726 10.2.6 02/29/2008

Senior Vice President and Chesapeake Energy

Corporation

10.3t Form of Indemnity Agreement for officers and 10-K 00 1-13726 10.3 02/29/2008

directors of Chesapeake and its subsidiaries

12 Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges and

Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred

Dividends

21 Subsidiaries of Chesapeake

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

23.2 Consent of Netherland Sewell Associates

Inc

23.3 Consent of Data Consulting Services

Division of Schlumberger Technology

Corporation

23.4 Consent of Lee Keeling and Associates Inc

23.5 Consent of Ryder Scott Company L.P

23.6 Consent of LaRoche Petroleum Consultants

Ltd

31.1 Aubrey McClendon Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer Certification pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

31.2 Marcus Rowland Executive Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer Certification

pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit SEC File Filed

Number Exhibit Description Form Number Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

32.1 Aubrey McClendon Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer Certification pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Marcus Rowland Executive Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer Certification

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxtey

Act of 2002

Chesapeake agrees to furnish copy of
any

of its unfiled long-term debt instruments to the Securities and

Exchange Commission upon request

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

CHESAPEAKE ENERGY CoRPoRATIoN

By Is AuBREY McCLEND0N

Aubrey McClendon

Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer

Date March 2009

POWER OF ATFORNEY

Each person whose signature appears
below constitutes and appoints Aubrey McClendon and Marcus

Rowland and each of them either one of whom may act without joinder of the other his true and lawful

attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power of substitution and resubstitution for him and in his name place and

stead in any and all capacities to sign any or all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file

the same with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and

Exchange Commission granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents and each of them full power and

authority to do and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the

premises as fully to all intents and
purposes as he might or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming

all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents and each of them or the substitute or substitutes of any or all of them

may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

_____________________________________________________
Capacity

________________

_______________________________ Chairman of the Board Chief

Executive Officer and Director

Principal Executive Officer

__________________________________________
Executive Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer Principal

Financial Officer

__________________________________________
Senior Vice President Accounting

Controller and Chief Accounting

Officer Principal Accounting

Officer

Director

Is FRANK KEATING March 2009

Frank Keating

DateSignature

Is AuBREY McCLEND0N

Aubrey McClendon

Is MARcus RowLAND

Marcus Rowland

Is MICHAEL JOHNsON

Michael Johnson

Is RICHARD DAVIDSON

Richard Davidson

Is BuRNs HARGIs

Burns Hargis

March 2009

March 2009

March 2009

March 2009

March 2009Director

Director
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Signature Capacity Date

Is BREENE KERR Director March 2009

Breene Kerr

Is CHARLES MAXWELL Director March 2009

Charles Maxwell

Is MERRILL MILLER JR Director March 2009

Merrill MillerJr

Is DON NICKLES Director March 2009

Don Nickles

/s FREDERICK WHITFEMORE Director March 2009

Frederick Whittemore
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